136th Meeting of the Board of Directors
10.30am, Thursday 7 November 2019
Maple Room
Pinewood House
Pinewood Place
DA2 7WG

AGENDA
ITEM

General business

1

Apologies for absence and
declaration of any conflicts of
interest

2
P4

Minutes of the Board of
Directors’ Meeting held on 5
September 2019

3
P13

Matters arising
• Board Actions Tracker

4
P15

Board Assurance Framework

5
P21

Temporary Board arrangements

Purpose
QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC
Service Presentation
To receive and record apologies
for absence and request and
record any declarations of
interest.
To formally approve the
minutes of the last meeting
To confirm actions allocated at
previous meetings have been
completed.
To accept the BAF and consider
whether the framework
continues to provide sufficient
assurance to the board
To agree temporary vice chair
and chair arrangements

Presented by

Category

Time
15 mins
15 mins

Steve Dilworth
Acting Chair

Governance

2 mins

Steve Dilworth
Acting Chair

Governance

3 mins

Steve Dilworth
Acting Chair

Governance

5 mins

Steve Dilworth
Acting Chair

Governance

5 mins

Steve Dilworth
Acting Chair

Governance

5 mins

Objective: Sustainability
6
P22

Chief Executive report

7
P25

Integrated performance
dashboard report

8
P38

Operational Service Report

To note the contents of the
report and discuss any strategic
implications
To decide whether the contents
of the report assure the board
on the performance of the
organisation.
To decide whether the contents
of the report assure the board
on the performance of the
organisation

9
P53

Business Committee report

To note the contents of the
report and agree any proposals
to ensure the trust meets its
objectives

10
P68

Charitable fund report and
accounts

To note the contents of the
report and agree any proposals
to ensure the trust meets its
objectives
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Matthew Trainer
Chief Executive

Strategy

10 mins

Matthew Trainer
Chief Executive

Quality and
performance

10 mins

Keith Soper
Service Director

Quality and
performance

10 mins

Jo Stimpson
Non Executive
Director /
Jazz Thind
Director of
Finance

Strategy

5 mins

Jazz Thind
Director of
Finance

Stragegy

5 mins
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DA2 7WG

AGENDA
11
P100

Infrastructure Committee report

To note the contents of the
report and agree any proposals
to ensure the trust meets its
objectives

Steve Dilworth
Acting Chair

Strategy

Yemisi Gibbons
Non Executive
Director

Quality and
performance

10 mins

Jane Wells
Director of
Nursing

Quality and
performance

5 mins

Jane Wells
Director of
Nursing

Quality and
performance

5 mins

Jane Wells
Director of
Nursing

Quality and
performance

5 mins

Steve James,
Non Executive
Director

Strategy

10 mins

10 mins

Objective: Enhancing Quality
12
P103

Performance and Quality
Assurance Committee report

13
P108

Mortality Surveillance committee
report

14
P114

Infection prevention and control
annual report

15
P150

Mental Health Law annual report

16
P179

Quality Improvement and
Innovation Committee report

To decide whether the contents
of the report assure the board
on the performance of the
organisation
To note the contents of the
report and agree any proposals
to ensure the trust meets its
objectives
To decide whether the contents
of the report and future plans
assure the board on the
performance of the
organisation
To decide whether the contents
of the report and future plans
assure the board on the
performance of the
organisation
To note the contents of the
report and agree any proposals
to ensure the trust meets its
objectives

Objective: Workforce development and support
17
P183

Workforce Committee report

18
P190

Medical Revalidation and
Appraisal Annual Report

To note the contents of the
report and agree any proposals
to ensure the trust meets its
objectives
To note the report and consider
proposed actions

Jo Stimpson
Non Executive
Director

Strategy

10 mins

Ify Okocha,
Medical Director

Strategy

5 mins

Steve Dilworth
Acting Chair

Governance

10 mins

Objective: Regulatory compliance
19
P206

Audit and Risk Assurance report

To note the contents of the
report and agree any proposals
to ensure the trust meets its
objectives and compliance
requirements
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AGENDA
Objective: Partnership
20
P209

Board visits reports and review of
visit action tracker

21
P235

Council of Governors update

Information relating to the
experience of staff and patients
and assess impact on delivery
of trust objectives
To note the contents of the
report and assess any impact on
trust objectives and
compliance.

Steve Dilworth
Acting Chair

Quality and
staff
engagement

5 mins

Steve Dilworth
Acting Chair

Governance

5 mins

ANY OTHER BUSINESS
REVIEW EFFECTIVENESS OF MEETING
DATE OF NEXT MEETING
The next Board of Directors Meeting will take place on:
Thursday 10 January 2020 at 10.30am
Maple Room, Pinewood House
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Board of Directors
7 November 2019

2
2

Item
Enclosure

Report Title
Author
Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status

Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting held on 5 September 2019
Susan Owen, Risk and Governance Manager
Andy Trotter, Chair
Public

Report Summary

Minutes of the Board of Directors meeting held on 5 September 2019

Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant
choice for drop down
box)
Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives
(click on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

Information
Approval

To Note
√

Decision

The Board agrees the minutes as a true record of the meeting.

Quality

N/A

Workforce

Sustainability

Partnerships

5

135th Meeting of the Board of Directors
Thursday 5 September - Maple Room, Pinewood House
Board of Directors
Andy Trotter
Steve Dilworth
Steve James
Jo Stimpson
Yemisi Gibbons
Suzanne Shale
Nina Hingorani
Dr Amlan Basu
Matthew Trainer
Iain Dimond
Ify Okocha
Jane Wells
Jazz Thind
Meera Nair

Chair
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Chief Executive
Chief Operating Officer
Medical Director and Deputy Chief Executive
Director of Nursing
Director of Finance
Director of Workforce and QI

In attendance
Sally Bryden
Susan Owen
Mary Titcheter
Claire Tobias
Dr Abi Fadipe

Trust Secretary and Associate Director of Corporate Affairs
Risk and Governance Manager (Minutes)
Head of Nursing, Greenwich Directorate (for item 9)
Practice Development Nursing, Greenwich Directorate (for item 9)
Clinical Director, Bromley Directorate (observing)

Members of the Council of Governors in attendance
Sue Hardy
Public: Bexley
Before the formal meeting began, the Board received a presentation from the Quality Improvement Team
Action
1

Apologies for absence
• Michael Witney, Director of Therapies.
Declarations of interest
• AB declared that he is the medical director of an independent provider. There are no specific
conflicts in relation to the topics being discussed at today’s meeting.

Noted

2

Minutes of last meeting
The minutes of the meeting on 4 July 2019 were approved as an accurate record.

Approved

3

Matters arising
Noted
2019-07/#1: An update on SARD will be presented to the Business Committee in October 2019 and then JT
2019-07/#1
to the Board of Directors in November 2019.
2019-05/#01: A session on commissioning and waiting times has been scheduled for the board awayday
in October 2019.
In relation to item 3 of the minutes of the July meeting, SD said that we are taking legal advice, as writing
formally to our PFI partners is the one avenue we have not yet explored.

4

Board Assurance Framework
The Board noted the Board Assurance Framework.
SJ - There have been 13 breaches of the s136 24 hour rule in the first four months of the year. All
breaches are reviewed. We are taking legal advice on our escalation protocols.
MT – The risk relating to pressures on acute in-patient services will be reviewed by the Business
Committee. Activity has increased due to unpredictable spikes in demand.
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Noted

6

Action
AT – There will be additional learning from the PAS review.
JS – How is this being addressed at a commissioning level? It is in the interest of everyone in the system
to understand this.
ID – Surges in demand are often national and seem arbitrary. There is no evidence of seasonal variation.
Bexley are consistently at 90% occupancy, and Bromley fluctuates between 90% and 100%. There is
more variation in Greenwich. Our focus is on reducing occupancy.
MT – There has been an increase in the numbers of suicides reported. Housing is also a factor.
NH – It has been suggested that Greenwich should be classified as an inner city borough in terms of
funding.
ID – Funding in Greenwich is close to that of inner city boroughs. We need to consider how the money is
spent. This will require analysis of population health. We will need to have conversations with
commissioners about mental health funding.
JT – There have been conversations in the finance community about the Five Year Forward View and the
Long Term Plan.
ID – We will need to consider our capacity for transformation.
5

Chief Executive report
MT presented the Chief Executive report. The NHS Oversight Framework is to move to a less frequent
model of performance management. Provider collaboratives are a significant development for the trust.
Oxleas is the lead trust for secure services and we will be the budget holder for this. We will need to
consider leadership capacity as Keith Soper will be lead director for the collaborative in addition to his
current role.

6

Update on CQC inspection of the Pre admission Suite, Oxleas House
Noted
MT presented an update on the CQC inspection of the Pre-Admission Suite (PAS) at Oxleas House. This
was first opened in 2017 in response to pressures on Emergency Departments. The PAS closed in May
2018 as usage was very low, and operating the PAS was creating a cost pressure. The PAS was re-opened
in September 2018, due to increasing pressure at Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust Emergency
Department. The model was for a maximum stay of 12 hours and this was based on visits to similar units
in other London trusts. Until March 2019, there were very few breaches; these were recorded on Datix
as level 3 incidents. There were very few complaints relating to the PAS. The Greenwich SMT increased
the risk on risk register on 16 July 2019 and data was requested by the CQC on 17 July 2019. Oxleas
acknowledges that there should have been better oversight of waiting times at the PAS. Some of the
patients who stayed for several days did not want to leave as they said they felt safer in the PAS than in
their own home. Since the PAS was closed permanently at the end of August 2019, patients are waiting
in the emergency departments (EDs) of the acute trusts. As at Tuesday 3 September, there were nine
patients in the EDs who would have been deemed suitable for transfer to the PAS. MT said that he has
visited three services in North Essex, Kingston and south west London, where the environments are
designed as assessment and treatment centres. Solutions being considered are having dedicated spaces
in EDs or re-configuring space in Oxleas House to create a unit similar to the Lotus Suite at South West
London and St Georges NHS Trust. MT said that our aim is to provide a ‘best in class’ alternative to
waiting in the ED. The PAS review will look at the governance oversight of the PAS, including how we
collect data and manage risks.
SD – The actions we are proposing are correct. What are the best options for patients and will this
impact on bed capacity?
MT – We are considering placing a modular building on the QEH site, adjacent to the ED. This will
provide three to five discreet and quiet rooms. We will use Oxleas capital to fund this.
SS – The integrated performance dashboard report does not always reflect the data we should be seeing.
What were our options in terms of responding to the CQC?
MT – We had to consider our response to the CQC in terms of Oxleas’ licence. Enforcement action would
have placed a condition on our registration. The CQC look at our role as a registered provider. We made
a unanimous decision immediately after our discussion with the CQC. We accepted that there was a
poor patient experience and our response to the risk was not swift enough.
ID – It is important to note the history in that in 2016 people waited on the ward for a bed. Addressing
this was a ‘must-do’ action from the 2016 CQC inspection, so we changed our processes so that patients
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Noted

7

Action
waited in the ED. The PAS was intended to improve that experience.
NH – There is value in reviewing the management information that that is presented to the Board.
Could the extent of change in management teams have played some kind of a part and is our governance
robust enough?
MT – This will be explored in the review.
ID – Bed management is now centralised so we are more sighted on waiting times. This will continue
until we are able to reduce the pressures on in-patient beds.
IO – The notion of what we consider to be a risk varies. Through our lens, the PAS was a better
alternative than waiting in the ED.
SJ – There are parallels with learning from Oaktree and managing sleepovers. We need to reflect on
whether they are any other services we are worried about. PAS may be better than the ED, but this was
not the view of the regulator and we need to be sensitive to this. If CQC ask for data, that must be a flag
for us. We need to test ourselves on stepping back and questioning if this is good enough.
AB – There are service development and system flow issues. The CQC is conscious of the limitations of
methodology. In terms of governance assurance systems, we need to reflect on clarity and
accountability of who is responsible for the service.
ID – This was not an ideal solution. The poor patient experience remains and we are working with acute
trusts to find a solution. The underlying issue is bed management and how we can support people to
wait safely in their own homes.
YG – This gives us the opportunity to look at our governance processes. We need to find a better way
of taking action before our regulators require us to do so.
ID – We need to refresh the dashboard report. We have had previous discussion on that it is too
weighted towards mental health, but including more data makes it more difficult to see the concerns.
We need to focus on the underlying issues; the unavailability of beds and alternatives to admission.
AT – YG will lead the PAS review, with support from MH and SS. The terms of reference and the
YG
2019-09/#1
outcome of the review will reported to the Board.
7

Integrated performance dashboard report
Noted
ID presented the Integrated Performance Dashboard report. There are no red rated items. Performance
against the referral to treat (RTT) indicator is improving and good progress continues to be made on
reducing the number of prison vacancies. Reducing the time taken to respond to complaints is the
subject of a QI project. The number of complaints in Greenwich remains higher compared to other
directorates.
SD – Reducing vacancies in prisons is a good achievement. Item 17 (% of patients seen within 12 months
for an ASD assessment) will remain a challenge. This is a good example of how we can use technology to
improve practice. Can we invest more in this?
AT – Waiting times is an issue that we need to manage operationally.
SJ – We should note that it is an achievement that there have been no grade 3 or grade 4 pressure
ulcers.
AT – We should acknowledge the work that has gone into making these improvements.

8

Operational Service Report
ID presented the Operational Service report.
Forensic and Prisons: HMP Maidstone have been the subject of a CQC focused review relating to the
care of patients with long term conditions. The CQC were impressed with the progress made, and the
requirement notice will be lifted. With effect from 1 September 2019, Oxleas is the prime provider of
services at HMP Wandsworth. We are directly providing physical health care and other services have
been sub-contracted to partners. Staff have TUPE’d to Oxleas. The main challenge has been the IT
systems and mitigation plans are in place. The HSE inspection of the Bracton Centre is taking place
today. This is part of a nationwide focus on violence and aggression. We are confident the visit will be a
success.
Children and Young People: Interviews have taken place for the Greenwich StartWell bid and further
meetings have taken place to discuss the detail.
JS - The report makes reference to ‘another' kitchen audit. Does this mean there was a previous audit
with results we were not happy with?
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Noted

8

Action
ID – There is an on-going programme of kitchen audits. The remaining issues relate to therapeutic
activities.
MT – We are focusing on dynamic risk management and therapeutic activity.
AT – Have there been some incidents and how did we respond?
YG – We had previously raised concerns about risk assessment. We need to have assurance that risk
assessments are being done and are robust.
NH – We need to review the governance and escalation arrangements between the Workforce
Committee and the Infrastructure Committee to ensure that nothing is missed.
ID – Keith Soper has responded to the specific issues raised. Some of the detail and context was not
available at the Workforce meeting and we are confident that lessons are learned and issues with
individual practice are addressed.
MT – We need to give further thought to our programme of education on risk management and how we
calibrate different levels of risk. It is a difficult concept but better understood here than in some other
trusts.
AT – Is the Workforce Committee the right route for reporting health and safety?
SS – Environmental safety may sit better under the Infrastructure Committee. We need to look at the
totality of the safety picture, not just from a risk and safety perspective.
MT – It is possible to have a high risk environment that is safe and a low risk environment that is unsafe.
AT - We will consider the reporting route of health and safety issues to the board.
JS – In relation to the environmental heath visit at Greenwood, do we have any other sites where this
may be a concern?
ID - An action plan has been put into place at Greenwood.
9

SB

2019-09/#2

Serious incident inquiry report EF
Noted
JW presented the inquiry report relating to the death of EF. EF was a 76 year old man who had been
admitted informally to Shepherdleas Ward. On 22 May 2019, EF took his own life on the ward using a
ligature. Six recommendations were made.
1. Staff should be given regular simulated scenario training in their area of practice in order to
maintain their skills.
2. Life support training should be completed with the equipment that staff are expected to use in
a real life situation, including unpacking the equipment from the resuscitation bag.
3. There should be a formal process of assessment of mental state before and after leave from the
ward which should be documented.
4. On admission, risk management plans should be individualised, in particular there should not be
reference to removal of ligatures as a standard entry in the risk/care plan
5. A review of the emergency alarm systems at Oxleas House
6. In the event of an incident requiring resuscitation, one person should be identified as the coordinator of the process.
It was agreed that the terms of reference for the inquiry would not cover environmental ligatures, but
visits have been undertaken to other trusts to understand how they approach ligature free
environments. Oxleas uses the Manchester Scale. SLAM and SWLStG rate their services at a higher level.
We have always had some rooms equipped to a higher ligature-free standard, but EF was not assessed as
high risk, so he was not placed in one of those rooms. A paper is to be presented to the Executive Team
to set out the options and costings for us to achieve the same standard as our SLP partners.
Action plan
MT and CT joined the meeting to present the action plan. As it is very rare for staff to need to undertake
resuscitation, scenario training is used in addition to mandatory life support training. This requires staff
to use life support equipment training as per a genuine event. Other actions include implementing a
formal process for the assessment of mental state before and after leaving the ward, although it should
be noted that this was well documented in this instance. An embedded learning event will take place on
16 October 2019.
JS – What are the plans to improve the alarms?
MT – There is an estates plan for Oxleas House. The alarm sound should be different for different types
of incident.
JS – There is one alarm and this is used of a range of incidents. It appears that there was no formal
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Action
directive that everyone must attend if the alarm sounds. We should explore other options, such as using
the telephone tannoy.
MT – Doctors from other trusts are used to different sounds for different situations. Staff here are used
to just one sound, and people attend without knowing what the incident is.
JS – This is a tragic case. Staff observed and alerted colleagues that EF was distressed on his return from
leave. I was impressed with the way that the team worked on the ward. They very nearly prevented this
incident.
YG – The action plan mentions that the risk assessments need to be more personalised. Was this a
significant factor?
JS – It may have helped if EF’s state on his return from leave had been better documented. He did seem
to be more anxious on his return. Medical staff had a strong view as to how EF might behave.
AB – There is some good practice to note and it would be helpful to bring this out more strongly in the
summary. Environmental risks were assessed as a separate stream of work. Was there any family
involvement?
JS – EF was widowed, but had been with his current partner for 10 years. There was a complex family
dynamic which may have had an impact. Michael Witney and Caroline Le Milliere met with family
members.
SS – Every incident should consider the environmental factors as a matter of course. The most effective
interventions are preventative. It is important that we can assure families that demonstrable changes
have been made. It is good to hear that the actions are being rolled out trust wide.
AT – How will the methodology be picked up?
JW – This is part of the process and there are a number of models and tools we use.
ID – We always need to review how recommendations are framed and avoid having too many
recommendations.
JT – Are temporary staff included in the scenario training and how are response times being addressed?
CT – The training is open to all staff. We have undertaken drills at Oxleas House to improve response
times.
JT – What is the cost of bringing the ward up to the highest ligature free standards?
ID - It will cost £700k to bring the wards up to the required standard. There is a balance between
meeting physical health needs and ligature risk management. The frequency of such incidents on an
older persons ward is much less than on a working aged adult ward.
AF – We need look at the evidence base and link to having a dementia friendly environment.
10

Business Committee report
Noted
JS presented the Business Committee report. We remain on track with our financial plan and are rated
at 1 by NHSI. In-patient capacity created a cost pressure in July. The issues with LGT/QEH have been
resolved. We have agreed to pay the RPI but not change the methodology. There are some on-going
issues with debt levels and we are moving towards a more systematic process.
ID – Bed occupancy continues to be a financial pressure and a paper is being taken to the Executive Team
as to how this can be addressed.
JT – We will need to have a discussion on forecast out-turn.
MT – Our usage of UEA beds this year has been very low.
ID – We need to take a different approach to financial reporting of bed usage, for example, looking at
activity borough by borough.
JT – Overall, we are spending more money on beds and these challenges will flow through to next year.
SJ – Do the changes to s136 need to be played in to this?
JT – For non-BBG patients, it is clinically the right decision to admit if we have a bed available. Other
trusts repatriate.
SD – What is the timetable for finalising leases on the QMH site?
JT – The estates team are working on the leases. We need a steer from DGT on their commitment to the
site and use of theatre space.

11

Performance and Quality Assurance Committee report
YG presented the report from the Performance and Quality Assurance Committee. The committee
received a report from prison healthcare services and noted the progress made. The committee also
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Noted

10

Action
received the annual complaints report and noted that whilst there has been an increase in the number of
complaints that have been re-opened, only 33% are upheld. In the patient safety workstream, progress
is being made on closing actions from incidents. Recent embedding learning events have focused on a
review of choking incidents. The Acute Care Forum is overseeing a pilot of body worn cameras.
12

Quality Improvement and Innovation Committee report
SJ presented the report from the Quality Improvement and Innovation Committee. The content of this
was covered in presentation at the start of the meeting.
SS – Service involvement needs more focus. What are the plans for this?
IO – This will be taken forward next year. The main barrier is the willingness of service user to engage.
SS – We need to recognise that staff wariness can also be a barrier.
IO – We do recognise this and ResearchNet is working to address this.
SS – Do we have targets or goals?
IO – There are no specific goals or targets, but we will update the committee on progress.
JS – This requires leadership and engagement.
SJ – We need to use patients and families to spread learning.

Noted

13

Workforce Committee report
NH presented the report from the Workforce Committee. The committee has reviewed the bi-annual
staffing report and suggested that this needs a more quantitative and qualitative focus so we can better
understand safe staffing and provide the board with sufficient assurance. The Just Culture pilot has
focused on the treatment of staff during the disciplinary process and the recommendations from
Baroness Harding review will be taken forward. The committee received the junior doctor update and it
was noted that we need to engage more meaningfully in the process.
AT – Is important that we understand the issues facing junior doctors.
SD – It would be helpful to receive an update on the ratio of clinical to non-clinical staff involved in
disciplinary processes.
MT – We recognise that we need better scrutiny and better rigour on disciplinary processes.

Noted

14

Review of Freedom to Speak Up Guardian arrangements
The Board noted the review of the Freedom to Speak Up Guardian arrangements and the move to an
independent service. The lead guardian will be available by phone and by email. We will track that the
response has been addressed satisfactorily, so as to improve rigour and reporting. Reports will be
submitted to SJ as the Senior Independent NED. The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee will oversee
the process once a year.

Noted

15

Workforce Disability Equality Standard
Noted
MN presented the Workforce Disability Equality Standard. Ten measures are being reported. Whilst this
is sobering reading, the sample that this is based on is very small. Staff find it difficult to self-disclose, so
we need make this an iterative process that applies across the trust.

16

Bi-annual safe staffing report
MN presented the bi-annual safe staffing report. This has been updated to show how the trust reviews
establishments. It also outlines current initiatives to improve performance, along with comparisons and
benchmarks. Atlas House and Shepherdleas Ward are the outliers in terms of spend, and we need to
undertake further work to understand this. We are developing advanced clinical practitioners. There
are ten internal and nine external candidates training as nursing associates.
AT – Is Shepherdleas Ward operating above establishment for the night shift and can this decided
locally?
JW – We need to understand why they are an outlier and if the establishment needs to be increased.
SJ – I have visited wards where the staffing has been at establishment but I still have concerns about
safety. Do senior management visit the wards to get a sense of this?
JW – Michael Witney and Teresa Barker visit all the wards. We are identifying where we have concerns.
There are nuances on skill mix. Getting a sense through observation is as important as the metrics and
we will pick this up.
AF – The Head of Nursing and Practice Development Nurse spend at least one day a week on the wards.
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Action
We need to be mindful of the environment of the in-patient wards.
JW – Professional judgment is a major part of safe staffing reviews and is collated over several months.
17

Nominations Committee for the appointment of Executive Directors report
It was noted that Rachel Clare Evans, currently Director of Corporate Affairs at SLAM, has been
appointed as Executive Director of Strategy and People.

Noted

18

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee report
SD presented the report from the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. The Financial Reporting Council
(FRC) have been critical of audit firms, including our external auditors Grant Thornton (GT). GT were
asked to provide a responsewhich included confirmation that our engagement lead had one of her NHS
files audited and received the highest mark. GT have been asked to present the actions they are taking
to the next meeting of the committee and also to the Council of Governors. The committee noted the
lessons learned from the University Hospitals of Derby and Burton NHS Foundation Trust, where there
was a lack of liaison between the trust and external auditors regarding the accounting treatment of a
property disposal. It was also noted that a review of audit processes by the National Audit Office (NAO)
may mean more intensive audits going forward and an increase in price.

Noted

19

Board visits reports
Noted
AT – HMP East Sutton Park and HMP Maidstone: This was a good visit.
SJ - Bexley Home Treatment Team and Day Treatment Team: The team raised some security issues
relating to the hospital at night. Some of the team members have received the SkyGuard device but had
not had training. This has been fed back to the Health and Safety Team, as they have been identified as a
high risk team. Social workers said that they were not consulted about changes.
SJ - Bexley Care Single Point of Access (SPA): This is not yet fully established. There is an issue around
the triage team, which will enable GPs to get a response by phone. As yet, there is no data on referrals.
SJ - HR team: The team said the HR consequences of re-organisations are not always taken into account,
and they would like to be involved earlier on, to put forward their views on process. The team also said
that since the payroll service was outsourced, they get the brunt of complaints from staff.
SD - Womens’ Service at Carlton Parade: This is run by volunteers. The challenge is to prove the value
of the service to ensure funding can continue.
SS – HMP Isis: SS said that it would be helpful to develop a checklist for future visits. AT said that there
is variation between prison establishments and the way the visit is conducted is in part driven by local
management of the prison.
YG – Crofton and Kelsey: This was a positive visit. There was a good culture and good management. The
ward has some difficult patients so they need to look at risk management in detail.
JS - CYP Greenwich SPA and CAT: The issues raised at the last visit have been addressed. Bexley and
Bromley still have some challenges but new staff are enthusiastic about the trust. Others are more
critical of change and management style and this is being followed up.
YG – Informatics team: It was helpful to understand what the informatics team do but some staff
commented on the length of time to book on induction. MN said that there is an induction backlog due
to changing the process. SS said that it would be valuable to have a presentation on the potentiality of
digital approaches and impact of this.
SD – CLDT at Woolwich Centre: It was helpful to see this in action.
AT – HMP Thameside: This will be formally reported to the next board. In summary, this was a good
visit. Some of the accommodation issues will be long term challenges.

20

Council of Governors update
Noted
The report from the Council of Governors was noted. The next meeting of the Council of Governors is on
19 September 2019.

21

Any other business
Noted
It was noted that this is last meeting for MN, and the Board thanked her for her contribution to the trust.
SJ asked the board to note his personal gratitude to the Bexley district nursing team at the Oval Clinic.

22

Questions from the public
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Noted

12

Action
None raised.
Next meeting of the Board of Directors
Thursday 7 November 2019 at 10.30 am
Maple Room, Pinewood House
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The Board tracker details progress made on actions raised in previous Board
meetings.

Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives
(click on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

Information

To Note

Approval

Decision

√

The Board is asked to note.

Quality

Workforce

Sustainability

Partnerships

There are links to risks relating to learning from serious incidents and inpatient services
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Board Actions Tracker 2019 - progress on matters arising from last meeting and ongoing matters from previous meetings
No

1

2

3

4

5

Minutes
reference

2019-09/#1

2019-09/#2

2019-07/#1

2019-05/#1

2019-01/#4

Action raised
(Board date)

Item

Action details

05/09/2019

PAS review

For the terms of referenceof the review to be agreed and the
Yemisi Gibbons
outcome of the review to be reported to the Board.

05/09/2019

For the board to receive a response on how the board are
Operational Service
appraised of health and safety issues and the reporting route Sally Bryden
report
to the board

04/07/2019

Business
Committee report

For an update on SARD to be presented to a future Board
meeting, so that there is a better understanding of the
support they need

Matters arising

To use a Board Strategy Day to understand more on
commissioning and waiting times services

PQAC report

For the Board to receive an update on the implementation of
the action plan from the KPMG review of the serious incidents Jane Wells
process

02/05/2019

10/01/2019

Action for

Jazz Thind

Bring forward to

Report under

Action closed

Comments
The terms of reference have been agreed and the review is underway.

07/11/2019

PAS review
Review of health and safety board reporting processes used in other trusts underway

07/11/2019

TBA

07/11/2019

Business Committee
Closed
report

Item is included in Business Committee report

This took place at October board awayday.
Matthew Trainer

07/11/2019

Matter arising
Item is included in PQAC report

07/11/2019

Page 1 of 1

PQAC report
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Board of Directors
7 November 2019
Report Title
Author
Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status

Board Assurance Framework
Susan Owen, Risk and Governance Manager
Matthew Trainer, Chief Executive
N/A

Report Summary

New escalations to the BAF

Item
Enclosure

4
4

1709: The trust needs robust systems to identify and respond to warnings in relation to
problems in service delivery in trust services. Failure to do so will impact on patient
experience and may lead to patient needs not being met; or increased scrutiny from the CQC
The Performance and Quality Assurance Committee agreed that in light of the CQC
unannounced inspection of the Pre-admission Suite (PAS), this risk should be re-opened on the
Board Assurance Framework. The risk was increased from Moderate (6) to High (12), to remain
at this rating until the governance review is complete. The findings of the review will be used to
inform additional mitigation actions for this risk.
1291: There is a risk that we will not achieve 100% of the CQUIN value. This could result in a
loss of income. For 2019/20 this is £1.0m, which equates to approximately 50% of CQUIN
income.
The Business Committee increased this risk from moderate (8) to significant (16) risk, as it is
recognised that some of the CQUIN targets will be challenging to achieve, particularly uptake of
the flu vaccination. The Business Committee therefore recommended that this risk is escalated
to the BAF.
1695: Patients and staff at Greenwich Square may be compromised because we are operating
out of a building where there are identified fire safety concerns
The Infrastructure Committee has recommended that this risk is escalated to the BAF. Oxleas
services operate from the second floor. Approximately 30 to 40 staff are based at Greenwich
Square, and there are 12 clinic rooms, which are in constant use. To control this risk, only
ambulatory patients are seen at Greenwich Square. The cladding has been removed and the
trust continues to meet with the landlord and the CCG to ensure that safety is maintained.
London Fire Brigade (LFB) have put in place their own precautions, including a 24 hour fire
watch on the residential section, immediate evacuation of the whole building should the fire
alarm sound in any area, and LFB's first attendance to the site will be at least ten pumps.
Changes to risk ratings
1606: The trust continues to rely on non-Oxleas beds (NHS and non-NHS) to manage demand
on in-patient services and the changes associated with the MHA; the greatest pressure is in
Greenwich. If the trust is not able to reduce demand through the deployment of admission
avoidance strategies, this will continue to create a cost pressure and impact on the overall
financial position of the Trust
This risk had been reduced to a rating of moderate (9). The Business Committee agreed to reinstate the risk rating of high (12), as there continues to be unpredictable peaks in demand.
1763: If actions agreed as a result of serious incident inquiries are not completed in a timely
manner, there is a risk that the trust may not implement learning and take action to improve
practice and quality

16

In light of the sustained progress made on closing actions, the Patient Safety Group reduced this
risk from moderate (9) to moderate (6). Oversight of action completion continues to be
monitored by the Patient Safety Team and the Serious Incident Group.
Section 136 of the Mental Health Act
1776: There have been some instances where a patient detained under s136 has been
assessed as requiring admission, and no bed is available, either within our own bed base, or in
the private sector; patients are therefore kept in the Health Based Place of Safety (HBPoS)
beyond 24 hours. There is a risk that this will impact on patient care, privacy and dignity; that
the trust will be deprived of a HBPoS; and a risk of legal action for unlawful detention.
Fieldwork on the KPMG internal audit of s136 complete. The report is due to be presented to
the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee on 19 November 2019.

38

39

0

1

1

0

0

0

1

2

5

3

2

3

Lawfully extended
detentions
Expired detentions (>24
hours)

Mar-20

Sep-19

37

Feb-20

Aug-19

31

Jan-20

Jul-19

41

Dec-19

Jun-19

24

Nov-19

May-19

Total s136 presentations

Oct-19

S136 presentations
2019/20

Apr-19

Headline data

Further detail on the context for lawfully extended detentions and expired detentions is given
below.

n/a

Mar-20

n/a

Feb-20

n/a

Jan-20

Sep-19

1

Dec-19

Aug-19

1

Nov-19

Jul-19

n/a

Oct-19

Jun-19

Interpreter required to
attend so that
assessment could be
undertaken

May-19

Lawfully extended
detentions

Apr-19

Context for lawfully extended detentions:

0

1

1

3

1

0

1

0

0

0

1

1

2

0

1

0

1

0

0

* In all but one case, the patient was informed of the expiry.

Mar-20

1

Feb-20

0

Jan-20

Sep-19

2

Dec-19

Aug-19

0

Nov-19

Jul-19

0

Oct-19

Jun-19

Expired detention was
less than 30 minutes
Lack of available bed to
admit under MHA *
Patient agreed to wait
for informal admission
Patient agreed to wait to
see AMHP/SpR

May-19

Expired detentions
(>24 hours)

Apr-19

Context for expired detention > 24 hours:
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Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant
choice for drop down
box)
Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives (click on
relevant choice for
drop down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service user/carer/staff

Information

To Note

Approval

Decision

√

For the Board of Directors to note

Quality √

Workforce √

Sustainability √

Partnerships √

N/A

Briefly outline implications of the recommendations in this report
The BAF includes risks relating to quality
The BAF includes risks relating to finances
The BAF includes risks relating to workforce and user/carer/staff safety

1291: There is a risk that we will not achieve 100% of the CQUIN value. This could result in a loss of
income. For 2019/20 this is £1.0m, which equates to approximately 50% of CQUIN income.

MOD (8)
(2 x 4)

1606: The trust continues to rely on non-Oxleas beds (NHS and Non-NHS) to manage demand on inpatient services and the changes associated with the MHA; the greatest pressure is in Greenwich. If the
trust is not able to reduce demand through the deployment of admission avoidance strategies, this will
continue to create a cost pressure and impact on the overall financial position of the Trust

Current
(C x L)
HIGH (12)
(3 x 4)

SIG (16)
(4 x 4)


MOD (9)
(3 x 3)

HIGH (12)
(3 x 4)


1763: If actions agreed as a result of serious incident inquiries are not completed in a timely manner,
there is a risk that the trust may not implement learning and take action to improve practice and quality

MOD (9)
(3 x 3)

MOD (6)
(3 x 2)


Risk description
1709: The trust needs robust systems to identify and respond to warnings in relation to problems in
service delivery in trust services. Failure to do so will impact on patient experience and may lead to
patient needs not being met; or increased scrutiny from the CQC

Previous
(C x L)
MOD (6)
(3 x 2)

New BAF risks
1695: Patients and staff at Greenwich Square may be compromised because we are operating out of a building where
there are identified fire safety concerns

Current
(C x L)
MOD (8)
(4 x 2)
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Board Assurance Framework as at 31 October 2019
Agenda item ID

Strategic
objective

Description

Partnership,
Sustainability

Handler

Responsible
Committee

Board Subcommittee

Opened

BAF - date added

Controls in place

Existing assurances

Gaps in controls and assurances

The STP expects organisations within the Thind, Mrs Jazz Trust Business
SEL footprint to take on a collective
Committee
responsibility in identifying further
opportunities (over and above those
factored into operational plans) to
address the financial difficulties within
the system. Current net STP collective
‘constrained’ gap equates to £74m. All
individual organisations within the STP
need to support the changes required to
improve financial performance and may
be asked to take part in financial risk/gain
shares that incentivise the right
behaviour to close the gap.

Business
Committee

19/02/2019

19/02/2019

As a sovereign organisation we will still be able to
take a decision on any requirement to take
collective responsibility.

The Executive, Business Committee and
Board will be updated on progress

There needs to be agreement on the long term
solution to resolving the gap.

The trust continues to rely on non-Oxleas Thind, Mrs Jazz Trust Business
beds (NHS and Non-NHS) to manage
Committee
demand on in-patient services and the
changes associated with the MHA; the
greatest pressure is in Greenwich. If the
trust is not able to reduce demand
through the deployment of admission
avoidance strategies, this will continue to
create a cost pressure and impact on the
overall financial position of the Trust

Business
Committee

Consequence
(current)

Likelihood
(current)

Rating
(current)

Risk level
(current)

Moderate (3)

Possible (3)

9

Moderate

Last review date Review date

Mitigation synopsis

Responsibility
('To')

Due date

Done date

Risk level
(Target)

Date target
rating to be
achieved

16/07/2019

Each Trust is actively managing its financial position.

Thind, Mrs Jazz

30/03/2018

17/04/2018

Moderate

31/03/2020

There are potential options for reducing/closing the gap – Thind, Mrs Jazz
these options are set out below and are under
consideration across the STP.

31/03/2020

On-going

31/03/2020

Moderate

31/03/2020

Thind, Mrs Jazz

31/03/2020

Moderate

31/03/2020

Ensuring definitions are fully understood
Data collection and reporting aligns to the above and is
shared locally and nationally where appropriate
Sign off processes with Commissioners are robust
Ensure CQUINS are achievable without need to redeploy
additional resources to minimise risk of under recoverey
Non recurrent support available

Thind, Mrs Jazz

31/03/2020

Low

31/03/2020

Lessons learnt from the indicators not achieved in
previous years have been taken forward
Involved in the full engagement of agreeing CQUINS
where were are able to do so
Managing the delivery of differing quality goals by local
CCG
Data collection and reporting processes included as part
of implementation plan

Thind, Mrs Jazz

31/03/2020

We have escalated to the CCG and LA, and within NHS PS. Moss, Mr Julian

31/03/2020

Low

31/03/2020

Service: Finance
Business
Committee
report

Business
Committee
report

1565

1606

Sustainability

17/12/2019

Opportunities afforded by SLP will enable us
demonstrate how the Trust can support the system
control total (i.e. NMoC).

1. Primary care prescribing stretch
2. Pathway redesign, transformation and efficiency
mitigations
3. Payment reform
4. Local funding agreements across primary, community
and mental health services
5. CCG contingency reserves
6. Non delivery of national targets
7. System Investment Fund
8. Fixing financial assumptions and contract values for
2019/20

Each Trust is actively managing its financial
position.
There will continue to be bilateral contract
discussions to try to secure mutually acceptable
contract proposals

13/07/2017

13/07/2017

Investment to support the additional capacity in
place on a non-recurrent basis

Monitoring of financial position reported Steps to be taken to reduce reliance on non-Oxleas
to Board, Business Committee and
beds need to agreed and mobilised asap
Executive Team
Daily bed state reports published to monitor usage Monitoring use of Bexley Crisis Cafe
Recruitment of staff needs to happen at pace
of beds
Feedback from MADE events

Moderate (3)

Likely (4)

12

High

17/09/2019

17/12/2019

Programme in place to develop alternatives to inpatient Okocha, Dr Ify
admission and also ensure that our community teams are
functioning at optimum levels.
There are four over-arching themes into which all of the
work streams fit:

24/7 HTT now in place working across all three
boroughs (based at Woodlands out of hours)

• Ensure patients in crisis in the community can access a
community based resources and therefore avoid
attendance at A&E
• Ensure that when appropriate patients can be assessed
for longer periods without being admitted to hospital
• Ensure that each patient admitted to an acute ward has
a purposeful admission and that discharge is not delayed
• Ensure that care offered in the community is not
delayed and that teams are working at optimum

Trustwide Crisis line in place
Crisis Cafe established in Bexley

Two 2018/19 specific projects that will provide an
alternative to in-patient admission are - development of
borough based 24/7 HTT teams and the development of a
trust wide Crisis Line

Business
Committee
report

Business
Committee
report

1177

1291

Sustainability

Sustainability

Not achieving the savings required to
Thind, Mrs Jazz Trust Business
deliver the control total would have a
Committee
negative impact on the recurrent
deliverability of our operational financial
plan and raise questions about our long
term sustainability.

There is a risk that we will not achieve
100% of the CQUIN value. This could
result in a loss of income.

Thind, Mrs Jazz Trust Business
Committee

Business
Committee

Business
Committee

22/10/2014

16/06/2015

22/10/2014

17/09/2019

Financial support available to service directorates
to support the delivery of invest to save plans

Reports to Board and Business
Committee

Savings plans identified but not all will be fully
delivered at start of financial year

Financial recovery regime in place for all
directorates RAG rated 'red'.

Monthly/quarterly finance meeting with
service and corporate directorates

Formulation of future plan ahead of time

Monthly finance reports shared

NHSI Risk Rating an indicator of financial
risk

Engaged in discussions regarding national CQUIN
goals

Reports to Performance and Quality
Assurance Committee, Business
Committee, Board of Directors

CQUIN implementation guidance issued to teams

Major (4)

Likely (4)

16

Significant

16/07/2019

17/12/2019

All services asked to ensure the Trust has sufficient plans
to achieve current annual savings target and beyond

Greater transparency of CRE plans with commissioners to
highlight consequences on services of reduced funding

Number of goals and variety of goals make it more
challenging to achieve 100% of CQUIN income

Major (4)

Likely (4)

16

Significant

17/09/2019

17/12/2019

Commissioners are applying incraesed scrutiny in
verifying if goals have been achieved.

Financial monitoring in plce to check how we are
doing against key in-year milestones
Financial provision for potential cost of nonachievement

Service: Estates and Facilities
Infrastructure
Committee
report

1695

Quality,
Partnership

Patients and staff at Greenwich Square
may be compromised because we are
operating out of a building where there
are identified fire safety concerns

Evans, Mrs
Rachel

Infrastructure
Committee

Infrastructure
Committee

11/04/2018

15/10/2019

Only ambulatory patients at Greenwich Square.

London Fire Brigade assessment

London Fire Brigade have put in place their own
precautions including a 24 hour fire watch on the
residential section, immediate evacuation of the
whole building should the fire alarm sound in any
area, LFB's first attendance to site will be at least
10 pumps.

CCG have escalated to NHSPS who are
being proactive in obtaining evidence of
statutory compliance

Approximately 30 to 40 staff are based at
Greenwich Square, and there are 12 clinic rooms,
which are in constant use.
We cannot undertake fire drills for the areas
occupied by Oxleas only, as any fire drills would
have to involve the whole building.

Cladding has been removed.
The trust continues to meet with the CCG and the
landlord to ensure that safety is maintained
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Major (4)

Unlikely (2)

8

Moderate

15/10/2019

18/02/2020

CCG have escalated to NHSPS and progress is being made
although evidence of all statutory compliance remains
outstanding together with the site wide fire safety plan

19

Agenda item ID

Strategic
objective

Description

Handler

Responsible
Committee

Board Subcommittee

Opened

Quality

If actions agreed as a result of serious
Wells, Mrs Jane Trust Patient
Performance and 07/11/2018
incident inquiries are not completed in a
Safety Committee Quality Assurance
timely manner, there is a risk that the
Committee
trust may not implement learning and
take action to improve practice and
quality.

BAF - date added

Controls in place

Existing assurances

Gaps in controls and assurances

20/11/2018

Trust Patient Safety Group
Directorate Patient Safety Group
A new SI team is in place and they will work with
directorates to ensure that Datix is updated in a
timely manner

Evidence of the actions taken to be
uploaded to Datix; and action closed on
Datix in a timely manner to provide
assurance that actions have been
completed.

Recommendation from KPMG serious incident
report November 2018 highlighted the need for
improved monitoring and reporting of the action
plans at both Directorate and Board Level.
Unclosed actions will be monitored and spot checks
will be undertaken.

Consequence
(current)

Likelihood
(current)

Rating
(current)

Risk level
(current)

Moderate (3)

Unlikely (2)

6

Moderate

Last review date Review date

Mitigation synopsis

Responsibility
('To')

14/10/2019

The Trust Patient Safety Group monitors actions that are Lemilliere, Ms.
due and overdue and Directorate Patient Safety Groups
Caroline
are held to account by the Trust Patient Safety Committee

Due date

Done date

Risk level
(Target)

Date target
rating to be
achieved

31/03/2020

Low

31/03/2020

31/12/2019

Low

31/12/2019

Low

31/12/2019

Service: Nursing Directorate
PQAC report

1763

09/12/2019

The Serious Incidents Team will ensure that each
directorate is presented with their performance for:
•Number of serious incidents
•Performance for:
-Duty of candour letters sent within 10 days
-Reasons for duty of candour letters sent late or not at all
-72 hour report
-Completion of SI reports
-Completion of actions
-Support requirements if overdue
This will then be reported back to the Board in the
directorate operation updates / SI report to the board.

PQAC report

1776

Quality

There have been some instances where a Wells, Mrs Jane Mental Health
patient detained under s136 has been
Legislation
assessed as requiring admission, and no
Oversight Group
bed is available, either within our own
bed base, or in the private sector;
patients are therefore kept in the Health
Based Place of Safety (HBPoS) beyond 24
hours. There is a risk that this will impact
on patient care, privacy and dignity; that
the trust will be deprived of a HBPoS; and
a risk of legal action for unlawful
detention.

Performance and 18/01/2019
Quality Assurance
Committee

02/05/2019

Escalation protocol has been approved and is
available on the trust intranet. Posters displayed
in s136 suite to raise awareness

Monitoring breaches of the s136 24-hour Bed demand and capacity remains an on-going
rule. Datix to be completed for all
concern
patients who remain in HBPoS without
consent after 24 hours
An audit of s136 arrangements is taking place as
The trust is indemnified against legal action, and a
part the KPMG internal audit plan for 2019/20. The
claim may be defensible if we could demonstrate it Monitoring legal action against the trust findings of this will be reported to the Audit and
was a risk based decision to keep the patient in the (no legal action taken to date in respect Risk Assurance Committee in November 2019.
s136 suite for their own safety.
of breach of the 24-hour rule)

Performance and Performance and 16/05/2018
Quality Assurance Quality Assurance
Committee
Committee

18/09/2019

Peer review programme
Readiness workshops
Communication plan
Response to Oaktree

Minor (2)

Likely (4)

8

Moderate

04/09/2019

11/11/2019

See existing controls. The MHLOG will continue to
monitor the effectiveness of the controls, and any
concerns will be reported to the Executive Team and the
Board via the PQAC and the Board Assurance Framework

Wells, Mrs Jane

Moderate (3)

Likely (4)

12

High

18/09/2019

20/11/2019

Processes will be developed to ensure that the trust can
proactively identify and then address concerns:

zzIranloye, Rhoda 30/09/2018
(Inactive User)

23/01/2019

Okocha, Dr Ify

31/10/2018

23/01/2019

A review of governance arrangements in light of the CQC Okocha, Dr Ify
unannounced inspection of the PAS is being undertaken.
The review panel members are three non-executive
directors (YG, NH and SS. The outcome of the review will
inform any further mitigation actions needed.

30/11/2019

Service: Quality and Governance
PQAC report

1709

Quality

The trust needs robust systems to
Okocha, Dr Ify
identify and respond to warnings in
relation to problems in service delivery in
trust services. Failure to do so will impact
on patient experience and may lead to
patient needs not being met; or increased
scrutiny from the CQC.

PQAC minutes
It is recognised that we need processes to identify
CQC Oversight Group to monitor progress and respond to concerns that cannot be captured
Peer review reports
through quantitative metrics.

Peer reviews - each team is given an improvement plan
following the peer review
Dedicated focus on the five quality domains and
identifying the gaps at trust and local level
CQC engagement workshops
Implementation of action plan from Oaktree Lodge
investigation

Implementation of the action plan developed by the
Executive in response to the recommendations in Steve
James's report into Oaktree lodge.

Service: Workforce and QI
Workforce
Committee
report

1502

Workforce,
Sustainability

Increased demand, organisational change zzNair, Meera
and funding pressures may lead to
reduced morale impacting on retention,
sickness absence and patient and staff
satisfaction

Trust Workforce
Committee

Workforce
Committee

18/01/2017

18/01/2017

NHSI retention plan
Improved engagement processes - Range of
initiatives for communicating with staff being
taken forward by Communications Team
Staff Partnership focus groups
Detailed action plan in place reviewed bi-monthly
Range of programmes launched (e.g., changing of
shifts, buying and selling leave etc) / to be
launched in 2019/20 (including MHFA,
mindfulness)

Progress noted by NHSI as one of the
better performing of Cohort1 trusts

Our high impact priorites in the NHSI retention plan
are are to:

Retention / staff turnover monitoring:
Staffing levels have improved
substantially in the same period and have
supported teams in clinical and nonclinical functions across the trust.

- Focus on making first year of employment
supportive, nurturing and fulfilling experience
- Support managers to get the best out of and
develop individual staff
- Make people feel valued by an organisation that
prioritises quality of care

Major (4)

Unlikely (2)

8

Moderate

17/07/2019

20/11/2019

A detailed retention plan has been developed with a focus zzNair, Meera
on: making first year of employment supportive, nurturing
and fulfilling experience, support managers to get the best
out of and develop individual staff; and make people feel
valued by an organisation that prioritises quality of care

31/03/2020

Moderate

31/03/2020

Moderate (3)

Likely (4)

12

High

17/07/2019

20/11/2019

Improved engagement with staff through campaigns and zzNair, Meera
activity aimed at addressing bullying and harassment may
mitigate risk of staff experiencing discrimination

31/03/2020

Moderate

31/03/2020

Staff sickeness absence data: Sickness
absence levels have been consistently low Health and well-being will be taken forward in
for 2018/19 and have generally been at 2019/20 as a key plank of this work
levels lower than the previous year.
Additional assurance also gained from
National Staff Survey and Staff Friends
and Family Test

Workforce
Committee
report

1471

Workforce

Staff may experience discrimination,
zzNair, Meera
violence and aggression at work, in
particular from service users, carers and
members of the public. This may impact
on sickness absence, morale and
retention.

Equality and
Human Rights
Group

Workforce
Committee

26/04/2016

26/08/2018

Delivery of Trust-wide Quality improvement
projects addressing violence and aggression
against staff in directorates. Engagement with staff
across directorates at all levels to ensure that
support systems and routes for staff to escalate
concerns are publicised.

Datix reports
National Staff Survey
BME Coaching scheme
Staff Friends and Family Test

A detailed, trust wide action plan is in place to
ensure we can make improvements in this area,
including focus groups with staff and QI projects in
specific teams

Working group to tackle B&H in place with a series of
actions that will take place by 2020.

Specific engagement activity targetting staff
experience of bullying and harassment and
discrimination. Campaign to be launched in
partnership with B&H advisers and members of the
E&HR group.

Risk of violence and aggression experienced by staff is
mitigated through implementation of trust MDT action
plan on managing verbal abuse, harassment and
discrimination by patients. Improved engagement with
staff through the evaluation of QI project.

QI programmes in inpatient teams
Focus groups to determine concerns
Amended policy and workflow
Amended PMVA training
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zzNair, Meera

31/03/2020
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Agenda item ID

Strategic
objective

Description

Workforce
Committee
report

Quality,
Workforce

There is a risk that the trust cannot
zzNair, Meera
recruit Band 5 nursing staff to a level
which enables it to maintain optimum
levels of substantive staff. This will
impact on the delivery of care and patient
experience.

1213

Handler

Responsible
Committee

Board Subcommittee

Opened

BAF - date added

Controls in place

Existing assurances

Recruitment and
Retention
Committee

Workforce
Committee

18/02/2014

09/03/2016

On-going programme of recruitment events,
Vacancy rate monitoring - target to
including weekend events and working closely with maintain at <11%
HEIs; use of social media to raise awareness of job “time to recruit” monitoring
opportunities

Gaps in controls and assurances

Need to bring turnover down
Need to reduce time to hire timescales

Use of temporary staff to cover vacancies

Consequence
(current)

Likelihood
(current)

Rating
(current)

Risk level
(current)

Moderate (3)

Likely (4)

12

High

Last review date Review date

Mitigation synopsis

17/07/2019

On-going recruitment activity to target specific areas. A zzNair, Meera
number of solutions are being explored to promote Oxleas
as an employer of choice, with initiatives to attract and
retain high calibre staff
•Career development has been identified as the main
driver for turnover. Career cafes have been introduced
along with ‘itchy feet’ conversations. A band 5 nurse
transfer programme was introduced in November 2018
and will continue until March 2019 as a pilot. Joint
recruitment with our SLP partners is underway alongside
the implementation of an employment passport to
support transition

20/11/2019

Responsibility
('To')

Due date

Done date

31/03/2020

•Key focus on recruitment of Band 5 nursing staff and a
range of schemes are being used to incentivise staff to
apply for these posts
•On-going programme of recruitment events, including
weekend events and working closely with HEIs
•Development of an enhanced Band 4 nurse associate
role

On-going review of reducing time to recruit timescacles

Page 3 of 3

zzNair, Meera

31/12/2018

31/12/2018

Risk level
(Target)

Date target
rating to be
achieved

Low

31/03/2020
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Board of Directors
7 November 2019

Item
Enclosure

5
-

Report Title
Author
Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status

Temporary Board arrangements
Sally Bryden, Trust Secretary/Associate Director for Corporate Affairs
Matthew Trainer, Chief Executive
Public

Report Summary

From 28 October 2019, Vice Chair Stephen Dilworth took on the role as
Acting Chair for Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust while Andy Trotter is receiving
medical treatment for an injury. We expect this arrangement to remain in
place until December 2019 but it will be under regular review.
Whilst Stephen is in the Acting Chair role, we are asking the Board to agree
to Steve James taking on the Vice Chair role for the Board.
Also during this period, Stephen will step down from his role as Chair of the
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. Steve James will take on the role as
Chair of the committee and Amlan Basu will join the committee.

Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Recommendation

Information
Approval

To Note
√

√

Decison

The Board is asked to note the arrangements and agree to Steve James
taking the role as Acting Vice Chair of the Board.
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Board of Directors
7 November 2019
Report Title
Author
Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status
Report Summary

6
-

Item
Enclosure

Chief Executive Report
Matthew Trainer, CEO
Matthew Trainer, CEO
Public
The purpose of this report is to provide the Trust Board with the
Chief Executive Officer’s update on significant developments and key
issues over the past two months. The Board is asked to receive and
note the report.
The key issues in the report are:
• NHS taskforce for young people’s hospital mental health
• London Mental Health Compact
• South East London district nursing conference
• Armed Forces Covenant
• Black History Month
• World Mental Health Day
• Trust leadership developments

Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant
choice for drop down
box)
Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives click on
relevant choice for
drop down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework

Information

To Note

Approval

Decison

√

For the Board of Directors to note the report

Quality √

Workforce √

Sustainability √

Partnerships √

This report links to several risks on the Board assurance framework
including 1565.
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1. National developments
New NHS taskforce to drive improvements in young people’s hospital mental health, learning
disability and autism care
NHS England has announced that a new taskforce will be set up to improve current specialist
children and young people’s inpatient mental health, autism and learning disability services. It
will take forward implementation of key aspects of the NHS Long Term Plan.
Anne Longfield OBE, Children’s Commissioner for England, will chair an independent oversight
board to scrutinise and support the work of the taskforce.
2. Local developments
NHS England/Improvement – London - Mental Health Compact Diagnostics Report
The Mental Health Compact Diagnostics Report was published in October looking at the
experiences of people in mental health crisis in London who seek help through the capital’s
urgent and emergency care system. I am leading this programme of work on behalf of the region
and an audit carried out in August found that more than half of the people who to emergency
departments for help because of their mental health waited for more than four hours to get the
right care.
The report makes a range of recommendations to be taken forward by a Pan London Mental
Health Improvement Collaborative.
District nursing celebration
We have set up a special event to celebrate district nursing in South East London which will take
place later this month. Nurses from across the region will meet on 13 November to mark their
contribution to local healthcare. A range of speakers have been confirmed, including Andrea
Sutcliffe, CEO and Registrar with the Nursing & Midwifery Council; Dr Crystal Oldman, CEO of the
Queen Nursing Institute and Capital Nurse, Dr Abi Masterson.
3. Partnership highlights
South London Partnership
Work has been continuing to develop the SLP provider collaborative submissions. The second
stage of the process is to develop a detailed proposal for submission later this month.
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The South London Partnership Quality Improvement Conference 2019 will take place on 21
November at KIA Oval, Kennington. This will include presentations on Quality Improvement
projects across all three trusts.
4. Oxleas developments
Silver Award – Armed Forces Covenant
We have been awarded the Silver Award in the Ministry of Defence Employer Recognition
Scheme marking our commitment to the Armed Forces Covenant. It recognises the work we are
doing to support members of the armed forces and their families in accessing timely healthcare
and supporting the employment of ex-veterans.
We will be presented with our award at the Cavalry and Guards Club in Piccadilly, London on 25
November.
Black History Month
A highly successful event was held in October by the BME staff network to mark Black History
Month. The theme of the well-attended event was promoting cultural diversity within Oxleas.
Members elected Juliana Frederick-James as the network’s new chair.
World Mental Health Day
Two trust initiatives were launched to mark World Mental Health Day on 10 October 2019. A
programme of skills training in Suicide Prevention and Self-Harm Mitigation (STORM) for staff
and our Mental Health First Aider in the workplace scheme.
Trust leadership developments
Drs Abi Fadipe and Tom Clark have been appointed to the role of joint Deputy Medical Director
for Oxleas. Dr Fadipe is currently Clinical Director for Oxleas’ Bromley services and Dr Clark will
be joining us from Princess Royal University Hospital in Bromley where he is Clinical Director and
transformation lead.
From the beginning of October, Dr Sandra Baum has taken up the role of Clinical Director for our
trustwide Adult Learning Disabilities services.The new Clinical Director for Children and Young
People’s Services will be Dr Sabitha Sridhar. She will be taking up the role on the departure of Dr
Lesley French.
Rachel Clare Evans will be taking up her role as Executive Director for Strategy and People from
mid-November. She joins us from South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust.
Our new Head of Equality and Human Rights is Karen Edmunds. She is based at Pinewood House
and can be can be contacted at karenedmunds@nhs.net
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Board of Directors
7 November 2019
Report Title
Author
Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status
Report Summary

Item

7

Enclosure 7

Integrated Performance Dashboard
Iain Dimond
Iain Dimond, Chief Operating Officer
Public

Please see attached the Trust Integrated Performance Report and NHSI Standard
Operating Framework dashboard.
There are three areas within the Integrated Performance Report where overall
Trust performance is more than 5% below the target performance and
exception reports are provided.
On the NHSI dashboard there is one metric where performance is below target.
An exception report is provided.

Purpose
(To select
Information
To Note
purpose, click on
relevant choice
for drop down
Approval
Decision
box)
Recommendation Clear outline of what the committee is being asked to agree/discuss/note. Items
for information will not allocated time for discussion within meeting.
Link to strategic
objectives (click
on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework

Quality

Workforce

Cross reference to risk register

Sustainability

Partnerships
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Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

Briefly outline implications of the recommendations in this report

Integrated Performance Report(IPR) - September 2019

27

S.No

Committee

Reported

Origin

Metric
Code View from our regulators

1

Monthly

NHSI

10766

NHS Improvement - Segment

2

N/A

CQC

10348

CQC Rating

S.No

Committee

Reported

Origin

Metric Caring - Staff involve and treat people with kindness,
Code dignity and respect

Target

Sep-19

Comments - September 2019

Variance

Assurance

Comments - September 2019

Variance

Assurance

Variance

Assurance

Variance

Assurance

1

Target

Sep-19

3

Quality

Monthly

DH

10341

4 Must Dos - Treated with dignity and respect

>90%

98.0% RAG: Green >90, Amber >84-90 , Red <=85

4

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10798

Friends/relatives involved in care and treatment

>90%

95.1%

5

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10338

Helped as a result of the care and treatment they have
received

>90%

95.8%

6

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10340

Friends and Family Test (FFT) - % not recommended

<10%

2.6% >10% Red ,8.5%to10% Amber, <8.5% Green

7

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10339

FFT - % recommended

>90%

89.2% RAG: Green >90, Amber >84-90 , Red <=85

Responsive - People get the treatment and care they
need at the right time, without excessive delay and

Target

S.No

Committee

Reported

Origin

Sep-19

Comments - September 2019

8

Quality

Monthly

NHSE

10768

Delayed Transfers of Care

<7.5%

9

Quality

Monthly

NHSI

11128

6 Week Wait for Audiology Diagnostic Assessment (DM01
Monthly)

>99%

10

Quality

Monthly

Trust

11403

Performance against 30 working day target for Responding
to complaints

>80%

69.2% Data has been submitted up to July 2019. August 2019 data is
not currently complete - this complaints metric is reported
two months in arrears. Reporting for this metric is to be
reviewed, based on recent feedback. Please see Exception
Report.

11

Quality

Monthly

Trust

11404

Performance against outstanding actions identified from
Complaints

>90%

54.8% Data has been submitted up to July 2019. August 2019 data is
not currently complete - this complaints metric is reported
two months in arrears. Reporting for this metric is to be
reviewed, based on recent feedback. Please see Exception
Report.

12

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10335

4 Must Dos - Enough information about care and treatment

>90%

95.1% RAG: Green>90, Amber 84-95, Red <=85

13

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10336

4 Must Dos - Involved in decisions about care and treatment

>90%

94.7%

14

Quality

Monthly

Trust

11268

Referral to Treatment - Allied Health Professionals (New April 2018)

>95%

95.4%

15

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10024

Referral to treatment for Psychological Therapies (PT)

>95%

91.0% RAG: Green >95, Amber 85-95 , Red <85

16

Quality

Monthly

NHSI

10248

Referral to treatment for incomplete care pathways

>92%

97.0% RAG: Green >90, Amber 84-95 , Red <85

17

Quality

Monthly

Trust

11397

Percentage of patients seen within 12 months for an initial
Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) Appointment

TBC

23.5% New metric awaiting sign-off.

18

Quality

Monthly

Trust

11399

Percentage of patients seen within 12 weeks for an Initial
CAMHS Appointment

TBC

81.6% New metric awaiting sign-off.

19

Quality

Monthly

Trust

11401

Percentage of patients seen within 18 weeks for a second
CAMHS Appointment

TBC

80.5% New metric awaiting sign-off.

4.8% RAG: Green <=7.50%; Red
100.0%

20

Quality

Monthly

NHSI

Metric Safe - People are protected from abuse and avoidable Target
Code harm. People are protected from physical, sexual,
10314
CPA 7 Day follow up (Discharge from Inpatient setting)
>95%

21

Quality

Monthly

Trust

20674

CQUIN-72 Hour Post Discharge Follow Up

80%

70.6% RAG: Green >=80%; Amber:50-<80%; Red:<50%. New metric:
September 2019. This metric includes follow ups for all
discharged patients from MH wards. Work continues to
embed the new processes. Exception reporting will start from
October 2019.
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Quality

Monthly

Trust

20675

72 Hour Post Discharge Follow Up (Self Harm)

80%

74.3% RAG: Green >= 80; Red < 80. New metric: September 2019.
This metric includes follow ups for all discharged patients
from MH wards, where self-harm has been identified. Work
continues to embed the new processes. Exception reporting
will start from November 2019.
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Quality

Monthly

Trust

10342

Adult Acute Bed occupancy (excluding leave)

<100%

98.0%

24

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10463

OPMH Acute Bed occupancy (excluding leave)

<100%

85.1%

25

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10343

Adult Community Intermediate Care Bed Occupancy

85-95%

93.1%

26

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10869

Crisis Home Treatment Team Gatekeeping - Oct 2017
onwards

>95%

99.1% Bexley = 37/37(100%); Bromley 50/50 (100%); Greenwich=
24/25(96%). Trust: = 111/112(99%)
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Quality

Monthly

Trust

10446

Prisons (Number of Secondary Screens Completed in the First
72 Hours against Number of Receptions)

>95%

89.6% Green: =>95; Amber 80-95; Red>80

28

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10512

48-Hour Post-Discharge Follow-up

>100%

85.0% Bexley = 10/11 (91%); Bromley = 21/22 (95%); Greenwich =
8/13 (61%). Trust: 40/46 (85%). See Exception Report
(Greenwich)

29

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10355

No of incidents (1-3)

N/A

827

30

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10356

No of Serious incidents (4-5) (excluding pressure ulcers)

N/A

1

31

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10447

Incidents of category 3 and 4 Pressure Ulcers

N/A

20

S.No

Committee

Reported

Origin

Sep-19

Comments - September 2019

93.0% This is the original 7 day follow up metric which is included in
the SOF. Only discharged patients on CPA are included in the
calculation. Bx. 8/8; Br.11/13; Gr.20/21; For. 1/1. Trust: 40/43
(93%)

Integrated Performance Report(IPR) - September 2019
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S.No

Committee

Reported

Origin

Metric
Code View from our regulators

Target

Sep-19

N/A

Comments - September 2019

32

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10448

Medication errors

33

Workforce &
Development

Monthly

Trust

10334

Vacancy Rate

<14%

10.2% August -2019. September figure available after the 2nd Friday
of the month.

34

Workforce &
Development

Monthly

Trust

10445

Vacancies - Exceptions Prisons

<14%

25.8% August -2019. September figure available after the 2nd Friday
of the month.

S.No

Committee

Reported

Origin

Metric Effective - People's care, treatment and support
Code achieves good outcomes, promotes a good quality of

Target

Sep-19

Comments - September 2019

Quality

Monthly

NHSI

10915

Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) - 2 Week Waiting Times
(Waiting)

>53%

55.0% Bexley = 0/1 (0%), Bromley = 3/6, Greenwich = 3/4 (75%) ,
CYP = 0/0. Trust =6/11 = 55%

36

Quality

Monthly

NHSI

10916

Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) - 2 Week Waiting Times
(Seen)

>53%

54.0% Bexley = 2/5 (40%), Bromley = 5/5, Greenwich = 5/13(38%),
CYP = 1/1 (100%); Trust =13/24 = 54%

37

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10645

% Estimated Date of Discharge (inpatient adult community
services) entered within 24 hours

>90%

90.0%

38

Quality

Monthly

NHSI

11314

Inappropriate out-of-area placements for adult mental
health services.

39

Quality

Monthly

Trust

11454

% of Inpatient Rosters Approved 6 Weeks in Advance (New)

40

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10323

Ensure patients detained under the MHA are provided with
info as stated-recorded on Rio (S132)

>100%

92.8% Red:<90%, Amber: 90%-100%, Green: = 100%. Trust: =90/97
(93%).

41

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10325

Ensure consent to treatment is obtained from clients
assessed and detained under the MHA (S58)

>100%

92.9% Red:<90%, Amber: 90%-100%, Green. Trust: = 13/14 =100%.

42

Quality

Monthly

NHSI

11190

Data Quality Maturity Index DQMI - MHSDS Completeness

>80%

84.0% Last publication: 21/08/2019

43

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10322

MH CPA Service user reviews after 6 months

>95%

89.6%

44

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10102

CPA formal review within 12 mths

>95%

98.9%

45

Quality

Monthly

Trust

10359

Prisons: % of clients with a care plan set up within 2 weeks of
assessment

>95%

95.0%

Metric Well-led - Leadership, management and governance
Code of the organisation assure the delivery of high-quality

Target

S.No

Committee

Reported

Origin

Assurance

Variance

Assurance

Variance

Assurance

59

35

-

Variance

605

Published by NHS Digital two months in arrears. 605
inappropriate bed days. 635 days in total over the period published 10th October2019.

89.0%

Sep-19

Comments - September 2019

46

Workforce &
Development

Monthly

Trust

10353

Staff Personal Development Review (PDR) Completeness

>80%

88% RAG: Green >= 80; Red < 80

47

Workforce &
Development

Monthly

Trust

10354

Supervision Completeness

>80%

79% RAG: <74% Red; 74-80% Amber; <=80% Green

48

Workforce &
Development

Monthly

Trust

10333

Sickness Rate

<4%

4.1% RAG: Green: >6, Amber: 6-4, Red: <4. August 2019 data September 2019 information awaited from HR department.

49

Workforce &
Development

Monthly

Trust

10331

Bank Costs as % of pay spend (All professions)

50

Workforce &
Development

Monthly

Trust

10332

Agency costs as % of pay spend

51

Business

Monthly

NHSI

10326

Normalised Surplus - Year to Date (£M)

-0.2

52

Business

Monthly

NHSI

10327

Cash Position (£m)

44.0

63

Year to date target £50m, Year end plan £44m - on or ahead of
plan - Green.

53

Business

Monthly

Trust

10328

Capital Expenditure - Year to Date (£m)

<=20.3

9.6

Performance is Rag Rated on the basis of FOT. 5% < plan Green, between 5% and 10% < plan - Amber, 11% < plan - Red,
> plan - Red
Year to date 8% ahead of plan (£7.1m) due to phasing plan,
year end FOT on plan (£19.2m).

54

Business

Monthly

Trust

10330

CRE Plans 18/19 (£M)

>9.4

4.3

Year end saving plan £9.4m. Original year end saving plan will
not be met, the revised target will mean a 5.2m shortfall from
original target.

8.1% Figures include all professions >7.0% Green; 5.0 -7.0% Amber;
<= 5.0% Red.

<6.5%

3.8% >11.0% Red; 8.0% to 11.0% Amber; <= 8.0% Green.

-0.1 Year to date target £0m, Year end plan £-0.2m.
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X Chart Report – Metric 10512 - 48 Hours Post Discharge Follow -up (September 2019)

X Charts

Analysis
Target: 100%
What do the charts tell us? : Greenwich - In September, of the 13 discharges
there were 5 breaches (8/13= 61.5%). Of the 5 breaches, 2 were attempted to
f/up, and 3 were not, 1 of the 3 was subsequently readmitted.
Actions to Improve The Greenwich Business Office continue to support this
process by daily monitoring of automated I-Fox reports .
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X Chart Report – Metric 11403 - Performance against 30 working days target for responding to complaints (July-2019)

X Charts

Analysis
Target: 80%. What do the charts tell us?

Due to low number of denominators impact of any breaches on overall percentages is felt
acutely. However, considering that this is one of our newer metrics, it is anticipated that reporting
this data monthly will encourage improvements in response times.

Actions to Improve
i.
On allocation of a complaint the relevant complaints officer will call the Investigating Officer
to discuss the expectations and their role in the investigation and complaints process. i.e.
reading through the complaint in a timely manner, how they will be investigating the
complaint, advising them to contact the complainant at the outset, advising that requests
for extensions must be made within 72 hours of receipt and their responsibilities for
completing Datix.
ii.
The complaints team have encouraged services to utilise the significant pool of IO’s that
have received training to date and allocate IO’s on a rota basis. This would avoid IO’s dealing
with more than one complaint at a time.
iii.
Weekly logs are sent by the complaints team to each Directorate detailing the status of all
complaints, including re-opened complaints, Quality Alerts and MP Enquiries.
iv.
Directorates are expected to formulate their own plans to address performance.
Bexley: We have brought in a resource to help teams manage complaints and this has helped improve
performance.
Greenwich: The directorate is currently undertaking a Qi project in relation to response times. Future
actions…
•
•
•
•
•
•

Increasing the number of investigating officers
Provide transparency of taxi rank system
Buddy support for new investigating officers
Associate Directors to e-mail IO’s manager and team manager where complaint has been made
Meeting with IO’s set for December 2019 to listen and understand the issues in relation to complaints
investigations
Actions will be monitored at the Qi project group meeting

Bromley: Although dipping below the 80% target twice in the last 6 months, we can see that we have rectified
this issue and performance is now back to 100% for the last 2 months.
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Run Chart Report – Metric 11404 - Performance against outstanding actions from Complaints (July 2019)

X Charts

Analysis
Target: 80%

What do the charts tell us?
Due to low number of denominators impact of any breaches on overall percentages is
felt acutely. However, considering that this is one of our newer metrics, it is anticipated
that reporting this data monthly will encourage improvements in response times.
Actions to Improve
Bexley: BCT have recently forged stronger relations with their complaints liaison.
Training of clinicians in complaint response has taken place and further training is
arranged.
BCT have developed a 'Taxi Rank' system for responses. Where a member of staff is new
to complaints they will have a 'buddy‘. There will also be a similar system for complaint
actions. A report will be requested monthly from the complaints liaison and
disseminated down the 'Taxi Rank' by the administrators. It's aimed that this will keep
the focus within 30 days. BCT are considering how to continue focus on the IO, to
complete alongside their clinical responsibilities.
Bromley: Having focussed on improving our response times for complaints, our
attention will now be turned to improving our performance with regards to outstanding
actions to return to our previous position of having reached the target 4 out of the last 6
months.
Greenwich: The directorate are undertaking a QI Project which will incorporate this
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X Chart Report – Metric 11270 - Mental Health FFT - % Positive (September 2019)

X Charts

Analysis
Target: 90%

What do the charts tell us?
Actions to Improve:
Bexley: The problems have been focused around Lesney Ward where there has been a
period of time without a substantive consultant, this has affected patient views.
Bromley: As with all directorates, this target continues to be a struggle although our 12
month average position is only just below the 80% target. We will raise this at our
internal Performance and Quality meeting to make staff aware and look to see where
improvements can be made.
Greenwich: The Directorate is rolling out the use of the text message across services.
The services at the Heights and Ferryview are purchasing new iPads to increase
responses.
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X Chart Report – Metric 10445 – Vacancies – Exceptions Prisons

X Charts

Analysis
Target: <14%
What do the charts tell us?
Data shows a steady improvement in vacancy rates for the prison service for
the last year with service meeting the trust target of14% in June. However
between August and end of September the vacancy rate increased to 26%. This
is due to us taking on HMP Wandsworth in September which has significantly
higher vacancy rates than our other services.
Actions to Improve:
We have had a focussed recruitment event RCNi for prison services , and are
doing various projects to promote awareness of working in prison for RGNs, we
expect some improvement on the position by January 2020. In the longer term
we are looking at apprenticeships, academic offerings and rotations to
attract/develop a specialist prison workforce.
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SINGLE OVERSIGHT FRAMEWORK DASHBOARD
October 2019 - Reporting September 2019 Activity

For further information pertaining to each of these measures, click here:
Domain
Director
Metric

Link to NHS Improvement Single Oversight Framework Document
NHSI Method Current
Matches Local Target
Metric
of Collection
Reporting
Reporting?
Number

Sep-19

Operational
Performance

Ian Dimond

Referral to treatment for incomplete care pathways

10248

NHSI

IBR

Yes

92%

97.0%

Operational
Performance

Ian Dimond

Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) - 2 Week Waiting Times
Monitoring (Waiting)

10915

MHSDS /
UNIFY2

IBR

Yes

>=53%

55.0%

Bexley = 0/1 (0%), Bromley = 3/6, Greenwich = 3/4 (75%) ,
CYP = 0/0. Trust =6/11 = 55%

Operational
Performance

Ian Dimond

Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) - 2 Week Waiting Times
Monitoring (Seen)

10916

MHSDS /
UNIFY2

IBR

Yes

>=53%

54.0%

Bexley = 2/5 (40%), Bromley = 5/5, Greenwich =
5/13(38%), CYP = 1/1 (100%); Trust =13/24 = 54%

Operational
Performance

Ian Dimond

IAPT - % completing treatment

10652
(IAPTUS)

IAPT MDS

IAPT

Yes

50%

58.7%

Operational
Performance

Ian Dimond

IAPT Waiting Times - 18 weeks

10534
(IAPTUS)

IAPT MDS

IAPT

Yes

95%

99.2%

Operational
Performance

Ian Dimond

IAPT Waiting Times - 6 weeks

10533
(IAPTUS)

IAPT MDS

IAPT

Yes

75%

96.1%

Operational
Performance

Ian Dimond

Maximum 6-week wait for Diagnostic Procedures (Audiology) 11128

Unify2

DM01

Yes

99%

100.0%

Operational
Performance

Ian Dimond

MHSDS Completeness - Data Quality Maturity Index DQMI

11190

MHSDS /
UNIFY2

MHSDS

No

95%

89.9%

Last publication date: 23/09/2019. This publication of the
DQMI is based on data from June 2019 and includes data
from the following datasets: (AE), (APC), (CSDS), (IAPT),
(MHSDS), (MSDS) & (OP). MHSDS Score = 86.9%

Operational
Performance

Ian Dimond

Inappropriate out-of-area placements for adult mental health 11314
services.

MHSDS /
UNIFY2

NHS Digital

No

N/A

605

Published by NHS Digital two months in arrears. 605
inappropriate bed days. 635 days in total over the period published 10th October2019.

Quality of Care

Ian Dimond

% clients in employment - for 16-69 yr olds who are on CPA

10666

NHS Digital

MHSDS

Yes

N/A

5.0%

Published by NHS Digital two months in arrears - July 2019
data. August data due 14th November 2019.

Quality of Care

Ian Dimond

% clients in settled accommodation - for 16-69 yr olds who are 10665
on CPA

NHS Digital

MHSDS

Yes

N/A

49.0%

Published by NHS Digital two months in arrears - July 2019
data. August data due 14th November 2019.

Quality of Care

Ian Dimond

Admissions to adult wards of under 16s

10664

NHS Digital

Local
Reporting

Yes

0

0

Quality of Care

Ian Dimond

CPA 7 day followup

10314

HSCIC

IBR

Yes

95%

93.0%

This is the original 7 day follow up metric which is included
in the SOF. Only discharged patients on CPA are included in
the calculation. Bx. 8/8; Br.11/13; Gr.20/21; For. 1/1.
Trust: 40/43 (93%)

Quality of Care

Jane Wells

CAS alerts outstanding

10660

NRLS

Internal

N/A

N/A

83.3%

Quality of Care

Jane Wells

Never Events

10659

NHSE

Internal

N/A

0

0

6 x CAS alerts are active in September with 1 x still overdue.
1 is slightly overdue to be closed because there is an ongoing project by Estates & Facilities that will take longer
than the alert timeline. This has been communicated to
CAS directly.

Quality of Care

Jane Wells

Under-reporting of Patient Safety Incidents

10654

NRLS

IBR

Yes

N/A

6.5%

Quality of Care

Michael
Witney

Community FFT - % positive

11269

NHSE

IBR

Yes

90%

92.5%

Within the IBR, the community data is combined with the
Mental Health FFT % data.

Quality of Care

Michael
Witney

Mental Health FFT - % positive

11270

NHSE

IBR

Yes

90%

75.6%

RAG: Green >90, Amber >84-90 , Red <84. This score is
influenced by many factors, including sample size. A small
number of patients rating the service negatively lowers the
scores significantly. Directorates and services are aware of
their particular scores and are working continuously to
improve these.

Quality of Care

Michael
Witney

Complaints

10528

NHS Digital

IBR

Yes

N/A
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Directorate breakdown - Bexley:5 ; Bromley:12 ;
Greenwich: 9; C&YP:0 ; F&P: 3; ALD:1.

Quality of Care

Debbie
Wheddon

Turnover (Annual)

(provisional)

NHS Digital

Not collected

N/A

N/A

16%

Quarter 2 information forwarded to NHS digital by HR
Dep't. 16.48% (2017-18) - Published 30 April 2019.

Quality of Care

Debbie
Wheddon

NHS Staff Survey

10657

CQC

Not collected

N/A

National Average 3.79

Quality of Care

Michael
Witney

CQC community mental health survey

Quality of Care

Debbie
Wheddon

Proportion of Temp Staff

Quality of Care

Debbie
Wheddon

Quality of Care

Comment

Published March 2018.

3.8%
CQC

Not collected

N/A

N/A

10332

FT

Not collected

N/A

8%

3.8%

>11.0% Red; 8.0% to 11.0% Amber; <= 8.0% Green.

Sickness

10333

NHS Digital

Workforce
Dashboard

Yes

4%

4.1%

August 2019 data. 'RAG: Green: >6, Amber: 6-4, Red: <4.
September 2019 information awaited from HR department

Debbie
Wheddon

Staff FFT - % recommend care

10653
(provisional)

NHSE

IBR

N/A

N/A

Quality of Care

Debbie
Wheddon

Support and compassion

(provisional)

NHSI

SOF Dashboard N/A

N/A

Quality of Care

Debbie
Wheddon

Teamwork

(provisional)

NHSI

SOF Dashboard N/A

N/A

Quality of Care

Debbie
Wheddon

IInclusion (1) Average of •
(provisional)
% staff believing the trust provides equal opportunities for
career progression or promotion
% experiencing discrimination from their manager/colleagues
in the last 12 months
IInclusion (2)
(provisional)
The BME leadership ambition (WRSE) re executive
appointments

NHSI

SOF Dashboard N/A

N/A

Quality of Care

Debbie
Wheddon

Findings from the CQC survey which gathered information
from people who received community mental health
services. This item will be populated for Q3.

Q1 2019-2020. Next survey due 28th October 2019.

20.6%

Annual Figure (2018) - New metric. Data available
November 2019

74.3%

Annual Figure (2018) - New metric. Data available
November 2019

85.6%

NHS Digital

SOF Dashboard N/A

N/A

Annual Figure (2018) - New metric. Data available
November 2019
New Metric. Awaiting metric figures

Variance

Assurance
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Domain

Director

Metric

Metric
Number

NHSI Method
of Collection

Current
Reporting
KEY

Matches Local
Reporting?

Target

Sep-19

Performance on or above target
Performance within specified threshold (see comment)
Performance not meeting target
Metric not collected / data not available (see comment)
Awaiting data (data available but not yet

Comment

Variance

Assurance

40%

100%
98%
96%
94%
92%
90%
88%
86%
84%
82%
80%

120%
110%
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%

Target, 53%

100%
100%
99%
99%
98%
98%
97%
97%
96%
96%
95%

May-17
Jun-17
Jul-17
Aug-17
Sep-17
Oct-17
Nov-17
Dec-17
Jan-18
Feb-18
Mar-18
Apr-18
May-18
Jun-18
Jul-18
Aug-18
Sep-18
Oct-18
Nov-18
Dec-18
Jan-19
Feb-19
Mar-19
Apr-19
May-19
Jun-19
Jul-19
Aug-19
Sep-19

45%

Apr-17
May-17
Jun-17
Jul-17
Aug-17
Sep-17
Oct-17
Nov-17
Dec-17
Jan-18
Feb-18
Mar-18
Apr-18
May-18
Jun-18
Jul-18
Aug-18
Sep-18
Oct-18
Nov-18
Dec-18
Jan-19
Feb-19
Mar-19
Apr-19
May-19
Jun-19
Jul-19
Aug-19
Sep-19

50%

Apr-17
May-17
Jun-17
Jul-17
Aug-17
Sep-17
Oct-17
Nov-17
Dec-17
Jan-18
Feb-18
Mar-18
Apr-18
May-18
Jun-18
Jul-18
Aug-18
Sep-18
Oct-18
Nov-18
Dec-18
Jan-19
Feb-19
Mar-19
Apr-19
May-19
Jun-19
Jul-19
Aug-19
Sep-19

Apr-17
May-17
Jun-17
Jul-17
Aug-17
Sep-17
Oct-17
Nov-17
Dec-17
Jan-18
Feb-18
Mar-18
Apr-18
May-18
Jun-18
Jul-18
Aug-18
Sep-18
Oct-18
Nov-18
Dec-18
Jan-19
Feb-19
Mar-19
Apr-19
May-19
Jun-19
Jul-19
Aug-19
Sep-19

55%

Apr-17
May-17
Jun-17
Jul-17
Aug-17
Sep-17
Oct-17
Nov-17
Dec-17
Jan-18
Feb-18
Mar-18
Apr-18
May-18
Jun-18
Jul-18
Aug-18
Sep-18
Oct-18
Nov-18
Dec-18
Jan-19
Feb-19
Mar-19
Apr-19
May-19
Jun-19
Jul-19
Aug-19
Sep-19

Apr-17
May-17
Jun-17
Jul-17
Aug-17
Sep-17
Oct-17
Nov-17
Dec-17
Jan-18
Feb-18
Mar-18
Apr-18
May-18
Jun-18
Jul-18
Aug-18
Sep-18
Oct-18
Nov-18
Dec-18
Jan-19
Feb-19
Mar-19
Apr-19
May-19
Jun-19
Jul-19
Aug-19
Sep-19

60%

Apr-17
May-17
Jun-17
Jul-17
Aug-17
Sep-17
Oct-17
Nov-17
Dec-17
Jan-18
Feb-18
Mar-18
Apr-18
May-18
Jun-18
Jul-18
Aug-18
Sep-18
Oct-18
Nov-18
Dec-18
Jan-19
Feb-19
Mar-19
Apr-19
May-19
Jun-19
Jul-19

Apr-17
May-17
Jun-17
Jul-17
Aug-17
Sep-17
Oct-17
Nov-17
Dec-17
Jan-18
Feb-18
Mar-18
Apr-18
May-18
Jun-18
Jul-18
Aug-18
Sep-18
Oct-18
Nov-18
Dec-18
Jan-19
Feb-19
Mar-19
Apr-19
May-19
Jun-19
Jul-19
Aug-19
Sep-19

70%
110%

65%
100%

105%
105%

100%
100%

95%
95%

90%
90%

85%
85%

80%
80%

Upper process
limit

Mean, 61%

DM01 (Audiology)

Apr-17
May-17
Jun-17
Jul-17
Aug-17
Sep-17
Oct-17
Nov-17
Dec-17
Jan-18
Feb-18
Mar-18
Apr-18
May-18
Jun-18
Jul-18
Aug-18
Sep-18
Oct-18
Nov-18
Dec-18
Jan-19
Feb-19
Mar-19
Apr-19
May-19
Jun-19
Jul-19
Aug-19

Apr-17
May-17
Jun-17
Jul-17
Aug-17
Sep-17
Oct-17
Nov-17
Dec-17
Jan-18
Feb-18
Mar-18
Apr-18
May-18
Jun-18
Jul-18
Aug-18
Sep-18
Oct-18
Nov-18
Dec-18
Jan-19
Feb-19
Mar-19
Apr-19
May-19
Jun-19
Jul-19
Aug-19
Sep-19

Apr-17
May-17
Jun-17
Jul-17
Aug-17
Sep-17
Oct-17
Nov-17
Dec-17
Jan-18
Feb-18
Mar-18
Apr-18
May-18
Jun-18
Jul-18
Aug-18
Sep-18
Oct-18
Nov-18
Dec-18
Jan-19
Feb-19
Mar-19
Apr-19
May-19
Jun-19
Jul-19
Aug-19
Sep-19

6%
5%
4%
3%
2%
1%
0%

Apr-17
May-17
Jun-17
Jul-17
Aug-17
Sep-17
Oct-17
Nov-17
Dec-17
Jan-18
Feb-18
Mar-18
Apr-18
May-18
Jun-18
Jul-18
Aug-18
Sep-18
Oct-18
Nov-18
Dec-18
Jan-19
Feb-19
Mar-19
Apr-19
May-19
Jun-19
Jul-19
Aug-19
Sep-19
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SINGLE OVERSIGHT FRAMEWORK SPC DASHBOARD
IAPT - % completing treatment
IAPT Waiting Times - 6 weeks

90%

80%

70%

60%

Referral to treatment for incomplete care pathways
CPA 7 day followup

Community FFT - % positive
Mental Health FFT - % positive

95%

90%

85%

80%

75%

70%

Sickness
Proportion of Temp Staff

12%

10%

8%

6%

4%

2%

0%

Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) - 2 Week Waiting Times
Monitoring (Waiting)

110%
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%

Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) - 2 Week Waiting Times
Monitoring (Seen)
Upper process limit

Target, 53%

Mean, 73%

Lower process limit

Complaints

45
40
35
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
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Board Operational Performance Report
Iain Dimond Chief Operating Officer
Iain Dimond Chief Operating Officer
Public

Adult Learning Disability
Bexley Care

Bromley
Children & Young People
Forensic & Prisons
Greenwich
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(To select purpose,
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Link to Board
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8
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•
•
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•
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AHP recruitment
LD nursing in Primary Care
Neuro waiting times
SaLT
Bexleycare service model update
MH Inpatients and CMHTs
PCP waiting times
Dementia diagnosis rates
CMHRES
Specialist services
Universal services
CAMHS
Kent Prisons Contract
RC Psych Quality Network
Adult Community Health Services
Adult Mental Health

Information
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Approval

Decison

√

The Board is asked to note the operational report.

Quality √

Workforce √

Sustainability √

Partnerships √
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Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff
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Board Operational Report
7 November 2019
Adult Learning Disability
Allied Health Professional (AHP) Recruitment
Over the past 6 months, AHP recruitment has been a significant challenge within adult
learning disability services. There have been vacancies within the three AHP disciplines of
speech and language therapy, occupational therapy and physiotherapy which have been
vacant for long periods of time due to unsuccessful attempts at recruitment. Applications to
posts have also been very limited. It has been equally challenging to attract both bank and
agency staff to cover these vacancies whilst recruitment to substantive posts has been ongoing.
Within the speech and language therapy service, there is a band 6 post which has been
vacant since November 2018 and within the physiotherapy team there is a band 6 post
vacant since January 2019. Both posts have been out to advert several times; attempts have
been made to postpone end dates of adverts, recruit to rotational posts (unsuccessfully
within physiotherapy and successfully within occupational therapy) and to consider a
development post but this was not supported. After long consideration, the physiotherapy
post has been re-advertised as a band 5 and successfully recruited to from a very strong
field and a large number of applicants and the speech and language therapy post has
recently been re-advertised as a band 6/7 as per the advice of the temporary staffing panel.
We have had interest in the 3 occupational therapy vacancies. However, for two of these
posts, there was only one shortlistable candidate.
Bank and agency requests have been, to date, unsuccessful as there have been no
candidates with any ALD experience (posts which have been considered are bands 6 and 7).
Within ALD services, the individual teams are small; there is little capacity to share staff
across teams and these vacancies have caused considerable challenges in covering clinical
care needs especially where there is leave/sickness of other staff. Despite teams working as
creatively as possible this remains a significant challenge for the directorate.
Future areas for exploration and consideration will be:
1. Work with training establishments/universities to target graduates
2. Use of development posts to attract and retain band 5 staff
3. Creation of apprenticeship roles
4. Wider use of rotational schemes as this has been very successful in OT
5. Consideration of a ‘welcome reward’ as is currently used for joiners in other trusts
for hard to recruit to posts
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Quality Improvement Project ‘Learning Disability Nursing in Primary Care’
Bromley CPH (Complex Physical Health) Community Nurses were initially approached to
improve the quality of GP engagement in June 2018. Coinciding with the idea to improve
our relations with primary care services, the productivity agenda was gathering pace and job
planning featured heavily within it. Initial reactions were not positive as staff expressed their
concerns about caseload pressure and their availability to perform new tasks previously
assigned to a dedicated primary care liaison nurse.
Through job planning, QI methodology, the development of an effective driver diagram and
accessing GP systems training in the CCG, the Bromley CPH community nurses have been
engaging with GPs for the last 12 months. There is a dedicated nurse for each GP locality
area and nurses report monthly on the number of practices they have successfully engaged
with. See diagram below:

In line with the diagram (illustrating the month on month increase in GP engagement from
Jan – August 2019), the CCG have supplied figures on the number of annual health checks
provided by Bromley GPs for each month, as a comparison with the number completed last
year.
In line with the Long Term Plan, the number of health checks has more than doubled, month
on month, compared to last year. Whilst on-going support will be required, this work will
clearly address some of the inequalities reported by PHE, NHSE and LeDeR etc, over the last
decade.
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Bexley Care
Adult Community
Neuro
The Bexley Neuro team has a number of vacancies plus long term sickness or colleagues on
maternity/adoption leave as detailed below:
OT

WTE

Comments

Physio

WTE

Comments

SLT

WTE

Comments

8A

0.50

In post

8A

0.5

Vacant

8A

0.6

1 x Adopt
leave

7

1.00

Leaving
end Oct

7

1.5

1 x LTS
1 x new
starter

7

1

1 x Mat leave
& resigned

6

2.00

1 x Mat
leave

6

2

1 x mat
1 x vac

6

1.6

In post

5

1.00

In post

5

2

In post

This has impacted on our waiting times:
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Team

Neuro

Total
Number % 0 - 11
Clients of
weeks
Waiting Clients of total
0-11
weeks
146

105

Number % 12- 14 Number % 15- 18 Number % over
of
weeks of
weeks of
18
Clients of total Clients of total Clients weeks
12 -14
15 -18
waiting of total
weeks
weeks
over 18
weeks
71.92%
19
13.01%
10
6.85%
12
8.22%

All referrals to the team are triaged for risk. The neuro team has a number of commissioned
pathways which includes; 24 hr Early Supported Discharge, 7 day for Supported Discharge or
Disability Management and 6 week Supported Discharge for Disability Management. Those
people with the greater potential for rehab and recovery are on the earlier pathways. Our
KPIs show the people under the 6 week Disability Management pathway are the group most
affected by the staffing shortages
Our action plan to date has been as follows:
Agency requests submitted to panel to cover vacancies
An approach was made to the Greenwich team for support with bank or overtime.
8A occupational therapist working extra hours to support the team
Operational Manager (8B) roles recruited to and clarity over LCN responsibility
All vacant posts put out to advert but few applicants ie. Physio 8A just closed for 2nd
time and no applicants
• Advice sought from the trust professional lead for physiotherapy regarding incentives
and what we can do to attract people
• AD meets regularly with 8A OT and spends a half day every other week based within
the team
• Neuro is part of the Rehab pathway development to see how we can maximise
resources creatively
•
•
•
•
•

If successful, the action plan aims to achieve:
• Full recruitment
• A reduction in waiting times or
• A discussion with commissioners on a new model of delivery if the above are not
achievable/ sustainable
• Changes to the line management of the service
Community Speech and Language Therapy
We are currently commissioned to provide 0.2 wte community speech and language
therapy. Due to increasing demand there are waits as follows:
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Team

Total Number % 0 - 11 Number % 12-14 Number % 15 Clients of
weeks of
weeks of
18
Waiting Clients of total Clients of total Clients weeks
0 -11
12 -14
15 -18 of total
weeks
weeks
weeks

SLT

98

51

52.04%

7

7.14%

4

Number % over
of
18
Clients weeks
waiting of total
over 18
weeks
4.08%
36 36.74%

All referrals are triaged and assessed for risk. Those deemed high risk are prioritised, these
include people at risk of choking during swallowing. People experiencing the longest waits
tend to be those where the referral relates to a possible communication issue or a review
where the person is living in a care home and initial advice to maintain the person has been
given over the phone.
The lack of funded service provision has been raised with commissioners for a number of
years and was mentioned in the last CQC inspection report. A further meeting was held with
the CCG’s quality team in September to see if additional funding could be provided. We have
not yet heard back on the outcome of the meeting.
New Service Delivery Model Update Bexley Care
We are working with the Local Authority on a review of LA premises in the Frognal area
which may be suitable for a third base.
We are starting to see the positive impact of the triage function on other teams.
Physiotherapy referrals to CART have reduced since the post commenced 6 months ago.
There is a meeting scheduled to review the Single Point of Contact referral tool. This will be
attended by GPs and other clinicians.
The single assessment form will be integral in enabling us to record when we are supporting
people by offering personalised care. This will impact positively on Local Authority targets
for self-directed services. A meeting is scheduled with the Transformation team to look at
how to best operationalise this.
Mental Health Update
Inpatients
•

The development of link working with housing has started, this is to support
discharge planning, provide drop in sessions for ward staff and Bexley Home
Treatment Team staff. The Associate Director is working closely with a local
Homeless charity to create better awareness of access to housing options within
community services and access to mental health services.
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•
•

Unannounced night visits have started on all inpatient MH sites in BexleyCare, and
the results are being shared with ward managers.
A wall alarm system has been installed on Lesney and Millbrook – this will be linked
with the handheld blick alarms. All staff have been trained in the use of the new
system. The alarm is activated through the handheld device or in the nursing office
and therefore will not disturb patients at night.

Crisis Services
•
•

The AMH Crisis Hub – all staff have been recruited into post.
Bed management team – to strengthen the team, a 8a Patient flow clinical manager
and band 4 Clinical Flow coordinator (admin) JDs have been completed to be job
matched through Agenda for Change panel.

AMH Community Mental Health Team
A session is to be arranged in December 2019 for key people to start taking forward a work
stream to adapt a generic caseload approach to the delivery of Adult CMHT functions.
The management structure during the period of transition to locality structures is under
review; 8 b and 8a roles have been recruited into; disestablished Band 7 roles are still being
covered to support the existing structure pending further review.
Caseloads are currently being reviewed.
The levels of agency CPN use has been reviewed. All postholders have been given leaving
dates. All nursing vacancies have now been filled.
A review of social work activity in mental health, led by Bexley council, is currently
underway.

Bromley
Primary Care Plus (PCP)
The team and several other staff members worked on Saturday 5 and 12 October to reduce
the waiting times for appointments for people who had been referred before September.
This went well and has had a positive impact on the number of appointments we were able
to book in October.
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August

September

October
(to date)

Average Wait for Triage Appointment
(days)

39

39

35

No. Booked Appointments

185

128

267

No. Attended In Month

85

47

65

No. DNA in Month

26

60

52

No. Cancelled in Month

35

16

33

No. Referrals Awaiting 1st Appt

82

49

36

People Requiring 2nd Appointment (due
to DNA/Cancelled)

240

159

152

The referrals are now being entered onto RIO and offered an appointment within a few days
of the team receiving the referral. However, people are still waiting over 30 days for the
actual appointment date.
We are working to reduce the number of appointments not attended using text messages
and also calling people to offer a chosen appointment. We continue to look for agency staff
to increase the overall capacity within the service. These initiatives should further reduce
the waiting time for appointments.
Dementia Diagnosis Rates (DDR)
The Bromley Memory Team is working hard to improve diagnosis rates for dementia. We
continue to be above the national target of 66.7% and have been so for over a year. In
September 2019, Bromley had achieved 75.2% of the appropriate population.
The team are still finding the 6 week referral to first appointment target challenging and the
performance has remained above the target for 8 months, with a current waiting time of 8
weeks. This has been due to a combination of staffing and people not attending
appointments with a recent away day looking at other ways to further reduce this.
Community Mental Health Rehabilitation and Enablement service (CMHRES)
Bromley CMHRES team continue to work hard to improve the quality of service users’ lives
and move them on from community mental health services, with many being discharged to
their GP. They are a small team with two care coordinators and an occupational therapist
who work intensively with approximately 40-50 people at any one time. They work to
support people to reduce their need for packages of care. For example:
AS reduced from 17 hours per week to 9 hours currently;
JW started on 6 hours per week and now receiving no support (preparing for discharge to
GP)
LE started on 7 hours per week and now receiving 2 hours per week
TW started on 5.5 hours and reduced to no package in place (discharged to GP)
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Five people have been moved from supported accommodation to independent tenancies
and another 2 people are currently bidding for their own properties.
In the past 12 months, six people have started volunteering and 8 people have been
referred to the Individual Placement Support service to look at paid employment for them.
Recently some services users took part in a BBC Kent Radio interview, talking about ‘In your
Corner’ which is a boxing charity which promotes social inclusion and physical and mental
wellbeing, run from Swanley Amateur Boxing club and led by Warren Dunkley, Bromley
CMHRES OT. He also runs a boxing group in Green Parks House for inpatients and
encourages those to participate in the Swanley Group once they leave hospital.
Another member of the team Paul Graham, a nurse, has received a compliment from the
father of a service user that he is working with:
Thank you for the note and attachments. I do not quite know how to respond as these/this is
without doubt the VERY BEST care/support and report that T has received in the past 30
years!! If this is the norm or beginning to be the norm for people with his condition I
‘applaud’ and support in every way anyone involved in its inception and its application!!
I can only comment in respect of the many forms of previous support T has received which I
have always felt was ‘patchy’, ‘limited’, inaccurate and inconsequential! And those were the
positive things.
To find now that there are care professionals with the in depth skills like yours is nothing
short of a REVELATION to me!!
It is easy for me to ask “why so long and why now” but over the years I have become
increasingly aware of the shortcomings, pressures and extreme difficulties faced by planners,
admin and staff who help and support our mentally pressured population.
I will not add more now until I have thought further but I will soon be writing to Lorraine
Regan to express my thanks to you and others who have helped T so recently. I may also
write to Matt Hancock SoS for Health and Social Care and possibly others pursuant to
highlighting a ‘New Wave’ of support for people with mental health problems.
For the moment may I again praise you for the excellent report and summary and look
forward to future such information? Equally I am always available to talk with you and
others about his condition and progress?
The only item that I feel worthy of more care in discussion with T, is the suggestion that he
might find partial work. I understand the social background to such concept but the last time
(1997/8) T tried to work his stress level went ‘off-chart’ in 3-4 days and became violent! So
please take care with any such suggestion.
Notwithstanding there may be social outplacement work that T could be introduced to? He
carries a great quiet need to help others like himself!!
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Children & Young People
SPECIALIST SERVICES
ADHD and ASD demand
Following the September directorate performance meeting, we have worked on developing
trajectories for both ASD and ADHD to bring waiting times down to 6 months.
Bexley ADHD - the service would need to undertake an additional 20 assessments per
month for a 12 month period.
Greenwich ADHD – the service would need to undertake an additional 28 assessments per
month for a 12 month period and 25 additional assessments per month beyond that point
to maintain the position. A similar increase in medication initiation appointments would be
needed and some investment to support caseload management
Bexley ASD – the service would need to undertake an additional 12 assessments per month
for 12 months and then could maintain the waiting time by utilising improvements derived
from the QI project.
Greenwich ASD – the service need to run an additional 23 clinics per month for 12 months.
MHIS investment and QI project impact will maintain waits
Work is taking place on costing the additional resources needed for the growth in
assessment slots in advance of discussions with commissioners.
Diabetes
As raised at the Directorate performance meeting there has been concern regarding the
process LGT have undertaken to re-design the Diabetes Pathway. We met with colleagues
in commissioning and LGT to agree the process to manage this change together – this will
result in Oxleas no longer delivering any community Diabetes provision. Weekly telephone
conferences will be held to manage the process.
Bluebell House
All parents have been informed of the closure of the service and there was a parent
engagement event held at the beginning of October with RBG and the CCG, to discuss an
alternative offer for children who currently access, or qualify, for Bluebell House.
Healthwatch have been contacted by the CCG and are aware of the decision to close.
Oxleas have been liaising with Greenwich Parent Voice who attended the parent
engagement event.
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UNIVERSAL SERVICES
Greenwich
Tenders
StartWell Greenwich HV and Children’s Centres
We are awaiting the outcome of the tender following interviews. We continue to work with
Barnardo’s on elements of our partnering arrangements and preparing for mobilisation.
The service has held an initial resilience building event for staff to help them prepare for the
changes to come.
Young Greenwich
Following clarification interviews RBG have officially written to us to confirm that the
procurement will not proceed as an Open OJEU procedure and will be moving to a new
procurement under the negotiated procedure without prior publication.
Immunisations contract
Negotiations continue with NHSE regarding continuation of delivery of the service from April
2019. Our current staffing structure cannot be delivered within the offered available
funding.

Bromley
Tender
Bromley 0 to 19 integrated Public Health Nursing Service
We submitted our bid on 11th October. We were invited to attend a clarification interview
on Monday 28th October.
Staffing
Work continues to recruit to vacant posts, the vacancy rate is improving, and we are using
bank and agency staff within available funding to support the service.
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CAMHS
Access targets
We continue to work closely with SEL STP and colleagues in SLaM to monitor our progress
towards delivering access targets. We are currently on track to exceed the access target for
this year of 34% for Bromley and Greenwich and should at least meet the target for Bexley.
The Bexley work described below will contribute to our compliance.
Bexley CAMHS
An in-depth focussed piece of work is on-going to address difficulties with throughput in the
generic team. The team has experienced staff sickness, vacancies and turnover which have
impacted on throughput and waits. This has involved an analysis and ‘cleansing’ of the team
caseload. There is now an action plan in place with clear timescales for recovery.
Bromley CAMHS
The service has joined with our partners, Bromley Y to engage in a service review with NHSI.
This is taking place on 30 /31 October. All 12 four week wait trailblazer sites across the
country are being offered this opportunity in order to optimise the chances of delivering 4
week waits to assessment and to facilitate shared learning across sites. The pilots are being
used by NHSE as a genuine opportunity to test how CAMHS can deliver 4 week waits in the
context of a nationwide increase in demand and acuity and activity ahead of the
introduction of national waiting time standards for CAMHS.

Forensic & Prison Services
Kent Prison Contracts
NHS England are planning to move to a Prime Provider model in Kent. This is the model that
is in place in the Greenwich Prison Cluster and at HMP Wandsworth, whereby one provider
has overall responsibility for delivery of the contract. The provider does not, however,
necessarily directly deliver all elements of the contract. We have been invited to a market
engagement event in mid-November to discuss the procurement and provide
feedback. NHSE would like the new arrangements to be in place from April 2021, and this
means procurement will very likely commence next Spring. This change will impact on all of
our existing contracts (Pharmacy, Mental Health, West Kent and Medway) in Kent and
indeed those held by other providers (e.g. Sheppey Cluster).
Royal College of Psychiatrists Quality Network
The annual peer review against national standards for medium and low secure services took
place in October. A full report is due in November. Immediate feedback highlighted a
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number of areas of high achievement including OT staff working seven days a week, the
focus on physical health and the work done around de-escalation. Areas for improvement
included the information provided to visiting carers regarding the unit’s search policy and
user involvement in care planning.

Greenwich
Adult Community Health Services
In Adult Community Services we have been actively engaged, alongside colleagues from
other providers of community health services across the sector, in developing the SE London
Community Services NHS Long Term draft plan and putting forward a bid to be considered as
an accelerator site for the urgent community response pathway (provision of 2 hour crisis/2
day reablement response). We should hear in November if SE London have been successful.
Adult Mental Health Services
In Mental Health Services there are a number of service improvement work streams under
way: We are continuing to work on developing the model of service delivery in the mental
health liaison teams for working age adult and older people. Recruitment to new senior
clinical roles is underway and we are aiming to have people in post by January 2020. We
know that roughly 50% of mental health presentations at Emergency Departments (ED) are
known to services and we are aiming to try and reduce the proportion of these service users
needing informal admission where other alternatives in the community are available.
Following the closure of the PAS, a joint project group with LGT has commenced, with
project management support from GCCG, to create a new mental health space adjacent to
ED to improve the experience of mental health service users waiting for admission in ED.
This links into one of the ambitions of the SLP acute care programme.
Using Transformation funding we have a programme of work underway led by an
experienced clinician which includes: working with a cluster of practices in west Greenwich
and their respective PCN clinical directors with an initial focus on facilitating discharge from
secondary care and depot management within primary care; and working with local third
sector providers and RBG to ensure people who receive floating support can be discharged
from our services with appropriate support. There is an ongoing taskforce focused on
improving the quality of our CMHTs – an update will come to the November PQAC.
We have been undertaking a focused piece of work to reduce our directorate UEA spend
which has seen the number reduce significantly in October. A time limited weekly meeting
with Executive colleagues has been established to support this.
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We have been approached by Lewisham and Greenwich Trust and are in early discussions to
potentially develop fast-track access to mental health services for staff, most likely through
our IAPT team.
We currently have 22 active QI projects taking place across the Greenwich Directorate with a
further 11 project proposed. In the ICMP team they are making good progress in increasing
the number of families seen at the patient’s initial assessment and our inpatient services at
Oxleas House have introduced a number of physical health initiatives including improving
dental hygiene.
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Report Summary

Key highlights:-

9
9

N/A

Financial Performance to Month 6 (September 2019)
The Trust reported an underlying deficit position of £0.7m. This is £0.6m behind
the planned deficit of £0.1m and was fully offset through the use of nonrecurrent mitigations. Meeting the financial plan means the Trust secures £0.7m
of PSF and scores ‘1’ (on plan) against the NHSI ‘Finance and Use of Resource
Score’. Key highlights for M6 include:
•
•
•

Continued increase in demand for adult MH beds; particularly in relation
to Greenwich patients
Review of efficiency schemes has resulted in a deterioration in both the
number of plans (FYE gap £5.2m gap) and the in-year benefit
Temporary staffing costs reverted back to the average for the first 4
months of the financial year; with agency spend 30.8% below threshold.
Key area of focus relates to rostering over the upcoming holiday period

The biggest risk remains the formulation and delivery of sustainable savings
plans for 19/20 and beyond. The Committee agreed that in light of the
worsening positon the Trust is likely to need to draw on further non-recurrent
support to meet the financial plan but felt it was imperative that the
development of further plans is commenced now. A full ‘opportunities paper’
will be presented in due course.
Outstanding debt with Bridges Healthcare – the Trust received the attached
letter which indicates further investigation is needed and this is likely to require
an additional 12 months to complete.
Future Financial Architecture
The Committee noted the new financial architecture being created by NHSE/I to
improve NHS finances. The key highlights include:
•

Removes centrally dictated CTs and PSF
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•
•
•

Implements a financial recovery fund (FRF) for Trusts with deficits
Sets more realistic deliverable efficiency requirements
Provides additional autonomy for Trusts in surplus

CQUIN
The Committee noted the update the efforts being made to achieve to maximise
this income. The flu CQUIN remains the highest risk.
Bids and Tenders
Start Well Greenwich
Recent correspondence from RBG confirms the procurement of youth services
has been halted. The LA is now seeking to award the contract via a ‘negotiated
procedure without prior publication’. We believe this allows the contract to be
re-negotiated without the need for a full procurement process.
Bromley 0 -19
The bid was submitted within the stipulated deadline and we wait to hear back.
Offender Personality Disorder
The Trust was successful in attaining the expanded OPD bid which now includes
partnership working with CNWL.
Bluebell House
The Committee was informed that following the remodelling of the Bluebell
House service in January 2019; reductions in the number of young people
eligible to use the service combined with difficulties in recruiting to the service,
have resulted in the service no longer being sustainable. The team worked very
hard to seek out innovative solutions to keep the service in place; however
formal notice to taper down and close the service has been served to the
Commissioner. The CCG and Trust are working together and all those impacted
are being engaged with to ensure the children and their families have a smooth
transition to new alternative care.
SEL ICS
The Committee was updated on recent correspondence received from NHSE/I in
relation to financial improvement trajectories, previously known as control
totals.
Forensic Provider Collaborative Business Case
The Committee received a paper requesting feedback and approval to progress
the Forensic Adult Secure business case through the Trust Governance
structure. The SLP Trusts have been awarded ‘fast track’ status to become
‘Provider Collaborative’ with devolved NHSE Specialist Commissioning budgets.
The Committee noted there was insufficient detail on both future activity trend
and the associated funding levels, and that understanding this was a key to

55

enable it to make a the right recommendation to the Trust Board.
Charitable Funds Update
The Committee noted the performance of the Charitable Funds covering the 6
month period to 30 September 2019. The Committee supported both the
proposal to consolidate the unrestricted funds and working with the Charities
Commission regarding a similar approach to restricted funds. In order to allow
the Trust Board to discharge its responsibilities effectively as the Trustee of the
charity, the November Board meeting will cover this off under a separate
agenda item.
SARD JV
The Committee - received an update on SARD JV Ltd; noted the request to
review the current share structure; and committed to responding on this once it
has received an update queries raised.
Risk Register Review
The Committee ratified the changes to the risk register in readiness for
presentation to the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee in November.
Sector Update – Community MH Framework (Adults & OA)
The Committee was updated on a recently published framework by NHSE/I in
relation to community mental health for both adults and older adults. The NHS
is looking to modernise these services to shift to whole person, whole
population health approaches. Unfortunately the Trust was not part of a
successful STP pilot bid but did receive positive feedback and is looking to take
forward its own pilot sites with the view of re-applying for pilot funding when
the next wave is released.
SEL Pathology OBC
The procurement of a SEL wide service continues and at present the Trust is not
being asked to commit to this or an alternative solution. Securing a value for
money and quality service remains the focus.
Purpose
(To select
Information
purpose, click on
relevant choice
for drop down
Approval
box)
Recommendation The Board is asked to note the update.

To Note
Decision

√
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Link to strategic
objectives (click
on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

Quality √

Workforce √

Sustainability √

Partnerships √

1291 – Achievement of CQUIN income
1177 – Non achievement of savings plans
1565 – Collective responsibility within for STP within the SEL footprint
1606 – Reliance on non-Oxleas beds
The aspiration to deliver high quality care may be compromised
Unless the Trust is able to deliver services within the defined levels of
funding and meet its Control Total, there would be greater financial scrutiny
from the Regulator
Service user and carer experience and support may be reduced with safety
being the key focus. Staff morale may be impacted.
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Financial Overview
Control
Total

Planned surplus of £1.9m – underlying deficit of £0.2m; provider sustainability funding (PSF) of £2.1m.

YTD to the 30th September 2019 the Trust delivered an underlying deficit position of £353k (before PSF); this is £245k
behind the YTD planned deficit of £108k; and has been offset by the use of non-recurrent mitigations (YTD £0.6m).
Key highlights:Year to
Date

•
•
•
•
•
•

Forecast
Outturn

CREs

NHSI
Metric

Significant bed pressure within one borough (Greenwich) and increased slippage in savings plans are key areas of financial pressure
resulting in a adverse underlying position.
Although underspends in pay and non-pay and unallocated central reserves continue to subsidise overspends these are not sufficient to
offset 100% of the financial risk.
Non-recurrent mitigations are therefore required to deliver the planned deficit position before PSF.
The temporary staffing run rate during month 6 was within the expected averages reported in the first four months. We continue to work
with colleagues to ensure we minimise as far as possible, spikes in high levels of temporary staff usage during future seasonal months.
Agency spend is now 30.8% below the assigned threshold.
Junior Doctors have now accepted the new four-year pay deal proposal (2% pay uplift and additional investment to support productivity
and recruitment and retention). £82k funding has been received; this is sufficient to deal with the cost drift associated with the revised
agreement.

The Trust is forecasting to deliver the underlying planned deficit of £187k (which secures £2.1m of PSF). Delivering the Control total may
also influence access to a share of the ‘Bonus PSF’ as attained in previous years. Remaining on plan is challenging and meeting the plan will
rely on a further £2.1m of non-recurrent mitigations.
The savings target for 19/20 equates to £9.4m, this includes any underachievement from 18/19. Savings proposals to the value of £4.3m
FYE are being reviewed with Quality Impact Assessments (QIA) commenced/completed. Plans to the value of £5.2m need to be developed
to mitigate the unidentified gap. The delivery of CRES is fundamental to ensuring the Trust is able to maintain an underlying recurrent
breakeven position, managing slippage through non-recurrent actions is not sustainable. This remains a significant risk.
Under the Single Oversight Framework, the Trust scores a ‘1’ against the ‘Finance and Use of Resources Metric’ (plan ‘1’), see comments
above regarding non-recurrent support.
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59 Overview continued….
Financial

Risks

Plan assumes the impact of the new AFC pay deal for AFC staff working in L.A. commissioned contracts is fully funded. The Trust has
received notification that it has been allocated £0.6m of transitional support to offset this pressure, leaving an unmitigated pressure of
£0.4m.
• Plan assumes 100% delivery of CQUIN; the Flu CQUIN remains the highest risk (£0.7m); plans to maximise CQUIN income continue to be
mobilised.
Emerging risks
• In June 2019, the court of Appeal ruled in favour of NHS employees working for East of England Ambulance Service in the case – N
Flowers and others V East of England Ambulance Trust. The finding was that staff who regularly undertake overtime or work beyond their
normal shifts should have these hours taken into account when calculating holiday pay. HR colleagues have confirmed this is only
applicable to substantive staff undertaking bank /overtime shifts; estimated pressure of £0.6m.
• Future funding with regards to the 6.3% increase in employer contributions; and AFC funding associated with pay costs of LA
commissioned contracts, not yet known.
• Operating a year-on-year I&E position with a underlying deficit (offset by non-recurrent support) will have a impact on future cash
balances and thereby the Trust’s ability to meet the proposed 5 year capital expenditure plan. The capital plan is however not fixed and
expenditure will be prioritised to ensure it is affordable.

Capital

YTD capital expenditure is 7% behind plan and is primarily due to phasing. The majority of planned spend is in relation to the redevelopment
of the Queen Mary’s site at Sidcup which benefits a number of other providers (NHS and Non-NHS). The Trust had reviewed all commitments
to assess any opportunities to support the closing of the national CDEL gap; although this request was subsequently withdrawn the majority
of the proposed reductions remain in place resulting in a revised FOT of £17.7m (previously £20.4m). This revised positon represents the
most realistic outturn at this point in time.

Cash

•

Total cash and short term investments held are £63m against a plan of £49m (excluding Charitable funds) at the end of September 2019.
Our medium term cash plan, once we have allowed for further capital commitments will leave the Trust holding approximately £24m in cash.
This reflects the cash buffer required to ensure the Trust is able to support and manage its day to day operations (salaries; creditor
payments etc.) for a period of 2 months and not experience any issues with liquidity.

Better
Payment
Practice
Code

The public sector payments target is that 95% of invoices are paid within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice. In September 89% of
invoices by volume and 89% of invoices by value were paid within the target.
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NHSI Finance and Use of Resources Score
•

The new ‘Single Oversight Framework’ scoring system went live on 1st October 2016.

•

NHSI Segmentation - Providers are assigned a overall ‘segment’ taking into account scores attained across 5 core themes, with ‘Finance and
the use of resources’ being one of these. Segment 1 means complete autonomy and a segment rating of 4 would lead to special measure
being instigated.

•

‘Finance and use of resources’ theme is made up of the metrics detailed in the table below. Each metric has been assigned an equal
weighting. A score of 1 is the ‘best’ and 4 the ‘worst’.

•

Scoring a ‘4’ on any metric caps the overall score to at most a ‘3’, triggering a concern.

•

The SOF has been updated and this theme will be disaggregated into 2 scores. The ‘Finance’ score will be based on the metrics already in
place below. The ‘Use of Resources Assessment’ will be used to improve understanding of how effectively and efficiently trusts are using their
resources (including finances, workforce, estates and facilities, technology and procurement) to provide high quality, efficient and sustainable
care for patients. Work to evaluate our position against the ‘Use of Resources Assessment ‘metrics continues.
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Statement
of Comprehensive Income

•

YTD to the 30th September 2019 the Trust delivered an underlying deficit position of
£353k (before PSF); this is £245k behind the YTD planned deficit of £108k; and has
been offset by the use of non-recurrent mitigations (YTD £0.6m).

•

PSF – This is contingent on the Trust achieving its underlying financial position. PSF
YTD equates to £730k; a cash payment of £313k has been received for Q1.

•

Income: £1.8m ahead of plan – of this £0.6m relates to QMH offset by an increase
in non-pay; the balance relates to additional activity based income generated by
Bexley MSK, Children Services (Schools income and staff recharges). This is however
net of the continued deterioration in income generation in Tarn, Atlas House,
Oaktree Lodge and routine NCA income across all boroughs. The position also
includes a number of deferred income releases to offset the related actual spend.

•

Pay: £01m. In month 5 the overall pay spend was overspent largely due to
increased bank spend to cover vacant shifts. Pay analysis this month, does suggest
that actions taken in the wards in improving rostering have paid off and bank spend
in M6 is now within the average spend seen in the first four months. The £0.1m YTD
underspend partly reflects the normalised pay spend but also reflects budget
adjustments to account for cost pressure allocation which took place in month 6.

•

Non-pay: £1.9m overspend – £0.6m of this is offset by QMH income; the
remaining balance relates to the non delivery of CRE plans as well as the increased
reliance on additional MH beds. This is net of underspends in both non-pay and
central reserves.

•

Agency Cap: at the end of September 19 agency spend is 30.8% below the NHSI
assigned threshold. The agency panel continues to meet to scrutinise requests for all
non-nursing roles. Where approval is given it is usually linked to a risk to safety with
a note to ask the requestor to consider and share what alternative strategies are
being taken forward to mitigate the need for an extension. The Trust has not been
issued with a threshold for medical agency however the spend year to date is £24k
less than the corresponding period in the last financial year.
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Statement
of Financial Position

Debt summary
• Total debt stands at £10.7, an increase of £1.0m from August. £3.1m has been paid in October.
• Debt > 90 days £3.7m.
• Material debts that are a cause for concern and / or an area of concerted effort are noted below:
 Southwark CCG: £0.2m debt relates mainly to NCA activities. Dispute resolution is to be
finalised in October, which will result in payments being made and CRNs issued where the charge
was deemed erroneous. The assistance of collaborative working with other another STP CCG
finance lead has been very helpful in getting to this point.
 Lewisham CCG: £0.4m. The CCG continues to dispute its liability for NCA activity, however the
team are seeking that the process adopted in Southwark be replicated in Lewisham.
The Trust is continuing to work with SEL STP CCGs and SLaM to find a alternative way forward that
puts in place future operational and financial agreements that avoid similar disputes arising.
 Bromley CCG: £0.3m. The dispute relates to the diagnosis of three patients not covered by the
female PICU agreement. The Finance team and the Service Managers are liaising with CCG to
resolve the issue.
 Greenwich CCG: £0.5m. £0.1m relates to patients placed in Barefoot Lodge. £0.3m relates to
Overseas income and the team is reviewing the data shared as the CCG is seeking data further
detail and clarity.
 Bridges Healthcare Services: £0.3m. This debtor entered voluntary liquidation, a progress
report was received in October 19 and this confirms further investigations into a number of
transactions are still needed and this will take a further year to complete. This has been circulated
to the board members
Payments
• The public sector payments target is that 95% of invoices are paid within 30 days of receipt of goods or
a valid invoice. In September 89% of invoices by volume and 89% of invoices by value were paid within
this target.
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Capital
Investments

Primary projects in Phase 2:
•

Redevelopment of the second floors: Contract start date 02 Oct 18
and are now complete. Dental and ophthalmology have relocated onto
their new departments on the 2nd floor. The dental lab, administrative
team and friends kiosk are still to be relocated.

•

Demolition of Block A & level 3&4 works: Demolition of A Block:
Option studies are still underway to look at the potential of the current A
block space. Demolition has been postponed to 2020. Main Building
Works level 3&4: Contract A, B (remaining part of phase 2 main
building) Contract A has been reduced into several small works projects,
Contract B design approved, specification being completed. Contact B is
now on pause until LGT confirm their business case for continued
occupancy for diabetes services at QMH has been approved.
Foxbury: Works are now commencing.

•

Mammography Development: - Works completed and being
occupied by GDT.

•

Theatres: Design work to refurbish the existing Theatres block is
progressing through design and procurement. GMP received was greater
than anticipated, and the programme extended. Cost consultants have
undertaken a review of this and further work is being undertaken to
reduce both cost and programme. This may lead to a traditional tender
process if unable to agree a significant improvement in both.

•

Capital Replacement Projects: (Budget £0.5m): Pharmacy
Dispensary on purse due to on going work on Theatres project above,
will be tendered in the near future. Lifts modernisation Compartmentation work is completed and lift revisions are being
progressed.
Alliance Medical now have ownership of I block and will be
commencing work in the near future. Work also continues to work up
the plans for future MRI provision at QMH.

Key Highlights
•

The initial 2019/20 NHSI annual plan submission had a capital spend of £20.4m.
This has been reduced to £17.7m to comply with the initial national capital
control total. Further guidance received from NHSI in August 19 stated that
organisations could now revert back to their original plans. However the Trust is
currently remaining with the forecast figure of £17.7m as the Estates and
Facilities department have already amended timelines for contractors and reevaluated a number of projects. Month 6 actual spend was £9.5m against a
forecast of £10.3m.

QMH Redevelopment
•

Phase 2: The Queen Mary’s Hospital Development Plan (business case)
approved by the Board of Directors, on the 3 May 2018 with a capital cost of
£15.8m.
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Risk Register

Financial risks scoring 8 or above and not yet achieving ‘target’ risk rating have been included in this section. The table below represents
the latest position of LIVE risks ratified at the September 2019 meeting of the Business Committee. The Committee agreed to reopen Risk
1292 ‘Changes in Commissioning Structures’; increase the rating associated with Inpatient Bed Management to 12 given current pressures
and escalate risk ‘1291 – Achievement of CQUIN income’ to BAF.
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 CYP: £320k underspend
The underspend is driven by an over-achievement of income (£322k); non-pay (£217k); offset by a staffing
overspend of £100k (agency staff premium) and unachieved CRE savings £119k. £93k of the latter relates
to: CAMHS Bromley service re-design (plan is in place) and £26k clinical productivity The service is however
managing within its budget supporting the YTD pressures by controlling expenditure and maximising
income.
 Forensics: £54k overspend YTD
Income is £34k behind plan mainly due to under occupancy within the TILT ‘income generating beds’. There
is a significant usage of temporary staffing to cover increased observations; long term segregation and
sickness which is being reviewed. Non Pay is currently reporting a small underspend of £9k across wards.
 South London Partnership: Breakeven
 Prisons: £409k overspend YTD
Income is £281k ahead of plan due mainly to a recharge to OPS for pharmacy staff costs. Pay and non pay
reported an adverse YTD position of £700k driven by the use of temporary staffing to cover vacancies and
sickness and drugs expenditure. The Directorate has been asked to put in place actions to curtail this
pressure (this includes weekly meetings to review temporary staffing requests and reviewing rostering
approvals). Operational setup at Thameside; is under review to aid conversations with Commissioners
regarding additional financial support
 Adult LD: £319k underspend
Vacancies (nursing, psychology, OTs) continue to be the key contributors to the underspend. Income
decreased in month due to continued lower that planned admissions to Atlas House.
 Greenwich: £1,381k overspend
The overspend continues and is driven by the demand for AMH beds over and above those commissioned
by the CCG. YTD 2,336 OBDs (AMH) & 769 OBDs (OPMH). 754 OBDs attracted a ‘new’ cost of c£0.5m.
September saw no reduction in this pressure. Income generation remains a focus for a number of service
lines (Oaktree, MSK & The Tarn) where the Directorate is currently £0.6m behind plan. Ward pay was
overspent due to extra staffing to deal with acuity and specialing of patients on the medical wards at QE.
The Directorate has 6 locum doctors covering vacant posts, active recruitment continues.
 Bexley: £420k underspend
The underspend is a result of (£616k) of bed costs recharged to Greenwich; (£160k) of service
underspends; and £356k of unachieved CRE savings. Achieving CRE savings & reducing costs associated
with MH bed usage and agency staff remain the focus.
 Bromley: £120k underspend
The underspend is mainly driven by the £313k benefit of the cross borough recharge mainly from
Greenwich borough and the £24k perinatal contract surplus. However there are overspends on the AMH
wards due to additional staffing to cover long term sickness and acuity.
 HQ Services £231k underspend
The underspend is largely driven by vacancies; the majority of which are likely to be recruited to.
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Appendix 2 – 19/20 Savings Target and Plans

•

The 19/20 target equates to £9.4m and includes any CRE not delivered recurrently in
18/19 (£4.8m)

•

£4.3m now represents the latest FYE plans. This is a deterioration of £2.8m; the
majority of which relates to :- Long day working savings; productivity opportunities and
acute bed income generation.

•

Total value to be delivered in 19/20 equates £3.2m; creating a £6.2m pressure. Taking
into account all operational underspends and unallocated reserves the majority of the
non-recurrent support offsets the gap in CRE delivery.

•

Monthly finance meetings and the bi-monthly CRE meetings will continue to oversee the
delivery and development of these schemes on a on-going basis
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Appendix
3 – Agency Analysis

Targeted approach to teams with high
agency spend remains in place with the
agency taskforce regime reinstated as and
when required.
The weekly agency control panel continues
to review all agency requests for clinical
and non-clinical. The only exception relates
tin inpatient nursing roles where the
judgement is undertaken locally.

2019/20 – agency ceiling remained unchanged from 18/19.
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Oxleas NHS FT Charitable Annual Accounts 18/19 and update 19/20
Sat Dhinsa – Associate Director of Financial Services & Assurance
Jazz Thind – Director of Finance

Report Summary

The affairs of the Charity are formally reported to the Trustee's meeting.
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust is the Corporate Trustee, acting through the
Board, and is responsible for direct control of key decision making. In
particular the Corporate Trustee must set the strategy and policy for the
charitable fund(s) and set the budget(s).

n/a

The current arrangement, as agreed in May 2014, means the Business
Committee receive a detailed item relating to the charity every 6 months, prior
to a report being presented to the Corporate Trustee.
To ensure that the Corporate Trustee discharges its obligations under Charity
Commission guidance this front sheet and report present the detail on both
the year to date positon and the Oxleas NHS FT Charitable Fund Accounts for
2018/19.
Charitable Fund Report: Bi-annual update to 30th September 2019
The attached Charitable Fund report covers the period from 1 April to 30
September 2019 and consists of the following:
•
•

•

There are now 55 Trust Funds – 3 were closed during this financial year
Statement of Financial Activities
o Opening fund balance of £564k;
o Income of £12k;
o Expenditure of £84k; and
o Closing fund balance of £492k.
Cash Balances
o Cash held as at 30 September 2019 was £543k (with £52k
owing to Oxleas to be paid over in October);
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•

•

•

•

Top 10 charitable funds account for £349k (70%) of the closing fund
balance with the remaining 143k (30%) attributed to the other 45
funds.
The overall spend plan presented to the Executive in April 2019 showed
a planned expenditure of £161k. Actual M6 YTD expenditure is £84k.
Fund holders are being encouraged to develop further spend plans
where possible to utilise the funds within two years of receipt.
Presents two proposals: Consolidate the current 55 funds down to 33 through the
amalgamation of 26 unrestricted funds and creating 4 new
general funds.
 Transfer the balance of £282.12 held in a restricted fund in
respect of Centrepieces Mental Health Art Project (which
now operates through a separate registered Charity of the
same name), be transferred to the Centrepieces Mental
Health Art Project and the charitable fund held under Oxleas
NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund be closed.
The Executive and Business Committee have agreed the two proposed
changes. These will both be actioned with effect from 1st April 2020 to
allow any existing planned spend against those fund affected to be
undertaken.

Oxleas NHS FT Charitable Fund Accounts 2018/19
The Trust has completed the compilation of the Charitable Fund Accounts for
2018/19.
Key highlights:• Total income of £40k; Total expenditure of £122k; resulting in a net
movement in the year of £82k.
• Cash held at the 31 March 2019 equated to £597k.
• Charitable fund total of £564k at 31 March 2019 analysed as
o £253k of unrestricted funds
o £311k of restricted funds (limited to a specific purpose)
• The transactions of the Charitable Fund were fully consolidated and
reflected in the 2018/19 Trust Group accounts.
• An independent examination by Grant Thornton confirmed that there
are no ‘material matters’ arising from the review and signed the
attached accounts as a true and fair view of the Charity’s affairs.
• Grant Thornton has requested that the attached letter of
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•

•

Purpose
(To select
purpose, click on
relevant choice for
drop down box)
Recommendation

Link to strategic
objectives click on
relevant choice for
drop down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

representation is signed and returned in order to sign off the
independent examiner’s statement.
The accounts were reviewed and approved by the Audit & Risk
Committee on 17 September 2019.
The financial systems underpinning the Charitable Funds transactions
have also been reviewed as part of the 19/20 internal audit plan and
the findings from this audit will be reported at the November 2019
meeting of the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee.
Pending approval by the Trustees these accounts will be submitted to
the Charity Commission. A target date for completion of all work with
Grant Thornton has been provisionally agreed as 15th November 2019.
From here the accounts will be able to be submitted to the Charity
Commission after that date, ahead of the statutory deadline for
submission of 31st January 2020.

Information
Approval

To Note
√

√

Decision

The Trust Board as Trustee is asked to:• note the bi-annual update
• approve the 2018/19 Oxleas NHS FT Charitable Accounts and
Report and Letter of representation as final for signing

Quality

Workforce

Sustainability

Partnerships

N/A

Briefly outline implications of the recommendations in this report
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Sarah Ironmonger
Grant Thornton UK
110 Bishopsgate
London
EC2N 4AY

7 November 2019
Dear Sirs

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund accounts for the year
ended 31 March 2019
This representation letter is provided in connection with the independent examination of the accounts of
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund for the year ended 31 March 2019 for the purpose of
making of an independent examiner’s report in accordance with Section 154 of the Charities Act 2011.
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as we considered
necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:

Accounts
i

We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of our engagement letter dated 5
April 2019, for the preparation of accounts in accordance with section 132 of the Charities Act
2011 and comply with the Statement of Recommended Practice for accounting and reporting
by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their
accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015), in particular the accounts give a true
and fair view in accordance therewith.

ii

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal
control to prevent and detect fraud.

iii

Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured
at fair value, are reasonable.

iv

Except as stated in the accounts:
a. there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent;
b. none of the assets of the charity has been assigned, pledged or mortgaged;
c. there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or non-recurring
items requiring separate disclosure.

v

Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and
disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the Charities SORP (FRS 102) and any
subsequent amendments or variations to this statement.

vi

All events subsequent to the date of the accounts and for which the Charities SORP (FRS 102)
and any subsequent amendments or variations to this statement require adjustment or
disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.
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vii

The accounts have been amended for disclosure changes and are free of material
misstatements, including omissions.

ix

We can confirm that:
a. all income has been recorded;
b. the restricted funds have been properly applied;
c. constructive obligations for grants have been recognised; and

x

The charity has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could have a material
effect on the accounts in the event of non-compliance. There has been no non-compliance with
requirements of regulatory authorities that could have a material effect on the accounts in the
event of non-compliance.

xi

We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or classification of
assets and liabilities reflected in the accounts.

xii

Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in accordance
with the requirements of UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice.

xiii

The charity meets the conditions for exemption from an audit of the accounts as set out in
section 145 of the Charities Act 2011.

Information Provided
xiv

We have provided you with:
a. access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the
accounts such as records, documentation and other matters;
b. additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your examination;
and
c. unrestricted access to persons from whom you determine it necessary to obtain evidence.

xv

We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which we are aware.

xvi

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the accounts may be
materially misstated as a result of fraud.

xvii

All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the
accounts.

xviii

We have disclosed to you our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the charity
involving:
a. management;
b. employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c. others where the fraud could have a material effect on the accounts.

xix

We have disclosed to you our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud,
affecting the charity’s accounts communicated by employees, former employees, analysts,
regulators or others.

xx

We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance
with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing accounts.

xxi

We have disclosed to you the identity of the charity's related parties and all the related party
relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

xxii

We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects
should be considered when preparing the accounts.
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xxiii

We confirm that we have reviewed all correspondence with regulators, which has also been
made available to you, including the guidance 'How to report a serious incident in your charity'
issued by the Charity Commission (updated in October 2018). We also confirm that no serious
incident reports have been submitted to the Charity Commission, nor any events considered for
submission, during the year or in the period to the date of signing of the balance sheet.

Yours faithfully

Name……………………………

Position………………………….

Date…………………………….

Signed on behalf Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund
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Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund (Registered Charity No. 1061424)
The Corporate Trustee presents the Charitable Fund Annual Report together with the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 March 2019 for the registered charity, prepared in accordance with Section 132 (1) of the Charities Act 2011 and The
Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008.
The charitable fund operates under a Declaration of Trust dated 17 February 1997. The aim of our Charity is to raise funds and
attract donations that can be used to benefit a wide range of services provided by Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust. These include a
wide range of health care including community services across a variety of locations such as people’s homes, health centres,
schools, prisons and hospitals. The Charitable Fund is an umbrella fund which is made up of 57 individual charitable funds
(2017/18: 58 Funds). Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust is the Corporate Trustee of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund.
In administering the objectives and activities of the fund, the Trustee gives careful consideration to the Charity Commission’s
general guidance on public benefit.
The following Directors of the Trustee are also members of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Board:
Chairman

Andy Trotter

st

Chief Executive Matthew Trainer (from 1 October 2018)
Acting Chief Executive
September 2018)

Vice Chair

Steve Dilworth

Helen

Smith

(from

17

March

2018

to

th

30

Deputy Chief Executive Helen Smith (until 16 March 2018 and from
st
1 October 2018)
th

Acting Deputy Chief Executive Iain Dimond (from 17 March 2018 to 30 September
2018)

Non-Executive Directors
th
Seyi Clement (Until 30 Jun 2019)
Steve Dilworth
Stephen James
st
James Kellock (Until 31 Oct 2018)
Jo Stimpson
Yemisi Gibbons
st
Nina Hingorani-Crain (Joined 1 Nov 2018)
st
Dr Suzanne Shale (From 1 July 2019)
st
Dr Amlan Basu (From 1 Sept 2019)

Executive Board Directors
Dr Ify Okocha
Jazz Thind
Jane Wells
Meera Nair

Trustee recruitment, appointment and induction
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust is the Corporate Trustee of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund. Trustees of Oxleas NHS
Foundation Trust Charitable Fund are appointed from the board of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust.
Key management personnel information
The Trustee have concluded that the Directors of the Trust and the trust fund directors comprise the key management personnel of
the charitable funds as they are in charge of:
•
•

Directing and controlling the charitable funds
Running and operating the charitable funds on a day-to-day basis.

The Directors of the Trust give their time freely and did not receive any remuneration during the year. The Directors of the Trust
are required to declare any potential conflict of interests. No conflicts of interest were declared that impacted upon the Charity.
The Directors of the Trust have agreed that no separate committee to manage the Charity is required due to the size of the
Charity. The day-to-day administration and control of the 57 individual accounts that make up the Charity are delegated to
members of Trust staff who are best placed to recognise needs (Fundholders) and are in a relevant post to the Charitable Fund
concerned.
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Individual Funds
No new funds were set up in the year. One fund was closed during the year as the site that it related to was no longer in use by
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust.
Reserves Policy
Charitable Fund policy states that all donations should be expended wherever within two years of receipt, except where funds are
being saved for a specific purpose (either restricted or designated funds). The budget holders for each Trust fund are responsible
for building reserves for their fund should this be deemed necessary, however at present no funds are saved for this purpose.
Risk Policy
The amount of funds held in respect of charitable funds is considered too small to support an investment portfolio. The Corporate
Trustee does not consider there to be any major risks associated with the charitable funds due to the nature of the charitable
activities undertaken. Funds spent during the year will be no more than the balance of reserves held.
Expenditure authorisation limits for Trust fund holders are now standardised. This is now in line with the Trust’s signatory authority
matrix. This is to ensure that all expenditure for the Trust is authorised using the same processes throughout the Trust.
The charitable fund is reliant on voluntary income and donations to allow expenditure on charitable activities. If income falls then
the expenditure would have to fall as a result of this. The NHS is also by its nature subject to changes in government policy and
funding decisions, and so there is an inherent risk as a result of any unforeseen changes in the NHS.
Accounting
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust provides accounting facilities for the Trust Funds. Each charitable fund has a unique code which is
debited or credited at the time of a transaction. Transactions are processed though the ledger system. Any balance owing to or
from the Fund is transferred between the Trust Fund Account and Oxleas’ bank account during the financial year.
Investment Policy
£500,000 has been reinvested with Lloyds Bank from September 2018 (April 2018: £600,000). Interest in 2018-19 was earned at
0.80% (2017/18: 0.575%).
Financial Review
During the year charitable funds of £40,000 (2017/18: £49,000) were generated, whilst in the same year expenditure totalled
£122,000 (2017/18: £139,000), resulting in net expenditure of £82,000 (2017/18: £90,000). Donations remain a considerable
source of income to the funds with £7,500 of income, with the remainder coming from charitable activities and returns on
investments. Charitable activities represent £122,000 of the expenditure. The charitable funds amount to £564,000 (2017/18:
£646,000), which means that the funds can continue to be expended in line with the above policies.
The Greenwich Patients OPMH saw a significant movement of 18k income, Postgraduate & Pharmacy Funds have income totalled
£8k. The Bracton Centre Fund had expenditure of £23k (Sensory Rooms & Garden), Forensic Psychology Fund £18k (Training &
Coaching), Postgraduate Fund £16k (Creating & E-Learning Package) & Bromley Impatient Funds £15k (Furniture) of expenditure.
How to contact us
Further information about particular funds can be obtained from the Senior Financial Accountant, in the first instance. Copies of
the Annual Accounts for Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund can be obtained by writing to the Director of Finance at the
same address.
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Thank you
Service users have benefited greatly from the generosity of family, friends, staff and the wider community who have made
donations to the Trust funds and helped with fundraising efforts. Thank you also to our volunteers, 16 of who manage our snack
shops. The profits from the shop are put into two Trust funds; one for Adult mental health patients within Oxleas House and the
other being the Trust fund for older people. The funds are used to pay for entertainers on the wards, emergency clothing and
toiletries, and also to keep the gardens looking good for our patients, visitors and staff which has been a particular focus this
year. The funds are used to buy Christmas presents and Easter eggs for our elderly in patients, and we also fund day trips to
various places i.e. seaside trips and places of interest. We also fund BBQ’s for elderly inpatient wards and pay for themed party
days throughout the year. The funds are also used for certain items of equipment on the ward and for celebrating special
occasions for the patients. Funding received has been used across many funds to provide training and guidance for staff,
meaning that the benefits do not solely apply to Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust but to society as a whole.
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
st

On 1 April 2017, Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust reorganised its services into the boroughs that it serves so that the services
better meet the needs of our patients and service users. The Trust provides services in Greenwich, Bexley and Bromley. In
addition, the Trust has expanded the services that it offers in prisons and forensic services.
Our services cover; in the borough structure of Greenwich, Bexley and Bromley:
• Adult Mental Health (including the interests of those in forensic and prison services)
• Older People Mental Health
• Adult Community Health
• Children and Young People (both mental health and physical health services)
• Learning Disability
• Queen Mary’s Hospital
How we organise ourselves: reference and administrative details
Charity Number
Our registered charity number is 1061424.
Registered Address
The charity is located at:
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Pinewood House
Pinewood Place
Dartford
Kent
DA2 7WG
Our advisers
Independent Examiners
Grant Thornton LLP
30 Finsbury Square
London
EC2A 1AG

Bankers
Lloyds Bank
th
4 Floor
25 Gresham Street
London
EC2V 7HN

Internal Auditor
KPMG LLP
th
8 Floor East
15 Canada Square
London
E14 5GL
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How we manage your donations
The Charity makes grants from both its unrestricted and restricted funds to Trust staff for training purposes and issues other
expenditure in relation to patient welfare, staff welfare and other expenditure. The largest 12 funds also incur an administration
fee from Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust and the independent examination fees, apportioned across the funds by size.
Unrestricted funds: These funds are received by the charity with no particular preference expressed by the donors as to how
the money should be spent, or paid for a designated location but into a fund where there are no restrictions on how this money
should be spent.
Restricted funds: These are funds donated for a specific purpose expressed by the donor into either a new fund created for a
specific purpose or an existing restricted fund and are spent as such.
What we plan to do with your donations: our future plans
Charitable Fund policy states that all donations should be expended wherever within two years of receipt, and we will continue
to ensure that donations are spent on enhancing patient care by funding a wide range of activities and training over and above
the core services and facilities that are funded by the NHS.

5

80

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund
Annual Report & Financial Statements 2018-19
Annual Report & Financial Statements 2018-19
Statement of Trustee responsibilities
The trustees are responsible for preparing the Trustees' Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including
FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland".
The law applicable to charities in England and Wales requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial
year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charity and of the incoming resources and application of
resources of the charity for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the trustees are required to:
- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements;
- observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP;
- make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed; and
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will continue
in business.
The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the charity and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Charities Act 2011, the
Charity (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 and the provisions of the trust deed. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the charity and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the charity and financial information included on the charity's
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved on behalf of the Corporate Trustee

Jazz Thind
Director of Finance
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
7 November 2019
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Independent examiner's report to the corporate trustee of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund
I report on the accounts of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund (the "charity") for the year ended 31 March 2019,
which are set out on pages 1 to 20
Your attention is drawn to the fact that the charity's trustee has prepared the charity's accounts in accordance with the
Statement of Recommended Practice 'Accounting and Reporting by Charities preparing the accounts in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015)’ issued in May
2014 in preference to the Statement of Recommended Practice 'Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of
Recommended Practice (revised 2005)' issued in April 2005 which is referred to in the Charities (Accounts and Reports)
Regulations 2008 but has been withdrawn. I understand that the charity's trustee has done this in order for the charity's
accounts to give a true and fair view in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice effective for
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
This report is in respect of an examination carried out under section 145 of the Charities Act 2011. This report is made solely to
the charity's trustee, as a body, in accordance with the regulations made under section 154 of the Charities Act 2011. My work
has been undertaken so that I might state to the charity's trustees those matters I am required to state to them in an
independent examiner's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, I do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the charity's trustee, as a body, for my work, for this report or for the opinions
I have formed.

Respective responsibilities of corporate trustee and examiner
The charity’s corporate trustee is responsible for the preparation of the accounts. The charity’s trustee considers that an audit is
not required for this year under section 144(2) of the Charities Act 2011 and that an independent examination is needed.
It is my responsibility to:
• examine the accounts under section 145 of the Charities Act 2011;
• to follow the procedures laid down in the general Directions given by the Charity Commission under section 145(5)(b) of
the Charities Act 2011; and
• to state whether particular matters have come to my attention.

Basis of independent examiner's report
My examination was carried out in accordance with the general Directions given by the Charity Commission. An examination
includes a comparison of the accounts with the accounting records kept by the charity. It also includes consideration of any
unusual items or disclosures in the accounts, and seeking explanations from you as trustee concerning any such matters. The
procedures undertaken do not provide all the evidence that would be required in an audit, and consequently no opinion is given
as to whether the accounts present a 'true and fair' view and the report is limited to those matters set out in the statement below.
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Independent examiner's statement
In connection with my examination, no matter has come to my attention:
• which gives me reasonable cause to believe that in any material respect, the requirements:
- to keep accounting records in accordance with section 130 of the Charities Act 2011; and
- to prepare accounts which accord with the accounting records; and
- to comply with the applicable requirements concerning the form and content of accounts set out in the
Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008
have not been met, or
• to which, in my opinion, attention should be drawn in order to enable a proper understanding of the accounts to be
reached.

[Signature]
Sarah Ironmonger
Grant Thornton UK LLP
Chartered Accountants
London
[**Date**]
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Statement of Financial Activities for the year ended 31 March 2019
2018/19

2018/19

2018/19

2017/18

2017/18

2017/18

Note

Unrestricted
Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
£’000

Unrestricted
Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
£’000

Donations

4.1

5

3

8

5

1

6

Other trading activities

4.2

-

19

19

-

20

20

Investment Income

4.3

2

2

4

6

2

8

Other Income

4.4

5

4

9

8

7

15

12

28

40

19

30

49

Income and endowments

Total Income
Expenditure On:
Raising funds

5.1

-

1

1

-

1

1

Charitable activities

5.2

74

47

121

82

56

138

Total expenditure

74

48

122

82

57

139

Net expenditure

(62)

(20)

(82)

(63)

(27)

(90)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(62)

(20)

(82)

(63)

(27)

(90)

Total funds brought
forward

315

331

646

378

358

736

Fund balances carried
forward

253

311

564

315

331

646

Transfers between funds
Net movement in funds
Reconciliation of funds
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Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2019
Unrestricted
funds
£’000

Restricted
funds
£’000

Total at 31
March 2019
£’000

Unrestricted
funds
£’000

Restricted
funds
£’000

Total at 31
March 2018
£’000

253

344

597

315

362

677

-

-

-

-

-

-

253

344

597

315

362

677

-

(33)

(33)

-

(31)

(31)

Net Current Assets

253

311

564

315

331

646

Total Net Assets

253

311

564

315

331

646

Note

Current Assets
Cash at bank and in hand
Debtors

10

Total Current Assets
Creditors
Creditors: Liabilities falling
due within one year

11

Funds of the Charity
Restricted income funds

12

-

311

311

-

331

331

Unrestricted income funds

13

253

-

253

315

-

315

253

311

564

315

331

646

Total Charity Funds

The notes on pages 11 to 17 form part of these accounts.

Approved on behalf of the Corporate Trustee

Jazz Thind
Director of Finance
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
7 November 2019
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st

Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ending 31 March 2019

Note

Cash flows used in operating activities:
Net Cash used in operating activities
Interest Income
Net cash used in investing activity
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the year
Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of
the year

15
4.3

Year Ended
st
31 March 2019
£000

Year Ended
st
31 March 2018
£000

(84)
4
4

(63)
8
8

(80)
677

(55)
732

597

677
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Notes to the Accounts
1

Accounting Policies

1.1

Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with Accounting
and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice (FRS 102), applicable United Kingdom Financial
Reporting Standards (FRS 102) and the Charities Act 2011. The Trustee considers that the going concern basis is an
appropriate basis on which to prepare these financial statements. No significant judgements have been exercised in
preparing the financial statements as none of the charity’s operations require such judgement, similarly there no key
sources of estimation uncertainty.
The charity constitutes a public benefit entity as defined by charities SORP (FRS 102).

1.2

Income
All income is recognised once the Charity has entitlement to the resources, it is probable that the resources will be
received and the monetary value can be measured with sufficient reliability.
When there are terms or conditions attached to income then these terms or conditions must be met before the income is
recognised as the entitlement condition will not be satisfied until that point. Where terms and conditions have not been
met or uncertainty exists as to whether they can be met then the relevant income is not recognised in the year but
deferred and shown on the balance sheet as deferred income. The above applies to all sources of income that appear
on the Statement of Financial Activity, being Donations, Other trading activities, Investment income and Other income.

1.3

Funds structure
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund comprises ‘restricted income’ and ‘unrestricted income’ funds. Where
there is a legal restriction on the purpose to which a fund may be put, the fund is classified in the accounts as a
restricted fund. All ‘unrestricted’ funds can be spent at the Trustee’s discretion. The major funds and material funds
held in this category are disclosed in notes 12 and 13 of the Accounts. The Charity has no ‘endowment funds’.

1.4

Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT
All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that aggregate all costs
related to each category of expense shown in the Statement of Financial Activities. All expenditure is recognised once
there is a legal or constructive obligation committing the Charity to make payment to a third party. VAT is irrecoverable
and is charged against the category of resources expended for which it was incurred

1.5

Analysis of governance and support costs
The Charitable Fund was charged £4,800 by Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust (2017/18: £4,800) to cover the cost of Fund
management and administration as no staff are directly employed by the charity. The charge made by the NHS
Foundation Trust is at a fair open market rate and represents appropriate recharges of staff and non-staff costs to
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust. The cost is apportioned between the largest twelve funds based on individual balances
at the start of the financial year. Governance costs relate to the independent examination fee. The apportioned
governance costs relating to restricted funds are accounted for under restricted funds and the apportioned governance
costs for unrestricted funds are accounted for under unrestricted funds. These costs are included within the total cost of
‘charitable activities’.
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1.6

Costs of raising funds
The costs of raising funds are those attributable to raising income for the Charity. They represent fundraising costs.

1.7

Charitable activities
Expenditure on activities for the ongoing benefit of patients and staff are charged directly to Charitable Activities, as are
all costs incurred in the pursuit of the charitable objects of the charity.

1.8

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand is held to meet the day to day running costs of the charity as they fall due.

1.9

Creditors
Creditors are amounts owed by the charity. They are measured at the amount that the charity expects to have to pay to
settle the debt.

1.10

Debtors
Debtors are amounts owed to the charity. They are measured at the amount that the charity expects to receive to settle
the debt.

2.

Prior year comparatives by type of fund
The primary statements provide prior year comparatives in total; notes 4,5,12 and 13 provide prior period comparatives
for the Statement of Financial Activities and the Balance Sheet for each of the types of fund held.

3.

Related Party Transactions
Neither the Corporate Trustee or key management staff or parties related to them have undertaken any material
transactions with Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund during the financial year or received any benefit from
the Charity in payment or kind. Payments to Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust for expenditure incurred on the Charity’s
behalf are made periodically throughout the year, including a payment of £4,800 to Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust for
administration and management costs during the financial year (2017/18: £4,800). In total £28k was owing to Oxleas
NHS Foundation Trust at year end (2017/18: £21k).

4.

Analysis of income and endowment from generated funds

4.1

Income from Donations
Unrestricted
funds
2018/19
Donations
£000
Holbrook
1
Forensic
Psychology
3
Other Funds
1
Total
5

Restricted
funds
2018/19
£000
-

2018/
19
Total
£000
1

Unrestricted
funds
2017/18
£000
2

3
3

3
4
8

1
2
5

Restricted
funds
2017/18
£000
-

2017/
18
Total
£000
2
1

1
1

3
6

Donations from individuals are gifts from members of the public, relatives of patients and staff.
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4.2

Other Trading Activities
Unrestricted
funds
2018/19
Fundraising
Greenwich
Older People
Greenwich
Adults
Other Funds
Total

4.3

Restricted
funds
2018/19
£000

2018/
19
Total
£000

Unrestricted
funds
2017/18
£000

Restricted
funds
17/18
£000

2017/
18
Total
£000

-

18

18

-

18

18

-

1
19

1
19

-

2
20

2
20

Interest Income
£4,000 interest was earned on the Trust Funds for 2018/19 (2017/18: £8,000).
Interest is apportioned between all charitable funds based on their balance at the end of each month throughout the
financial year.

4.4

Other Incoming Resources
Unrestricted
funds
2018/19
£000
Pharmacy Fund
Child &
Adolescent
Psychotherapy
1
Postgraduate
Fund
4
Forensic
Psychology
Other Funds
Total
5

Restricted
funds
2018/19
£000
4

2018/
19
Total
£000
4

Unrestricted
funds
2017/18
£000
-

Restricted
funds
2017/18
£000
7

2017/18
Total
£000
7

-

1

4

-

4

-

4

2

-

2

4

9

2
8

7

2
15

2018/19
Total

Unrestricted
funds
2017/18

Restricted
funds
2017/18

2017/
18
Total

£000
-

£000
1

£000
1

-

1

1

5.

Analysis of charitable expenditure

5.1

Expenditure on raising funds: fundraising

Fundraising
Expenditure
All Funds
Total

Unrestricted
funds
2018/19

Restricted
funds
2018/19

£000

£000
-

1

£000
1

-

1

1

14
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5.2

Charitable Activities
Unrestricted
funds
2018/19
Patient Welfare
£000
Greenwich
Older People
Greenwich
Adults
Other Funds
12
12

Staff Welfare
QMS Training &
Education
Postgraduate
Forensic
Psychology
Bracton
Other Funds

Other
Expenditure
Forensic
Psychology
Other Funds

Governance
Costs
Total

Restricted
funds
2018/19
£000

2018/19
Total
£000

Unrestricted
funds
2017/18
£000

Restricted
funds
2017/18
£000

2017/
18
Total
£000

9

9

-

8

8

4
3
16

4
15
28

3
3

3
2
13

3
5
16

15

-

15

17

23
-

23
17

6
2
23

11
1
12

6
11
3
35

4
21

11
4
38

11
4
4
59

9
22
31

14
14

9
36
45

41
5
53

-

41
5
53

8

5

13

5

5

10

74

47

121

82

56

138

Governance costs including a £4,800 for the 2018/19 independent examination fee (2017/18: £4,800) and a £4,800
recharge of administrative costs from Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust (2017/18: £4,800) have also been added to
Charitable activities expenditure in 2018/19, giving the total expenditure of £122,000 in the Statement of Financial
Activities.

6.

Role of Volunteers
We have 16 volunteers who manage our two snack shops, one based in the Memorial Hospital, and one in Oxleas
House. The profits from the shop are put into two Trust funds one for adult mental health patients within Oxleas House
and the other being the Trust fund for Older people. The funds are used to pay for entertainers on the wards,
emergency clothing and toiletries, and also to keep the gardens looking good for our patients, visitors and staff. This
year a garden party with entertainers is planned. The funds are also used for certain items of equipment on the ward
and for celebrating special occasions for the patients.

7.

Trustees remuneration, benefits and expenses
The directors of the charity’s corporate trustee give their time freely and receive no remuneration for the work that they
undertake as trustees. No expenses were claimed by the directors of the corporate trustee in the period.
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8.

Independent examiner’s remuneration
The independent examiner’s remuneration of £4,800 (2017/18: £4,800) related solely to the independent examination
with no other additional work being undertaken.

9.

Transfers between Funds
There were no transfers between funds in this financial year.

10.

Analysis of Current Assets

Amounts due from Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Total

11.

2018/19
Total
£000
-

2017/18
Total
£000
-

2018/19
Total
£000
5
28
33

2017/18
Total
£000
10
21
31

Analysis of Current Liabilities

Independent examiners’ fee accrual
Amounts due to Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Total

No special conditions apply to the amount due to Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust.
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12.

Analysis of restricted funds
The following funds, shown separately below, are considered material in respect of the size of their opening/closing
balances.

Balance
1 April
2018
£000
QMS Training & Education*
Pharmacy*
Bracton Fund*
Other funds (21)
Total

Resources
Incoming
Expenditure

£000

18
68
85
160
331

£000
4
1
23
28

Transfers

Balance
31 March
2019
£000

£000
(3)
(23)
(22)
(48)

-

18
69
63
162
311

*The purpose of QMS Training & Education and Pharmacy funds are for staff training only. The Bracton fund is a reward
group for those residents who are working towards giving up the use of illicit substances.

Balance
1 April
2017
£000
QMS Training & Education*
Pharmacy*
Bracton Fund*
Other funds (21)
Total

41
63
89
165
358

Resources
Incoming
Expenditure

£000

£000
7
23
30

Transfers

Balance
31 March
2018
£000

£000
(23)
(2)
(4)
(28)
(57)

-

18
68
85
160
331

*The purpose of QMS Training & Education and Pharmacy funds are for staff training only. The Bracton fund is a reward
group for those residents who are working towards giving up the use of illicit substances.
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13.

Analysis of unrestricted funds
Balance
1 April
2018
£000
Forensic Psychology*
Forensic Psychiatry*
Postgraduate*
Other funds (31)
Total

Resources
Incoming
Expenditure

£000

69
30
36
180
315

Transfers

£000
4
4
4
12

Balance
31 March
2019
£000

£000
(18)
(1)
(16)
(39)
(74)

-

55
29
24
180
253

*The purpose of Forensic Psychology and Forensic Psychiatry are for research, staff support and education. The
Postgraduate fund is for the further education and training of medical staff.

Balance
1 April
2017
£000
Forensic Psychology*
Forensic Psychiatry*
Postgraduate*
Other funds (31)
Total

110
38
52
178
378

Resources
Incoming
Expenditure

£000

Transfers

£000
4
2
13
19

Balance
31 March
2018
£000

£000
(45)
(8)
(18)
(11)
(82)

-

69
30
36
180
315

*The purpose of Forensic Psychology and Forensic Psychiatry are for research, staff support and education. The
Postgraduate fund is for the further education and training of medical staff.

14.

Connected Organisations
2018-19
Total Income
£000
271,134

15.

Surplus
£000
5,965

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
2017-18
Total Income
Surplus
£000
£000
257,368
3,449

Reconciliation of net movement in funds to cash used in operating activities

Net movement in funds
Adjustments for:
Deduction in bank interest shown in investments
Decrease/ (increase) in debtors
Increase/ (decrease) in creditors
Net cash used in operating activities

2018/19 Total
£
(82)

2017/18 Total
£
(90)

(4)
2
(84)

(8)
9
26
(63)
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16.

Post Balance Sheet Events
There were no post balance sheet events.
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Ways in which to support our charity
Donations can be made in the following ways:Direct into the bank account
Please contact Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust finance department on 01322 625798 in order to discuss the donation and obtain
our bank details.
By post
Please send a cheque made payable to ‘Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust’ and include on the back of the cheque the funds that
you would like to donate to so that we can arrange an internal transfer from there. Please send this cheque to:
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Finance Department
Pinewood House
Pinewood Place
Dartford
Kent
DA2 7WG
By donation/fundraising on our behalf
For example by opening a Just Giving page. If you are an individual, group or organisation who is interested in raising money on
behalf of the Charity please contact Oxleas finance on 01322 625798 for help and support with your planned event.
Gift aid
Gift aid allows us to increase the value of your donations at no extra cost to you. For every pound donated to us we can get an
extra 25 pence from HM Revenue and Customs helping your donation go further. The only condition in doing this is that you are
a UK tax payer. In order to allow us to claim Gift aid simply advise us at the time of making your donation and provide us with
your full name and address.
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Overview
Apr- Sep 2019/20 Apr - Mar 2018/19
£
£

Statement of Financial Activities
Opening Balance

564,922

Income

646,382

11,575

40,376

Expenditure on charitable activites

(84,465)

(121,837)

Closing Balance

492,032

564,922

Balance Sheet

Interest rate

Apr-Sep 2019/20 Apr - Mar 2018/19
£
£

Balances held in CAF 90 day notice account

0.60%

0

0

Balances held on 32 day notice account

0.80%

204,246

207,798

Balances held on 6 month deposit

0.45%

303,552

300,000

Balances held in Lloyds account

0.00%

36,175

80,807

Total cash balance

543,974

588,605

I&E movement (Audit fee accrual, debtor/(creditor) with Oxleas)

(51,942)

(23,683)

Total balances

492,032

564,922

55

58

0

0

Number of Trust Funds
Funds overdrawn

At the beginning of 2019-20 total planned spend equated to £83k
During the year so far fund holders utilised £84k resulting in a variation of £1k
from plan. This includes an unplanned spend of £29k (see below) so therefore
a further expenditure of £30k is forecasted for the remaining 6 months of the
financial year.
Income
• £5k in respect of the QMS General Fund, however it has transpired that this
was due to Dartford & Gravesham NHS Trust, this has been paid over in
September.
• £4k Postgraduate Fund in August mainly from Event Brite tickets.
• The majority of the remaining income relates to additional donations.
Expenditure
• Bracton Fund £14k: £4k Sensory Room (Heath Ward) & £7k on the
refurbishment of the gardens. £1k on a pool table with £1k on regular BAD
Group activities.
• Bromley Inpatient Fund £12k: television units, furniture and other
improvements to the patient and waiting areas continues. This was funded
through a large donation (330k) received in 18/19.
• Forensic Psychiatry Fund £29k: Elderly Care Forensic Survey.
• Greenwich Patients OPMH Fund £8k: relates mainly to small value patient
welfare spend.
• QMS General Fund £5k: please see income note above.
Cash Balance
• £200k was held in a 6 month deposit and £300k was held in a 32 day notice
account at the end of September 2019.
• Current account balance at 30th September was lower by c £44k due to
expenditure.
• 32 day notice account will be reduced shortly to cover cash requirements.
2
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Fund analysis
Top 10 highest balances at 30th September 2019:

Opening
Balance
April 2019

Income
Apr-Sep
2019

Phamacy Trust Fund

69,412

2,360

(354)

Forensic Psychology Fund

54,970

0

Bracton

62,937

QMS General Fund

Name of Fund

Expenditure Closing Balance
Sep 2019
Apr-Sep 2019

Fund Holder

Purpose

71,417

Paul Maycock

Fund team building for staff & to support research into psychiatric pharmacy

(1,766)

53,204

Peter Stevens/ Nikki Jeffcote/ Brian McKenzie

Research. Staff support & education

0

(13,785)

49,152

Chris Hall/ Joanne Skinner

Resource Purposes

37,177

5,000

(5,000)

37,177

Helen Manchester

Purchase equipment & fund improvements to QMS

QMS Medical Education

37,274

0

(1,000)

36,274

Buki Ogunde

Medical Education

Postgraduate Fund

23,752

4,575

(1,033)

27,294

Buki Ogunde

Education & training of medical staff

Greenwich Patients OPMH

32,087

100

(8,478)

23,710

Lin Sanders/Julie Langford/Steve
Francis/Japleen Kaur

For the benefit of Patients

Community Nursing

20,071

0

(639)

19,432

Lorraine Regan/ Lisa Thompson/ Mary
Titchener

For the benefit of Community

QMS General Fund 2

17,918

0

0

17,918

Helen Manchester

Purchase equipment & fund improvements to QMS

Horizon House Catering Fund

12,970

0

0

12,970

Donve Thompson-Boy/Sarah Burchell

Running catering enterprise / training for members & Fund raising for Horizon
House events and training.

Other Funds (45)

196,355

(460)

(52,410)

143,484

Various

Various

564,922

11,575

(84,465)

492,032

3
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Proposal to Restructure Oxleas NHS FT Charitable Fund
• There are currently 55 restricted and unrestricted funds.
• As requested by the Trustee (the Trust Board) each fund has been reviewed and it is proposed that a number
of unrestricted funds be consolidated resulting the reductions set out below:

• All 23 restricted and 6 unrestricted funds (which are regularly used and with specific spend plans) remain as is
• Convert the remaining 26 unrestricted funds into 4 new funds, resulting in a general fund for each borough
and Estates
• It is proposed that the balance of £282.12 held in a restricted fund in respect of Centrepieces Mental Health
Art Project, which now operates through a separate registered Charity of the same name, be transferred to
the Centrepieces Mental Health Art Project and the charitable fund held under Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Charitable Fund be closed.
The Charities Commission has been contacted to assess the feasibility of revising the status of 6 of the remaining
restricted funds and denoting these are unrestricted to allow further consolidated. Amalgamating restricted
funds is however a complex process that must be documented and agreed with the Charities Commission. 4
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Summary
• In 2019-20 the forecasted spend is £161k, which would be the highest annual
expenditure in the last 3 years. Fund holders are being encouraged to develop
further spend plans and where possible to utilise the funds within two years of
receipt. The Trustee (Trust Board) reserves the right to decide how funds are used
if planned spend does not materialise.
• KPMG has completed a review of the Charitable Funds financial systems and the
findings will be reported at the November 2019 meeting of the Audit and Risk
Assurance Committee.
• Grant Thornton has undertaken an Independent Review of the Charitable Fund
Accounts for 2018-19 (fee £4k).
• The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee recommends the approval of the
accounts by the Trustee (Trust Board) at the November 2019 meeting.
5
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Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status

Infrastructure Committee Report (Meeting 15 October 2019)

Report Summary

Capital Programme
• Expenditure on the 2019/20 capital plan has reduced from £20.4m to £17.7m.
Projects have been deferred to 2020/21 or are no longer required.
• Additional capital may be made available once a decision on the accounting for
the Pre-admission Suite replacement scheme is agreed with Lewisham and
Greenwich NHS Trust.
• The 5 year plan indicates expenditure of £2m in future years for IT and
concerns have been raised that this is unlikely to be sufficient for the planned
future digital investment.
• DHSC have recently issued a Health Infrastructure Plan (HIP) which indicates
the potential for capital expenditure limits and constraints on FTs in the future.

Rachel Evans - Director of Estates & Facilities

Property Disposals
• It was agreed that Murchison Avenue, Upton Road and Blean Grove will be
retained in 2019/20 unless a decision is made nationally to allow property sale
proceeds to be set against control totals.
• Rowan House is being sold by auction on 31 October 2019.
Estates Report
• The annual review of properties was undertaken. The result of current service
tenders will impact on the estate either through a requirement to find
additional properties or the creation of voids in existing properties. It is known
that some voids are inevitable.
Queen Mary’s Hospital
• Phase 2 works are complete and Ophthalmology and Dental have moved to
their new locations.
• The business case for theatres was approved by the Board in July with a value
of £8.47m which had been provided by the P21 cost consultant. The contractor
has costed the works at £12m. The costs are being reviewed with the P21
contractor and other procurement methods are being considered.
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Wensley Close
• The Committee approved the final version of the Wensley Close Option
Agreement and the execution of the documentation.
IT Report
• The launch of e-obs has been delayed due to the supplier having to provide a
new technical specification. Compensation is being negotiated.
• The Dr Julian system is currently being successfully piloted with 10 patients and
we are looking to extend.
• The digital strategy was discussed and a fully developed strategy will be
presented at the December Committee.
E-Prescribing Business Case
• The Committee approved the business case for the procurement of an EPMA
solution but with concerns raised about revenue implications of future digital
schemes.
Risk Register
• Risks 1227 - Contractors are not providing all detailed evidence of statutory
compliance so the Trust does not have full assurance that requirements are
being met. The Committee agreed to increase the risk from 6 to 9 as existing
plans to further mitigate the risk are not having an effect within an acceptable
timescale; and also to document the further mitigation planned in relation to
the existing hard FM contract.
• Risk 1695 - Patients and staff at Greenwich Square may be compromised
because we are operating out of a building where fire safety improvements are
required, and the Trust has not received statutory compliance information
from NHS Property Services. Mitigation plans include non-ambulatory staff and
patients not attending the site, rescue mats in place and an evacuation chair
being purchased. The issue will be raised with the CCG at the next Local Estates
Forum. The Committee agreed to add this risk to the BAF.
• Potential future risks are QMH theatres finances and the possibility of NHSI
setting limitations on capital expenditure.

Purpose
(To select
purpose, click on
relevant choice
for drop down
box)

Information

To Note

Approval

Decison

√

102

Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives click
on relevant
choice for drop
down box)

•

The Board is asked to note the updates from the Infrastructure Committee.

Quality √

Workforce

Sustainability √

Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

Financial implications are discussed in the report.

Partnerships √
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Performance and Quality Assurance Committee Report
Yemisi Gibbons, Non-Executive Director
Jane Wells, Director of Nursing / Iain Dimond, Chief Operating Officer
Accountable Director Jane Wells, Director of Nursing / Iain Dimond, Chief Operating Officer
Confidentiality/
N/A
FOI status
Report Summary

The report gives an update on the Trust Quality Performance and Assurance
Committee highlights and exceptions from the meeting on 18 September and 16
October 2019.

Purpose
(To select
Information
purpose, click on
relevant choice
for drop down
Approval
box)
Recommendation To note.
Link to strategic
objectives (click
on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

Quality √

To Note

√

Decision

Workforce

Sustainability

Partnerships

BAF 1763 serious incident action closures
BAF 1776 HBPOS S136 breaches
Briefly outline implications of the recommendations in this report
Performance and assurance
Performance and assurance
Performance and assurance
Performance and assurance
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Performance and Quality Assurance Committee Report
for September and October2019
Performance
IPR Performance
In September, at Trust level there were 4 exceptions: Responding to complaints, Performance
against actions identified from complaints, Early intervention (seen) and Early intervention (waiting).
The metric for Crisis Home Treatment Gatekeeping was red but validation was not complete, this
metric was green once validation was completed.
In October, there were 4 exceptions: Responding to complaints, Performance against actions
identified from complaints, 48 hour follow-up and Mental Health Friends and Family Test. Validation
for Early Intervention (seen and waiting) was not complete at the time of the committee however
these metrics are green.
There is ongoing work (detailed in the exception reports) to address performance in relation to
complaints and the mental health FFT. Greenwich have outlined improved monitoring arrangements
to ensure that performance for follow up of service users discharged from acute wards. This metric
will be superseded by the introduction of the 72 hour follow up metric from November.
Thameside Taskforce
The committee were advised that the final meeting took place in September 2019. The service has
now moved out of regulatory enforcement action following a re-inspection by the CQC in May 2019.
There are a small number of areas identified as needing ongoing focus, and progress on actions to be
taken to address these will be monitored at the monthly local delivery board with SERCO.
Greenwich Community Mental Health Team Taskforce
The directorate is currently working with Bridge, One Support and Sanctuary Housing on
implementing an improvement plan to address concerns raised by providers regarding the variability
in quality of care co-ordination within the Adult CMHTs in the borough. A 6 month secondment for a
manager to lead this piece of work has now been established. The committee were appraised of the
actions to be taken to address the concerns. The taskforce will report into the committee on
progress every two months. The next update is due in November.
In addition a new Trustwide Community Mental Health Forum has been set up, chaired by the
Associate Director of Nursing, and this had its inaugural meeting on 14 October 2019. The focus of
the forum is currently being co-developed with directorate leads however the aim is to ensure
consistent standards of practice across the three boroughs in relation to assessment, treatment and
care planning. Updates will be provided at each committee meeting in line with the arrangements
for the other Trust forums.
Children and Young People Performance and Assurance
In September, the committee received a presentation from the Children and Young People’s
directorate management team summarising the governance arrangements in place and
performance. The directorate raised concerns about the waiting times for ASD assessments. MHIS
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(Mental Health Investment Standard) funding aims to reduce the wait from 30 months to 19 months
in Greenwich and will reduce the waits for medication initiation appointments from 10 months to 1
month. Bexley CCG have been informed of concerns in demand for ADHD (by Aug 2020 the wait will
be 16 months). The concerns are not as high as they are for Greenwich and the caseload for the
service is managed in a different way. Bexley received funding in 2017 for ASD Assessment which
enabled the service to increase the number of initial assessment slots from 11 to 25 – original
projections predicted that without investment the waits would rise to 28 months by Jan 19 but with
investment this would reduce to 15 months– the actual position at Jan 19 was a 17 month wait and
there has been an increase in average referrals of 7 per month. Bexley CCG have been provided with
the information on changes to demand and indicative costings for closing the gap in capacity.
Forensic & Prisons Performance and Assurance
In October, the committee received a presentation from the Forensic and Prison’s directorate
management team summarising the governance arrangements in place and performance. The team
fed back on the successful work that is underway to reduce violence and aggression at the Bracton
and how the learning had been shared with colleagues in acute adult mental health settings. They
also highlighted the change in approach being taken in regard to working with patients who misuse
substances in both medium and low secure settings and the ongoing work to improve physical
health within secure services.
Rio Updates
In September, the committee were updated on RiO configuration improvements and the impact,
data quality improvements and future developments and Software changes requiring Servelec
Involvement. A number of key Trust wide projects which are funded by Global Digital Exemplar
Programme and NHSE are currently in flight, these will use RiO data to digitalise processes which are
currently paper based. These include:
• eObs: Electronic collection of observations on inpatient wards via a RiO add on module
• Eprescribing (EPMA): A system linking prescribing, meds administering and pharmacy,
• On-line Health Record: A secure digital solution for patients to view their clinical records (
• TQuest : This is a local pathology system and integration will enable ordering of blood tests
directly from RiO and the uploading of these results directly back in to RiO.
• FLOW: This is a system to provide a real-time view of bed management solution.
• Real Time data: This is received live data feed in real time to facilitate ward handovers,
personalised clinical task lists, better bed management and improved productivity.

Quality Priorities
Patient experience
In September the committee were assured that the Family and Carer’s Strategy has been updated
for 2019-2022. The Family and Carer’s Action Plan has been produced in line with the updated
strategy. The Support Network Engagement Tool (SNET) completion rate was presented.

Between September 2018 – July 2019 the completion of the SNET decreased significantly in
March 2019 for ALD, Bromley, Bexley Mental Health and Greenwich Mental Health.
Directorate plans to support improvement were discussed, these included an embedded
learning event in Bromley scheduled for October. The majority show an upwards trend in
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recent months. Forensics have increased significantly from March 2019, and in July reached
79% compliance. As of July 2019 Bexley Care have shown further engagement in completion
of the SNET, by sending teams the raw data and encouraging them to contact Patient
Experience for guidance.
Clinical effectiveness
In September the committee received an update on the monthly care planning audit results.
Since the monthly audits began, teams audited approximately 9413 records . Participation rates
(that is percentage of teams completing audits) has increased in recent months. In June the audit
had its highest participation rate so far (81%), surpassing the 75% target. Slides 3 and 4 show
participation rates by directorate. July has seen a further increase in participation rates (final
numbers to be confirmed).Clinical and service directors receive team participation information for
their directorates every month. Over 100 clinical teams completed 643 audits in June. ALD, forensic
and CYP have consistently high return rates. Bromley, Greenwich and prison services have recently
demonstrated significant increases their response rates.
Patient Safety
In September, the committee received assurance of the improvement of serious incident
performance monitoring and the reduction in overdue actions being closed on Datix. The quarter 1
patient priorities report highlighted the new falls policy and exploration of digital solutions to
support falls reduction and associated costs related to enhance therapeutic observations.
International Dysphagia Diet Standardisation Initiative (IDDSI) training has been delivered at five
sites across the Trust. This training aimed to alert staff to the needs of patients who have swallowing
issues.
The committee received confirmation that all actions following the internal audit review and
investment in the serious incident team have been completed with the exception of the SI team
delivering RCA training. This action is currently on hold as a new framework for Serious Incidents was
published in September 2019 and Root Cause Analysis will no longer be used as the method for
undertaking investigations.
The committee were assured that work is currently underway to ensure that the Trust continues to
meet its obligations under national guidance of Managing Medical Devices. This includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•

A Medical Devices Panel has been agreed by the group. Once the appropriate Cardea set up
has been achieved, all “Special items” that need to be ordered will be presented at Panel
and agreed / declined.
A workplan has been developed to ensure the Trust complies with the Medical and
Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) guidelines.
There are plans to make a “champion” in each team who will coordinate servicing and liaise
with the Althea engineer as this has been problematic. Althea will have a new
communications centre in Autumn 2019 and this will ease the booking system.
The legal implications are being looked into regarding charging both staff and patients for
lost items.
Training for staff on medical devices and Althea can provide this.
A Qi project has been identified with the aim of saving 20% of the overall medical devices
budget. Planning for this is due to start in the near future.
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The committee were updated on the new NHS Patient Safety Strategy and patient safety incident
response framework (PSIRF) will replace the serious incident framework and will dictate the terms
under which NHS organisations investigate and report cases where there has been a breach of
patient safety. This will:
The committee received the Annual Infection Prevention and Control Report and the annual mental
health Legislation Report.
Acute Care Forum
In October, the committee noted that body worn cameras had been piloted across 4 wards for 4
weeks. In addition the smoke free policy has been reviewed and the reducing physical restraint
strategy and work plan discussed.
Older Peoples’ Mental Health Forum
In September, the committee were updated on the focus of the group on CMHT recruitment, waiting
times in memory clinics and workforce competencies.
Quality Accounts 2019/20
In September the, committee noted the mid-year progress and highlighted the areas where we
have achieved our goals as well as the areas which require further focus in order to meet the quality
goals set in the report by the 31st of March 2020. There are 26 Quality indicators (under the
domains of patient experience, patient safety and clinical effectiveness) of which 8 have been
achieved, 10 have been mostly achieved and 5 not achieved. The targets not achieved relate to the
completion of the SNET and the completion of the cardio metabolic risk assessments.
Governance
Regulatory & Compliance Update
The committee noted any CQC Enquiries and the PAS Unannounced inspection on Thursday 15th
August 2019. We have begun to put plans in place to prepare for a Trustwide CQC re-inspection.
These include reviewing trends from the ongoing quality assurance review groups, review of action
plans and re-commencing CQC engagement workshops. This is to be presented at the next Trust
Quality Assurance Group; an update will be presented at the October PQAC meeting.
We have received joint CQC/HMIP inspections to the following prisons:
HMP YOI Cookham Wood (16th September)
HMP Stanford Hill (5th September) - Good feedback received with no recommendations or
regulatory action.
A regular quarterly CQC engagement meeting took place in October. All CQC enquiries had been
closed by the October committee. Feedback was provided to the committee in October on Quality
Assurance visits that had taken place since the previous committee.
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Quarter 1 2019/20 Mortality Surveillance Report
Jane Wells Director of Nursing
Jane Wells Director of Nursing
Public

The quarterly mortality surveillance meets provides assurance that our deaths
are being reviewed and satisfies the requirements to report to Boards as a
requirement of NHSI.
The attached report provides assurance to the board that wherever a death has
occurred that the death is reviewed to establish whether there were any issues
with the care and treatment provided. This will help establish if there were any
problems that might have contributed to the death, or if the death could have
been prevented if things had been done differently.
It covers the period of quarter 1 2019/20, taking into account the previous
pattern of monthly reporting to the Board and subsequent reporting via the new
Performance and Quality assurance Committee.
The report provides assurance through:
1. Mortality surveillance update
2. Numbers of deaths reviewed
3. Learning from thematic reviews

Purpose
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Information
To Note
√
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Approval
Decision
box)
Recommendation The Board is asked to note the quarterly report confirming assurance with
expectations nationally for reviews of deaths in the organisation.
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This relates to learning from incidents risk

Briefly outline implications of the recommendations in this report
Learning and improving practice
Learning and improving practice
Learning and improving practice
Learning and improving practice
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Quarterly Mortality Surveillance Report Quarter 1 2019 / 20

1 Mortality Surveillance Committee
The Trust Mortality Surveillance Committee is held monthly and reviews all deaths that have occurred in the
preceding month, reporting monthly to the Performance and Quality Assurance Committee. The purpose of the
committee is to provide assurance that wherever a death has occurred that the death is reviewed to establish
whether there were any issues with the care and treatment provided. This will help establish if there were any
problems that might have contributed to the death, or if the death could have been prevented if things had
been done differently. Deaths are classified according to an expected / unexpected and natural / un-natural
classification and the level of investigation is discussed. The findings of serious incident reviews into deaths are
shared and thematic reviews undertaken.
1.1 Progress meeting national requirements
The National Learning from Deaths – a Framework for NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts in identifying,
Reporting, Investigating and Learning from Deaths in Care was published in March 2017. The Trust has met the
core requirements of the guidance. Our policy on learning from deaths, including involving families and carers,
is publically available on our website along with the national template dashboard reporting deaths each month:
http://oxleas.nhs.uk/freedom-of-information/mortality-surveillance-data. Serious incident reviews of deaths use
structured judgement reviews of possible avoidability.
1.2 Reconciliation of deceased data between national spine and RiO.
As a Trust we receive regular updates from the NHS national spine of all NHS patients on the deaths of patients
known to Oxleas. It is important that we act upon this information to ensure that our clinical records are up to
date and that where appropriate, information about deaths not already known to us are investigated. We now
have quarterly data providing a summary of deaths recorded on the spine, Datix and RiO and gaps accessible via
both a live and a committee reporting iFOx programmes.
2

Numbers, classification of deaths undertaken

During the year to date the numbers of patients who died which occurred during the reporting period who were
recorded on Datix and reviewed at the time of the mortality surveillance committee were:
2018/19
2019/20
Quarter 1
286
224
Quarter 2
263
Quarter 3
263
Quarter 4
256
These have all been subject to a case review by a clinical reviewer.
The number of deaths in which a case review or investigation was carried out which we judge to be as a result of
the investigation were more likely than not to have been due to problems in care provided:
2018/19

2019/20
1

111

Quarter 1

Quarter 2
Quarter 3

Quarter 4

1 (Score 4 Possible avoidable but not very 2 Score 6 (definitely not avoidable), 1
likely less than 50:50)
Score 5 (Slight evidence of avoidability), 1
Score 4 (Possible avoidable but not very
likely less than 50:50), 2 not due to be
completed at the time of writing the
report.
2 (Score 4 and Score 5 Slight evidence of
avoidability)
12 (8 Score 6 definitely not avoidable, 2
Score 5 slight evidence of avoidability and
2 Score 3 Probably avoidable more than
50:50)
2 out of 14 reports completed – 1 Score 5
Slight evidence of avoidability, 1 Score 4
Possible avoidable but not very likely
(<50:50)

Deaths Expected / Unexpected Natural/ Unnatural by Directorate (at point of presentation to the Mortality
Surveillance Committee):
EN1 Expected Natural: Death was expected to occur within an expected timeframe. e.g. People with
terminal illness. These deaths are unlikely to be preventable.
EN2 - Death was expected but were not expected to happen in the timeframe. e.g. Someone with
cancer or liver cirrhosis who dies earlier than anticipated.
UN1 - Unexpected death which are from a natural cause e.g. Sudden cardiac condition or stroke.
UN2 - Unexpected death from a natural cause but which didn’t need to be e.g. Some alcohol
dependency and where there may been care concerns.
UU - Unexpected deaths which are from unnatural causes e.g. Suicide, homicide, abuse or neglect

There were 656 deceased patients on the NHS spine in quarter 1 who had contact with Oxleas ’services or still
2
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had an open referral. These are all being reviewed for completeness and to decease on Rio and the spine.
3

Learning

3.1

Learning from thematic reviews

LeDeR – completed review case learning - Current learning themes:
1. Increased knowledge outside of Learning Disabilities about the physical health presentations and care of
people with Learning Disabilities so that appropriate care and support can be provided, including the
need for reasonable adjustments and preventative work where necessary. Services to refer in a timely
way to specialist ALD services where necessary.
2. To achieve this, Learning Disabilities Link nurses to be in place for GP surgeries/Local Care Networks to
raise awareness of Community Learning Disabilities Teams and services and to support practices to
support people with Learning Disabilities including with Annual Health checks. Quality Improvement
project is in place initially in Bromley Learning Disabilities nursing to be expanded to other teams. There
is a Health Facilitation post in Greenwich which will be focussing on this learning.
3. Capacity assessments to be routinely completed and recorded for all clients receiving ‘treatment’ and
when significant decisions are made. This includes consent to treatment. To achieve this, acute, primary
and community based health professionals to receive training about Mental Capacity Act and Best
Interest frameworks and its application (plans to be agreed).
4. Coordinated care approach within Learning Disabilities Team service so approach is streamlined and
client does not need to retell their ‘story’ and health and social care staff liaise and work together at all
times. To achieve this, clear communication processes and integrated reviews/systems need to be in
place as well as the use of recognised systems such as hospital passports and ‘Black books’. Further
awareness training and support to be offered by the Learning Disabilities teams so that all staff involved
are aware of the systems in place for people with Learning Disabilities and that these are read and
followed as part of the client’s care plan. Training has been planned for PRU for November and will be
planned for QEH once the new Acute liaison nurse is in post (November 18). ALD Acute liaison nurses
have made many significant contributions to care when people have been admitted to hospital. These
posts need to be in place and embedded into the acute care settings.
5. Evidence of poor quality or lack of discharge planning meetings has been identified. Acute services need
to ensure that robust planning/discussions are held and recorded for all inpatients with Learning
Disabilities prior to discharge involving the local Learning Disabilities Teams and other agencies. In the
Princess royal University Hospital the Clinical Nurse Specialist for Learning Disabilities is to re-launch the
protocol for patients with Learning Disabilities through a Learning Disability Policy.
3.2 Supporting bereaved families
We have reviewed the Learning from Deaths: guidance for NHS Trusts on working with bereaved families and
carers (NQB NHSI July 2018) A resource has been made available on 23 April 2019: http://oxleas.nhs.uk/adviceand-guidance/information-for-families-and-c/families-bereavement/.
3.3 Learning from Berkshire
Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust had three in-patient deaths on mental health wards from choking in
an 18 month period between 2016 and 2017. Our Associate Director of Nursing contacted Berkshire Healthcare
to understand the learning and actions taken following these tragic incidents. Training in mechanical swallowing
problems, with a heavy focus on the specific risks associated with mental health patients is now routed in
learning and development programmes for Berkshire staff and local university student nurses. The acute and
older adult mental health wards now have dedicated SaLT workforce provision, which is being further invested in
in 2019/20. The trust has not had any further in-patient deaths by choking.
In immediate response to this learning, we are in the process of rolling out training to all professional groups;
3
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particularly those colleagues working in acute and older adult mental health wards, and forensic wards. The aim
of the training is to raise awareness of associated risks of choking, understand different textures of available
foods and learn about the IDDSI (International Dysphagia Diet Standardisation Index) and the campaign "My
eating and drinking matters". We have reviewed our Choking related incidents and note 11 incidents between
September 2018 and May 2019. The reasons for the 11 choking incidents are recorded as; 2 excessive saliva, 6
food, 2 mental health/learning disability symptoms, 1 patient offered the wrong texture food.
Learning from Quarter 4 serious incidents
Lesson 1
Risk Assessments
To continue to implement the trust wide training for clinical teams to ensure the formulation of risk for all
patients within their care.
Action taken: STORM training is being completed across the Trust. At present the Trust are recruiting a full time
STORM trainer.
Assessment of the impact of the actions: Full time STROM trainer has been recruited and is due to attend 5 day
training course on 5th August 2019.
Lesson 2
Physical Health
Care plans must include comprehensive and detailed information relating to patients physical health and the
interventions required.
Action Taken: Physical health audits are taking place on the wards as team are moving from MEWS to NEWS.
NEWS improves the detection and response to clinical deterioration in adult patients.
Assessment of the impact of the actions: All wards are now using NEWS2 and regular audits are maintained
with support for teams where required.
Learning from Quarter 1 serious incidents
Lesson 1
Crisis, relapse and contingency plans.
Team managers must ensure that Ifox is reviewed on a weekly basis to ensure that Crisis, relapse and
contingency plans are completed.
Action taken: Managers to review Ifox weekly and review the quality of crisis, relapse and contingency plans in
supervision.
Assessment of impact of actions: To be updated in Q2.
Lesson 2
Resuscitation Training
Staff must be trained in using all the resuscitation equipment that they would be expected to use on site. This
training should include unpacking a resuscitation bag from the start of an incident to ensure the appropriate
equipment is available for use.
Action plan: The Trust are planning to recruit a resuscitation officer to support with training and monitoring of
resuscitation equipment.

4
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Infection Prevention and Control Annual Report
Helen Nicholls, Lead Nurse Infection Prevention and Control
Jane Wells, Director of Nursing
Public

The infection prevention service has maintained a focus on the core activities of
surveillance, monitoring and control of infection over the past year. Excellent
progress was made against the objectives in work plan for 2018-2019 with the
majority of objectives completed. The infection prevention and control work plan
for 2019-2020 is in place and focuses on the core issues of audit, policy
development and review, maintaining compliance with the Health and Social care
Act 2008, and other national guidance and legislation.
Specific objectives achieved in the year have included:
•

Maintaining a low level of infection in relation to mandatory reportable alert
organisms. There were zero cases of MRSA, MSSA or E. Coli bloodstream
infection (BSI) within inpatient services and only two in community patients
receiving care from Oxleas services. In both cases there were no lapses of care
identified. There were three cases of Clostridium Difficile – two of these
infections were in the same patient who was in a prison healthcare inpatient
unit. Post Infection Reviews (PIR)’s were carried out for both patients and
identified learning in relation to antibiotic prescribing and the requirement to
take samples in a timely manner.

•

Very low levels of outbreaks with one reported diarrhoea and vomiting
outbreak on an acute mental health inpatient ward throughout the year.

•

The unannounced audit programme for year was completed with 118 audits
completed. Unannounced audits by the Infection Prevention Team identified
many areas of good practice in particular; management of waste, transportation
of specimens, vaccine storage and kitchens. There were some areas of practice
identified where compliance was lower such as decontamination of patient
equipment, patient beverage bays and the cleanliness of toys. Progress has
been made in these areas and will continue throughout the following year.

•

Monthly hand hygiene and mattress auditing by services has continued
throughout the year. The average response rate was 78% for hand hygiene and
84% for mattress audits. There was a change in the process for submitting hand
hygiene audits within the year which accounted for the reduction in the number
of teams submitting. There will be a focus on improving further on response
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rates in the coming year for both audits. Average compliance rates were very
good with an average of 96% being achieved for hand hygiene 97% for
mattresses.

Purpose
(To select
purpose, click on
relevant choice
for drop down
box)

•

Training activity was consistently high in the year with the 80% target for
mandatory infection control training being achieved and exceeded throughout
the whole year by all directorates. Additional training for individual teams has
been provided by the Infection Prevention Team and has also been provided on
the Student Nursing programme and for the Infection Prevention champions.

•

All policies were reviewed by their review date or reviewed to incorporate
changes necessary due to changes in National guidance or legislation. One new
policy – Measles - was formulated in May 2018 in response to an increased
number of cases within the South London region.

•

In the last year two audits of antimicrobial usage across the inpatient areas
were carried out. The audits highlighted that overall the prescribing of
antibiotics is low across the Trust, that there is good compliance with following
the trust guidance and documentation of allergy status. There are currently
inconsistencies with documentation of the review/stop date and where the
indication is documented.

•

Oxleas continues to work jointly with Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust, Lewisham
CCG, Greenwich CCG and Bexley CCG on a plan to reduce GNCBI’s. Progress has
been made with the catheter passport and the standardisation of catheter
products. Bexley Community services have been successful in securing funding to
support the Trial Without catheter Process.

•

Overall cleanliness monitoring scores were consistently high throughout the year in
the majority of areas. The IPT continue to support the cleanliness monitoring
programme. There was a tender process within the year for the Soft Facilities
Management services for Oxleas that includes the cleaning service. This resulted in
ISS securing the tender from April 2019.

•

Water Safety is reported quarterly through the IPCC and the Head of IPC attends
the quarterly Water Safety Group meetings. The trust has a Water Safety Plan
which details the organisational and operational controls and governance. This
document was newly formulated in the year and addresses the shortfalls in some of
the previous documentation. No known cases of ill health have been associated
with the Trust water supplies over the past year.
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√
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The infection prevention service has maintained a focus on the core activities of
surveillance, monitoring and control of infection over the past year. Excellent progress
was made against the objectives in work plan for 2018-2019 with the majority of
objectives completed. The infection prevention and control work plan for 2019-2020 is
in place and focuses on the core issues of audit, policy development and review,
maintaining compliance with the Health and Social care Act 2008, and other national
guidance and legislation.
Specific objectives achieved in the year have included:
•

Maintaining a low level of infection in relation to mandatory reportable alert
organisms. There were zero cases of MRSA, MSSA or E. Coli bloodstream infection
(BSI) within inpatient services and only two in community patients receiving care
from Oxleas services. In both cases there were no lapses of care identified. There
were three cases of Clostridium Difficile – two of these infections were in the same
patient who was in a prison healthcare inpatient unit. Post Infection Reviews (PIR)’s
were carried out for both patients and identified learning in relation to antibiotic
prescribing and the requirement to take samples in a timely manner.

•

Very low levels of outbreaks with one reported diarrhoea and vomiting outbreak on
an acute mental health inpatient ward throughout the year.

•

The unannounced audit programme for year was completed with 118 audits
completed. Unannounced audits by the Infection Prevention Team identified many
areas of good practice in particular; management of waste, transportation of
specimens, vaccine storage and kitchens. There were some areas of practice
identified where compliance was lower such as decontamination of patient
equipment, patient beverage bays and the cleanliness of toys. Progress has been
made in these areas and will continue throughout the following year.

•

Monthly hand hygiene and mattress auditing by services has continued throughout
the year. The average response rate was 78% for hand hygiene and 84% for mattress
audits. There was a change in the process for submitting hand hygiene audits within
the year which accounted for the reduction in the number of teams submitting.
There will be a focus on improving further on response rates in the coming year for
both audits. Average compliance rates were very good with an average of 96% being
achieved for hand hygiene 97% for mattresses.

•

Training activity was consistently high in the year with the 80% target for mandatory
infection control training being achieved and exceeded throughout the whole year
by all directorates. Additional training for individual teams has been provided by the
Infection Prevention Team and has also been provided on the Student Nursing
programme and for the Infection Prevention champions.

•

All policies were reviewed by their review date or reviewed to incorporate changes
necessary due to changes in National guidance or legislation. One new policy –
Measles - was formulated in May 2018 in response to an increased number of cases
within the South London region.
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•

In the last year two audits of antimicrobial usage across the inpatient areas were
carried out. The audits highlighted that overall the prescribing of antibiotics is low
across the Trust, that there is good compliance with following the trust guidance and
documentation of allergy status. There are currently inconsistencies with
documentation of the review/stop date and where the indication is documented.

•

Oxleas continues to work jointly with Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust, Lewisham CCG,
Greenwich CCG and Bexley CCG on a plan to reduce GNCBI’s. Progress has been made
with the catheter passport and the standardisation of catheter products. Bexley
Community services have been successful in securing funding to support the Trial
Without catheter Process.

•

Overall cleanliness monitoring scores were consistently high throughout the year in the
majority of areas. The IPT continue to support the cleanliness monitoring programme.
There was a tender process within the year for the Soft Facilities Management services
for Oxleas that includes the cleaning service. This resulted in ISS securing the tender
from April 2019.

•

Water Safety is reported quarterly through the IPCC and the Head of IPC attends the
quarterly Water Safety Group meetings. The trust has a Water Safety Plan which details
the organisational and operational controls and governance. This document was newly
formulated in the year and addresses the shortfalls in some of the previous
documentation. No known cases of ill health have been associated with the Trust water
supplies over the past year.
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1.

INFECTION PREVENTION AND CONTROL ARRANGEMENTS

Organisation of Infection prevention and Control
Infection prevention and Control resources
1wte - Head of Infection Prevention and Control
1.4wte - Infection Prevention and Control Nurses
Microbiology resources
The trust has a Service Level Agreement with Lewisham & Greenwich Healthcare Trust
for Consultant microbiological support and microbiology laboratory Services.
Reporting Arrangements
The Director of Infection Prevention and Control (DIPC) meets regularly with the Chief
Executive and the Medical Director. The DIPC is the chair of the Infection Prevention and
Control Committee and the Trust Patient Safety Group, and is the Board lead for
infection prevention.
Infection Prevention and Control Committee
The Trust maintains effective infection prevention and control arrangements through a fully
constituted Infection Prevention and Control Committee which meets quarterly and reports
directly to the Trust Patient Safety group and the Performance and Quality Assurance Group.
The Trust Patient Safety Group receives the minutes of the Infection Prevention and Control
Committee and both groups receive the annual Infection Prevention and Control Report. The
Trust Patient Safety Group reports by exception to the Performance and Quality Assurance
Committee. The Performance and Quality Assurance Committee minutes are received at the
Board of Directors meetings and the Board of Directors receive a monthly update from the
Director of Nursing which includes a section on infection prevention.
The Infection Prevention and Control Committee produce an annual work plan which
describes objectives, actions and how these provide assurance against strategic objectives /
priorities, and external indicators.
The Infection Prevention and Control Committee maintain a Risk Register, which includes
controls, assurances and gaps in control.
Infection Prevention and Control team
The Trust Infection Prevention Team has the primary responsibility for providing advice and
expertise in all aspects of infection prevention and is responsible for the core services of
surveillance, monitoring, prevention and control of infection across the trust. The Infection
Prevention Team is led by the Head of Infection Prevention who reports directly to the DIPC.
The Infection Prevention Team aim to provide an infection prevention and control advisory
service to the trust, staff, patients and visitors and provide management and control of
outbreaks, staff training and be key in the formation, implementation and monitoring of all
infection prevention control policies. The Infection Prevention Team conducts day-to-day
activities both proactive and reactive to maintain effective infection prevention and control.
The Infection Prevention Team is available Monday- Friday during normal office hours which
are 9-5. Outside of these hours the Trust has 24 hour access to a Consultant Microbiologist
at the local acute hospital. In addition to this Trust staff are able to call the South London
Health Protection Team at Public Health England out of hours for serious public health
issues, such as a large outbreak or single case of serious infection (bacterial meningitis).

5
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INFECTION
PREVENTION
AND
Infection
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CONTROL INFRASTRUCTURE
Director of Infection
Prevention and Control
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Infection Prevention and
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Head of Infection
Prevention and Control

Infection Prevention Team

Matrons

Infection Prevention
Nurses
Infection Prevention
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2.

SURVEILLANCE STATISTICS

Surveillance information for Oxleas patients is obtained via email or telephone calls from
the infection prevention team in the acute trust that processes samples via a service
level agreement (Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust, Kings College Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust). Oxleas Infection Prevention Team has no direct access to surveillance
information.
Mandatory surveillance and reporting on the Data Capture System (DCS)
The acute trusts are responsible for ensuring that all specimens tested and those that
meet the inclusion criteria for Oxleas patients are reported on the Data Capture System.
The following specimens are mandatorily reportable:
MRSA Bacteraemia
The following MRSA positive blood cultures must be reported to PHE:
• All cases of MRSA bacteraemia caused by S. aureus resistant to meticillin,
oxacillin, cefoxitin or Flucloxacillin.
MSSA Bacteraemia
The following MSSA positive blood cultures must be reported to PHE:
• All cases of MSSA bacteraemia caused by S. aureus which are not resistant to
meticillin, oxacillin, cefoxitin or Flucloxacillin i.e. not subject to MRSA reporting.
Gram –negative Bacteraemia
Blood cultures positive for the following organisms must be reported to PHE:
• All laboratory confirmed cases of E. Coli bacteraemia
• All laboratory confirmed cases of Klebsiella spp. bacteraemia
• All laboratory confirmed cases of P. aeruginosa bacteraemia
Clostridium Difficile Infection
Any of the following defines a C. difficile infection in patients aged 2 years and above
and must be reported to PHE:
• Diarrhoeal stools (Bristol Stool types 5-7) where the specimen is C. difficile toxin
positive
A Post Infection Review (PIR) will be carried out for any Oxleas patient who is diagnosed
with a bacteraemia (MRSA, MSSA, E. Coli) or toxin positive Clostridium Difficile.
Rates of mandatory reportable alert organisms for April 2018 - March 2019
Alert Organisms – New cases
Timescale

Clostridium Difficile

E.coli bacteraemia

MSSA
bacteraemia

MRSA
bacteraemia

April – June 18
(Quarter 1)
July – Sept 18
(Quarter 2)
Oct – Dec 18
(Quarter 3)
Jan – March 19
(Quarter 4)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2 (1 not reported
until Feb 19)
1

0

0

0

0

0
(1BCCG, 1 GCCG)
0
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Summary of Clostridium Difficile Infections
Service

Background

Likely Source of CDI

HMP Belmarsh
Case 1

Patient refused colonoscopy in the past,
likely underlying disease, and has
abdominal distension. Patient
developed suspected chest infection
and was prescribed Co-Amoxiclav
500mg TDS for 7 days. Patient
developed diarrhoea.
Patient unwell with unknown source.
Co-Amoxiclav 250mg BD prescribed as
patient had raised eGFR. After 4 days
antibiotics stopped as it was recognised
that this contributed to previous C. Diff.
Patient was transferred to QEW due to
renal failure and tested positive again
for C. Diff
Patient admitted to 2 older adult wards.
In both wards patient had episodes of
diarrhoea and was treated with
antibiotics for UTI. Patient did not have
a stool sample sent until March 19 –
patient was admitted in Sept 18 to first
ward.

Antibiotic use and
probable underlying
disease

HMP Belmarsh
Case 2 – same
patient as case 1

Holbrook Ward

Probable underlying
disease and antibiotic
use. Patient had two
prescriptions of CoAmoxiclav in a short
period of time
Patient could have been
a carrier of C. Diff
Use of antibiotics for
treatment of UTI’s

Factors (avoidable or unavoidable)
that could have contributed to incident
Patient refused to undergo further
investigation of abdominal distension
and bowel issues.

Lessons learned/action taken

Prescription of Co-Amoxiclav - not
recommended first line treatment.

Email from IPT to prescribing
Doctor.

Patient refused to undergo further
investigation of abdominal distension
and bowel issues.

GP service for HMP Belmarsh
contacted by IPT – GPs
reminded of the requirement
to follow Oxleas guidelines.
Issue raised at Prison PSG
meeting and at GP contract
meeting.

2nd Prescription of Co-Amoxiclav in a
short space of time

Oxleas Antimicrobial
guidelines to be followed for
all antibiotic prescriptions.

Patient could have been treated earlier IPT provided training to older
if stool sample had been taken earlier
adult ward and met with
Ward manager and medical
team to discuss issues.
Stool charts re-implemented
on ward.
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Summary of MRSA Blood Stream Infections – Attributed to the CCG
Service

Background

Likely Source of BSI

Bexley CCG –
Oxleas Podiatry

Patient with toe wounds had suspected
infection in RIGHT toe – request for
antibiotics from podiatry to GP. Patient
went abroad for 4 weeks and on return
presented to ED with infected LEFT toe
and blood culture positive for MRSA
Patient with type 1 diabetes with
associated neuropathy and limb
ischaemia and CKD – 20% renal function
presented to ED where blood culture
was positive for MRSA.
Patient

Wound to LEFT toe
obtained whilst patient
was abroad.

Greenwich CCG –
Oxleas
Community
nursing and
podiatry

Chronic foot ulcer –
likely to have been
chronically colonised
with MRSA – poor
healing due to diabetic
neuropathy

Factors (avoidable or unavoidable)
that could have contributed to incident
Wound to LEFT toe obtained abroad –
patient not able to receive appropriate
treatment.

Lessons learned/action taken

Patient has frequent interventions
from a variety of healthcare services
including specialist acute hospitals and
community services

No lessons learned or action
required for Oxleas

Podiatrist did not take a swab
of the RIGHT toe when
requesting antibiotics,
although this did not impact
on this MRSA BSI incident.

9
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Outbreaks
Between April 2018 and March 2019 there was one reported outbreak of infection. The
outbreak was assumed to be Norovirus based on an assessment of symptoms and no
evidence to suggest an alternative infection. The ward was closed to admissions, transfers
and discharges. Throughout the outbreak the service completes an outbreak monitoring
form which is emailed daily to a member of the infection prevention team.
Clinical area

Betts Ward, Green
parks House

Date

09/05/2018

Nature of
outbreak
Diarrhoea &
vomiting

Number of patients and
staff affected
Patients
Staff
8
2

Ward closure
days
5

10
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3.

INCIDENT DATA

Incidents
Between April 2018 and March 2019 there were 36 reported incidents in relation to
infection prevention and control. As the table below shows the majority of reported
incidents were low level incidents with the level three incidents being for reportable or
notifiable infections or outbreaks. All infection prevention and control incidents
reported are followed up by a member of the Infection Prevention Team.
Category of Incident

Patient diagnosed/suspected
to have a reportable or
notifiable infection
Contact tracing required
following exposure to
infection
Exposure to potentially
infected body fluids
Outbreak of infection

Number Notes
of
incidents
2 TB infections, 1 IGAS, 3 C. diff and 2 MRSA BSI
8

2

Contract tracing required following 2 separate incidents of
exposure to measles

4

Staff members exposure to body fluids of patients

1

Outbreak of diarrhoea and vomiting

Decontamination/cleanliness

5

Inappropriate transfer from
acute hospital
Clinical waste

3

Range of issues including cleanliness of environment and
patient equipment
Patients discharged from hospital with a cannula in situ

7

Various issues involving disposal of waste

Patient diagnosed/suspected
to have an infectious illness
Hand hygiene

4

Patients with Shingles, MRSA, head lice, impetigo

1

Soap dispenser not refilled

Other

2

Freezer contents defrosting, patient attempting to pierce
ear.

11
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4.

INOCULATION INJURIES

4.1

Inoculation injury review

In September 2018 the Infection Prevention team carried out a review of inoculation
injuries that occurred from April 2018 as there was concern that these incidents were
not being adequately documented or followed up. This review highlighted the following:
•
•

•

Inoculation injuries were often not being reported in the correct category on Datix.
They are recorded as accidents/violence & aggression/
The information provided on the Datix was very limited – follow up action such as
advice/treatment in A&E and follow up with Occupational Health was not being
recorded or if the source patient has been asked to consent for blood testing for
BBV’s.
Only 1 staff member had completed the inoculation injury investigation form and
uploaded it to Datix, therefore learning to prevent re-occurrence was not
happening.

Action following the review:
• The inoculation injury investigation form was reviewed and updated
• The IPT made contact with all staff members reporting inoculation injuries since
April and completed the updated investigation form and uploaded to Datix
• All the Datix reports were been altered to the correct classification and level and
required actions have been allocated to managers on Datix
• The inoculation injury policy was reviewed and updated
• A trust wide audit for the use of medicinal sharps was completed.
Main lessons learnt/actions from the reported injuries:
• Staff to ensure that the correct equipment (community sharps disposal bins) are
always available and taken on community visits.
• Managers must share the BBV and inoculation injury risk assessment with team
members
• All staff should familiarise themselves with the inoculation injury policy
• Retractable needles for insulin pens must be used for all inpatients and community
patients who are not completely self-administering.
• Patients must have their insulin administered either in a treatment room or in their
bedroom – insulin pens must not be handed over the hatch to patients in the
communal area.
• Staff must approach all source patients for consent for BBV testing following an
inoculation injury.
The classification of an inoculation injury was changed from being a Health & Safety incident
to an Infection prevention incident. This was to ensure that in the future the IPT is
immediately informed and can see allocated actions etc. Also for all inoculation injuries
member of the IPT will contact the staff member concerned, complete the investigation
form, upload it to Datix and allocate actions where required.

12
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4.2

Inoculation Injuries April 2018 – March 2019

Throughout the year from April 2018 – March 2019 there were 24 inoculation injuries
reported on Datix, 20 of those were with a needle or other sharp instrument, 4 were
human bite/scratch injuries. Lessons learnt from the injuries included:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Sharps bins must be carried in a transportation box when visiting patients’
homes.
Team managers must ensure that staff are aware of the Blood borne Virus &
Inoculation injury risk assessment.
Consent should be sought from the source patient following an inoculation injury
to test for HIV, Hep B and Hep C.
Clinical staff to ensure they are aware of the requirements of the inoculation
injury policy.
Podiatrists to ensure a blade flask is at close proximity at all times during
procedures.
Only retractable insulin pen needles (BD Autoshield) should be used in inpatient
services.
Insulin should only be administered in a treatment room or the patient’s
bedroom with no other patients present.
Patients self-administering insulin should do it separately from the main
medication round to enable staff to fully supervise.
Sharps bins must be in close proximity to staff at all times during procedures.
Contractors need to be aware of the procedure for dealing with spilled sharps in
the waste enclosure.
Needles with safety devices need to be ordered for all procedures that they are
available for.
Staff to be aware that they must go to an A&E department following an
inoculation injury not an Urgent Care Centre.
Staff to be aware that they must make an appointment with Occupational Health
following all inoculation injuries.

For all the above incidents lessons learnt were allocated as actions on Datix and team
training and awareness of the inoculation injury policy provided by the Infection
Prevention Team where necessary.

13
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5.

TRAINING AND EDUCATION

Mandatory Training
Infection prevention and control is included as one of the trusts mandatory training
requirements. It is currently mandatory for all staff to complete infection control
training on a three yearly basis. Staff can access infection prevention and control training
via E learning on the NHS Learn website or by attending one of the face to face sessions
that are run by the Infection Prevention Team. Completing either session fulfils the
mandatory training requirement.
Mandatory Training figures up to end of March 2019 indicate that compliance was at
95%. All directorates were above the 80% target for compliance throughout the year.
Directorate
ALD
Bexley
Bromley
Child & Adolescent MHS
Children & young people service
Corporate
Forensics
Greenwich
Prisons

Required

Completed

Average %
Compliance Rate
7
133
95%
32
602
95%
24
344
93%
15
185
93%
16
574
97%
12
344
97%
10
353
97%
45
774
95%
23
271
92%
Overall compliance rate
95%

Ward and Team based Training
Numerous ad hoc training sessions have been provided to staff in their clinical areas.
These have been requested by individual wards usually in response to changes in
infection control policies, or as a result of incidents of infection.
Student Nurse Programme
Infection Prevention and control training is provided on a rolling programme of training
for Oxleas nursing students. These sessions cover similar issues as the mandatory
training but include more in depth awareness of specific infections and nursing
responsibilities in relation to cleanliness and decontamination.
Infection Prevention Champions
The Infection Prevention team provided individual training and support sessions for the
infection prevention champions. Some teams requested quarterly sessions. All
champions had at least one training session throughout the year.
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6.

DEVELOPMENT AND REVIEW OF POLICIES

There is a comprehensive collection of infection prevention and control policies that can
be accessed by staff on the Trust intranet.
All policies are developed and reviewed by the Head of Infection Prevention and Control
using relevant evidence from research or national guidance and ratified by the Infection
Prevention and Control Committee.
The following policies were reviewed in the year April 2018 - March 2019, with one new
policy – Measles policy - which was formulated in July 2018 in response to updated
guidance from Public Health England and an increase in numbers of suspected and
confirmed cases of measles within the local Boroughs.

Policy
Care of the Deceased – IC precautions
Chickenpox & Shingles
Standard Infection Control Precautions
Measles Policy
ANTT Policy
Influenza Policy
Management of Laundry Policy
Carbapenem resistant Organisms – Non
acute toolkit
Tuberculosis Policy
Meticillin Staphylococcus Aureus
Infection Prevention and Control Policy
Use of FFP3 Respirators

Review Date
July 2018
July 2018
July 2018
New policy
Oct 2018
Oct 2018
Oct 2018
Oct 2018

Date ratified at
IPCC
th
12 July 2018
12th July 2018
12th July 2018
12th July 2018
10th Oct 2018
10th Oct 2018
10th Oct 2018
10th Oct 2018

Lead
Head of IPC
Head of IPC
Head of IPC
Head of IPC
Head of IPC
Head of IPC
Head of IPC
Head of IPC

January 2019
January 2019
January 2019
January 2019

16th Jan 2019
16th Jan 2019
16th Jan 2019
16th Jan 2019

Head of IPC
Head of IPC
Head of IPC
Head of IPC
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7.

ANTIMICROBIAL STEWARDSHIP

The use of antibiotics continues to be an important factor for antimicrobial resistance
among pathogenic and commensal bacteria, posing a major problem in public health
due to the high possibility of antibiotic failure. In January 2019, the BMJ reported a
study stating that up to 25% of antibiotic prescriptions could be inappropriate. A study
published in February 2019 in the BMJ showed that delaying antibiotics in people over
the age of 65 with a urinary infection could increase their chances of sepsis. The UK
government’s 5 year National action plan on antimicrobial resistance published at the
beginning of this year, aims to strengthen antibiotics by providing prescribers with real
time data on patient level prescribing and resistance during consultations.
Trust wide Antimicrobial Audit
Two audits of antimicrobial prescribing were carried out in the year which focused on
collecting information on the following aspects of prescribing antimicrobials:
• Number of patients on a ward prescribed an antimicrobial
• Number of antimicrobials prescribed per patient
• Recording of allergy status
• Recording of review/stop dates
• Recording of provisional diagnosis/indication
• Adherence to guidelines
• Appropriate Antibiotic duration
July 2018 Audit
Key points:
• Data collected between 16th – 20th July 2018
• 27 wards completed the audit
• 19 patients were prescribed an antimicrobial
• 6 out of the 19 prescriptions were initiated prior to admission to Oxleas and
were therefore excluded from the survey.
Summary of July 2018 Antimicrobial Audit against NICE Standards of Responsible
Antimicrobial Prescribing
Standard
Rating
Comments
1. Documented allergy
100%
Allergy box completed for all
status
2. Documented indication
100%
Indication was documented in all cases.
In 54% of case indication was
documented on both the medication
chart and Rio.
3. Adherence to guidelines
100%
In all cases adherence was in line with
guidance or documentation of reason
for deviation was evident.
4. Appropriate antibiotic
92%
One prescription was not in line with
duration
guidelines for duration with no
documented reason.

16

133

5. Documented review/stop 77%
This is a slight improvement on years
date
audit, although target is 100%
To summarise, in the point prevalence survey, 19 patients in 27 wards were prescribed a
total of 23 oral antibiotics for a variety of infections.
In conclusion, there is good compliance in certain areas but there still remains room for
improvement especially regarding adherence to the stop/review date, strict adherence
to the antimicrobial guidelines and ensuring antibiotic durations are appropriate.

February 2019 Audit
Key points:
• Data collected between 11th – 25th February 2019
• 26 wards completed the audit
• 31 patients were prescribed an antimicrobial with 3 patients taking 2 antibiotics
each
• 8 out of the 34 prescriptions were initiated prior to admission to Oxleas and
were therefore excluded from the survey.
Summary of February 2019 Antimicrobial Audit against NICE Standards of Responsible
Antimicrobial Prescribing
Standard
Rating
Comments
1. Documented allergy
97%
Allergy box completed for all but one
status
patient. Target is 100%.
2. Documented indication
92%
For 2 patients, the indication was not
recorded on RiO or the drug chart. In
42% of cases, the indication was
documented in both RiO and drug chart
compared to 54% last year, so a drop in
compliance.
3. Adherence to guidelines
100%
For 2 prescriptions, the antibiotic
indication was not recorded so
adherence to guidelines could not be
determined and these prescriptions
were excluded from this audit standard.
Therefore guideline standard is 100% for
this audit and the previous audit.
4. Appropriate antibiotic
73%
Previous audit showed 92% compliance
duration
with appropriate antibiotic duration so
this represents a drop in this standard.
5. Documented review/stop 73%
In the previous audit compliance was
date
77%, so there has been a slight drop in
compliance.
To summarise, in the point prevalence survey, 31 patients in 26 wards were prescribed a
total of 34 oral antibiotics for a variety of infections.

17

134

In conclusion, there is good compliance in certain areas but there still remains room for
improvement especially regarding adherence to the stop/review date, and ensuring
antibiotic durations are appropriate.

Recommendations from the audit
1.

The summary report should be widely circulated to all areas and to all staff
involved in the care of any patient prescribed antibiotics. This audit has
demonstrated a slight reduction in compliance with documenting allergy status,
stop/review date and indication. However, there was a 19% drop in appropriate
antibiotic duration.

2.

Start Smart and Focus prescribing guidance cards, outlining the key antimicrobial
prescribing standards, to be continued to be issued to all doctors at induction.

3.

It is recommended that this audit is repeated in September 2019
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8.

REDUCING GRAM NEGATIVE BLOODSTREAM INFECTIONS

In April 2017 the Secretary of State for health launched an ambition to reduce
healthcare associated Gram-negative infections by 50% by 2021. It is estimated that
GNBSI’s contributed to approximately 5,500 NHS patient deaths in 2015. Despite a
decrease in MRSA BSI’s and CDI rates there has been an increase in GNBSI’s in particular
E. coli BSI. From April 2017 national reporting of all E. Coli BSI’s became mandatory. This
was extended to Klebsiella species and Pseudomonas aeruginosa in September 2018.
Oxleas are jointly working with Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust, Lewisham CCG,
Greenwich CCG and Bexley CCG on a plan to reduce GNCBI’s. This project is being
supported by the Health Innovation Network and as the enhanced sentinel surveillance
programme shows that the most common source of infection is the urogenital tract our
focus is on reducing and effectively treating urinary tract infections with a particular
focus on reducing indwelling long-term urinary catheters.
In order to do this as a group we are focusing on:
• Developing a South London Catheter Passport
• Standardising the use of products used in catheter care including catheters
(reducing the use of silver), securement devices, valves, drainage bags.
• Reviewing and implementing the catheter care bundle and updating care plans
• Implementing a Trial Without Catheter process in Bexley and Greenwich
The group currently meet bi-monthly; progress has been made this year with the
following:
•
•
•
•

Completion of the South London Catheter passport – Administration issues such
as printing costs etc. to be agreed before implementation this year.
Standardisation of products has moved forward with presentations from clinical
companies on new catheters. Decision to be made following a trial at Lewisham
hospital this year.
Catheter care bundle has been updated – paper document currently in use –
scheduled to be added to Rio in September 2019 with the ability to produce
reports from ifox when implemented.
The Bexley Directorate secured additional funding from Bexley CCG to recruit to
two nursing posts to implement the Trial Without Catheter process. This
commenced in February 2019 and the progress will be reported through the
IPCC.
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9.

INFLUENZA CAMPAIGN

As in previous years the Trust had a planned programme for the vaccination of
employees against Influenza which began in May 2018 with the first meeting of the Flu
Steering Group.
Highlights of the 2018/19 campaign
Summary of approach
• All directorates held their own launch events during late September.
•

Every directorate had a lead nurse who coordinated their local campaign,
arranging clinics, and drop in’s at meetings.

•

Monthly planning meetings held, chaired by Jane Wells, and well attended by the
lead nurses for all areas.

•

The Ox had a dedicated flu page, and a weekly story on the carousel, and
advertised the clinics. There was inter-directorate competition which supported
the uptake in some areas. There was also competitions and ‘jab for a jab’
campaign.

•

Trust wide communication included emails, and text messages at the beginning
of the campaign.

Incentives
• Directorates that achieved 35% were entered into a draw for some-one to win
an iphone 8 or vouchers.
• In celebration of the 70th birthday of the NHS every 70th clinician who had their
vaccination received a £10.00 voucher.
Performance
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Learning from the campaign
What worked well
• Roaming clinics rather than static clinics
• Staff incentives- good also that we had the £10 vouchers followed by the £100
vouchers. Monthly steering group meetings kept us on track.
• Periodic email prompts to staff, advising them that vaccines are still available
• Admin support to keep the spreadsheet up to date
• Good support from the communications team.
• To some extent, having the directorate breakdown of staff that still needed to be
vaccinated.
What didn’t work so well
• Static clinics, waiting for staff to come to us for clinics advertised rather than
roaming – still had to walk around to find staff as they are busy.
• ESR not pulling the correct information for the directorate breakdown
• ESR not updating correctly, leading to the spreadsheet being inaccurate.
• Difficulty in reading staff names on the consent forms.
• Not having staff names on the declined forms in order that these could be
recorded.
What can we do differently for 2019/20 campaign?
• Denominator – only include those that we have to in reporting – reality check
our denominator methodology again against other providers – in progress
• Flu survey – quality team (repeating 2017 survey of staff views) – in progress
• Consent forms – at start of programme send consent forms to all staff by e mail
and ask them to indicate that they want vaccine then arrange appointments on
their site
• Consider employing bank staff with lists of staff to vaccinate
• Continue flu champion roaming clinics
• Jabathon weeks – increase frequency and profile
• Occupational Health – consider a request to run clinics every day for flu by
appointment
• Directorates to continue to launch campaign with incentives and monitor
performance and tackle hot spots
• Encourage large meetings and events Sept, Oct and Nov for captive audience
• Myth bust and focus on patients holding staff to account in communications use of social media and technology
• IT pop ups need to go up much faster and earlier
• Directorate breakdown lists to be regularly shared with directors
• Admin support for data entry
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10.

AUDIT PROGRAMME

The Trust had an on-going infection prevention audit programme covering the year. The
services complete monthly hand hygiene and mattress auditing and the Infection
Prevention Team carry out unannounced audits in all clinical areas once a year.
Monthly Hand Hygiene Audits
The table below illustrates the rates of compliance and response rates for monthly hand
hygiene auditing across inpatient and community health services on a quarterly basis.
Monthly hand hygiene auditing is not performed in community mental health services as
there are significant issues in being able to observe hand hygiene as staff work primarily
in isolation. The audit tool requires staff to assess the suitability of the environment to
be able to wash hands effectively, i.e. if there are compliant hand wash sinks, if soap and
alcohol hand gel are available, if community hand hygiene packs are used etc. The
observation section of the audit requires staff to observe 4 staff members in terms of
their compliance with the hand hygiene policy i.e. bare below the elbows, technique etc.

April 2018– March
2019

Average Response
rate

Average
Compliance rate

Quarter 1

84%

96%

Quarter 2

80%

97%

Quarter 3

70%

96%

Quarter 4

74%

96%

The response rate was below the required 80% in both quarter three and four. This is
due to a change in the process for recording hand hygiene which changed from a paper
system to an electronic system – Snap which automatically closes on the last day of the
month. The compliance rate has remained consistently high throughout the year as the
graph below illustrates.

Hand hygiene Audit results
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40

Response rate
Compliance rate
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0
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Monthly Mattress integrity audits
The table below illustrates the rates of compliance and response rates for monthly
mattresses auditing within inpatient units. The audit tool requires all mattresses on a
ward to be checked every month for stains, tearing and wearing thin. The hand
compression test (to check that the mattress is fit for purpose and comfortable) is also
performed. The majority of mattresses fail the audit due to staining that cannot be
removed by cleaning or tears/rips/holes.
April 2018 – March
2019

Response rate

Compliance rate

No: mattresses
replaced

Quarter 1

86%

95%

34

Quarter 2

80%

97%

29

Quarter 3

87%

98%

23

Quarter 4

80%

99%

16

The response rate was consistently above 80% throughout the year per quarter although
there are individual months where the response rate is lower than this. There is room
for improvement. The number of mattresses that required replacing due to failing the
audit varied throughout the quarters.

Mattress Audits
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AUDITS COMPLETED BY THE INFECTION PREVENTION TEAM (UNANNOUNCED)
Inpatient wards/rehabilitation units
All inpatient wards/rehabilitation units were audited by the Infection Prevention Team
throughout the year. Overall compliance with standards was very good in relation to
transport of specimens, ward kitchens, clinical rooms, sharps management and waste
disposal. Compliance with standards for bathrooms & toilets, beverage bays, bedrooms
and decontamination of patient equipment was generally good although there are some
areas where practice could be improved.
Community clinics
Fifty two community clinics within mental health services and community health services
had an unannounced audit carried out by the Infection Prevention Team throughout the
year. Results were variable with some very good practice noted in relation to vaccine
storage and transportation, podiatry practice, transport of specimens, management of
sharps and hand hygiene. Compliance with standards in relation to environmental
cleanliness, decontamination of patient equipment and clinical rooms showed room for
improvement. Decontamination of toys was the area that achieved the lowest score
although there is an improvement on last year.
Day hospitals/services
Five day hospitals/services were audited within the year. Good compliance was noted
with hand hygiene, clinical rooms, patient toilets and waste disposal. Areas that require
some improvement include decontamination of patient equipment including sensory
rooms, management of sharps and environment and cleanliness. Decontamination of
toys was the area that achieved the lowest score.
Specialist services
ECT: The ECT Suite has an individual infection prevention audit tool. The ECT suite
achieved excellent compliance with all standards this year.
Hydrotherapy: The hydrotherapy pool has an individual audit tool. The hydrotherapy
pool achieved excellent compliance with standards with the exception of the
toilet/shower area which is consistent with last years’ audit scores. The IPT has met with
staff in relation to the monitoring of the changing areas and the requirement for
cleaning in between patient uses.
Dental Practices
Dental services are only provided in prison services. Due to difficulties in being able to
get access to the dental practices and the limited amount of time that they are open the
dental services are required to complete a self- assessment of their compliance with the
implementation of HTM 01-05: Decontamination in primary care dental practices. All
dental practices reported full compliance with standards.
Children’s centres & Health advice clinics
Twenty three Children’s centres and health advice clinics were audited. Standards were
good overall with similar issues in many areas that require improvement such as hand
hygiene, environment and cleanliness and issues with toilet facilities.
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Inpatient wards/residential areas
COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIRED STANDARDS
Time Period

Ward
kitchen

Beverage
bay

Clinical
room

Hand
hygiene

Sharps

Patient
equipment
& decon

Transport of
specimens

Waste
disposal

Sluice

Laundry
room/linen

Bedrooms

Toilets/
bathroom
/showers

Environment
and
cleanliness

No
Audits:

Quarter 1

92%

80%

86%

83%

84%

78%

93%

80%

90%

85%

85%

81%

86%

9

Quarter 2

86%

84%

84%

87%

88%

86%

95%

89%

N/A

91%

75%

88%

87%

7

Quarter 3

88%

79%

90%

84%

88%

86%

96%

88%

88%

84%

81%

77%

84%

9

Quarter 4
Annual
average

93%

75%

91%

80%

87%

86%

95%

86%

93%

85%

79%

81%

82%

6

90%

80%

88%

85%

87%

84%

95%

86%

91%

87%

80%

82%

85%

31

Vaccine
storage &
transport

Transport of
specimens

Community teams/clinics – Oxleas premises
COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIRED STANDARDS
Time Period

Lobby/
entrance

Toys

Pt
toilets

Baby
changing

Staff
kitchen

Clinical
room

Hand
hygiene

sharps

Podiatry
practice

Patient
equipment
& decon

Waste
disposal

No
Audits:

Environ
&
cleanliness

Quarter 1

88%

83%

87%

79%

84%

85%

89%

85%

90%

100%

88%

85%

84%

84%

5

Quarter 2

85%

50%

90%

93%

84%

85%

82%

87%

86%

98%

97%

82%

87%

78%

9

Quarter 3

84%

100%

86%

79%

80%

85%

87%

80%

N/A

100%

92%

87%

91%

80%

8

Quarter 4
Annual
average

86%

84%

91%

88%

84%

86%

89%

90%

N/A

97%

97%

90%

89%

83%

9

86%

80%

89%

85%

83%

85%

87%

86%

88%

99%

94%

86%

88%

82%

31
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Community teams/clinics – Non Oxleas Premises
COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIRED STANDARDS
Time period

Toys

Clinical
Room

Hand
Hygiene

Sharps

Podiatry
Practice

Vaccine
Storage &
transport

Transport
of
specimens

Patient
Equipment
& decon

Waste
disposal

Environ
&
cleanliness

No
Audits:

Quarter 1

94%

85%

81%

90%

79%

N/A

100%

84%

87%

88%

4

Quarter 2

67%

83%

87%

93%

84%

92%

100%

81%

93%

76%

8

Quarter 3

67%

83%

84%

93%

90%

N/A

100%

84%

90%

83%

7

Quarter 4
Annual
average

67%

84%

91%

86%

90%

92%

N/A

83%

85%

71%

2

76%

84%

86%

91%

86%

92%

100%

83%

89%

80%

21

Patient
equipment
& decon

Snoozelem/
sensory
room

Day Services
Time
period

COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIRED STANDARDS
Lobby/
entrance

Toys

Pt
toilets

Baby
changing

Main
Kitchen

Staff
kitchen

Clinical
room

Hand
hygiene

sharps

Waste
disposal

Environment
& cleanliness

No
audits:

Quarter 1

85%

66%

92%

86%

65%

80%

90%

81%

80%

77%

78%

93%

84%

2

Quarter 4
Annual
average

94%

N/A

87%

N/A

88%

90%

93%

88%

85%

82%

88%

97%

83%

3

90%

66%

90%

86%

77%

85%

91%

85%

83%

79%

83%

95%

84%

5
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ECT Suite
COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIRED STANDARDS
Clinical
area

Lobby/
entrance

ECT Suite
Woodlands

100%

Patient
toilets

Treatment
room

94%

Pt equipment &
decontamination

88%

90%

Hand
hygiene

100%

sharps

Waste disposal

100%

Recovery room

100%

86%

Linen

Total scores

Environment &
cleanliness

100%

94%

100%

Dental Practices
COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIRED STANDARDS
Clinical
area
HMP/YOI
Cookham
Wood
HMP
Isis
HMP
Thameside
HMP
Rochester
HMP
Belmarsh

Reception

Patient
toilets

Staff
kitchen

Prevention
of BBV
exposure

Decontamination

Environmental
design and
planning

Hand
Hygiene

Dental
Medical
devices

Personal
protective
equipment

Waste
disposal

Total
scores

78%

N/A

90%

90%

96%

90%

100%

100%

100%

92%

94%

N/A

N/A

N/A

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

N/A

N/A

N/A

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

N/A

N/A

100%

100%

85%

80%

100%

100%

91%

95%

N/A

N/A

N/A

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Hydrotherapy Pool
COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIRED STANDARDS
Clinical
area
Goldie Leigh

Hydrotherapy
Pool area

Patient toilet/ shower/
changing areas

89%

Patient toilet/ shower/
changing areas

77%

96%

Environment and
Cleanliness

Total
scores
87%

88%

Children’s Centres
COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIRED STANDARDS
Time period
Quarter 1
Quarter 2
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Annual average

Environment/
Cleanliness

Equipment &
Decontamination

Hand hygiene

Toilets & baby
change

Offensive waste
disposal

Management of
toys

No audits:

85%

94%

79%

83%

89%

90%

6

85%

90%

76%

78%

95%

83%

6

85%

99%

86%

81%

75%

100%

6

75%

92%

85%

87%

93%

N/A

5

83%

94%

81%

83%

88%

91%

23

28
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11.

RISK REGISTER

The risk register for infection prevention and control is reviewed every quarter at the
Infection Prevention Committee.
Throughout the year one risk was added to the risk register:
IPC12: There is limited learning from inoculation injuries as the investigation form is not
being completed and there are no actions being identified
IPCC Dates

Current risk rating

Discussion around mitigation

Agreed change to risk
rating

12th July 2018

No risks on risk
register

N/A

N/A

10th October 2018

Risk added in
August 2019

Risk to be tolerated
as all actions
completed and new
system put into place

3 x 3 (9) moderate

16th January 2019

No risks on risk
register

N/A

N/A

16th April 2019

No risks on risk
register

N/A

N/A

In April 2018 the following risk was tolerated and closed on the risk register due to
having a robust system in place and no consistent risks highlighted:
IPC11: If the trust does not have adequate strategies in place around antimicrobial
prescribing, there is a risk of inappropriate prescribing of antibiotics, which impacts on
patient safety and experience. There is also a risk of non-compliance with criterion 3 of
the Code of Practice.
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12.

CLEANLINESS

Oxleas NHS Trust has systems in place to ensure that all our healthcare premises are
suitable and fit for purpose.
Contracting arrangements
The Trust cleaning services were provided by external contractors.
• Oxleas Estate – Interserve
• Queen Mary’s Hospital and Eltham Community hospital – OCS
• Oxleas House –ISS (via SLA with Lewisham and Greenwich)
• Thameside Prison – In-house cleaning services
Monitoring arrangements
The Trust operates a robust monitoring system based on the National Standards of
Cleanliness (a framework in which to measure performance outcomes), this provides a
comparative framework within which hospitals can assess “technical” cleanliness along
with the option for peer review.
ISS, Interserve and OCS were required to self-monitor the performance of cleaning
services against agreed key performance indicators.
These were reported to the Trust on a monthly basis for analysis and challenged where
appropriate by the Estates and Facilities Team. In addition, cleanliness standards were
monitored and reported for all sites through the Quarterly Infection Control committee
and the results are escalated as appropriate.
Cleaning Schedules
Cleaning schedules have been developed in accordance with the National specification
for Cleanliness in the NHS April 2007. Each functional area is assigned one of four risk
categories according to its functionality.
Risk Level

Clinical Areas

Very High

Burns Unit, ITU/HDU, A&E, Neonatal, Theatres, and other areas
where invasive procedures are performed.

High

Wards, Sterile Services, Pharmacy, Public toilets and thoroughfares.

Significant

Pathology, Outpatients, laboratories and mortuary.

Low

Administrative areas, non-sterile supply areas, healthcare records.

Cleaning schedules were displayed in our communal clinical areas and provide staff,
visitors and service users with information on what services should be delivered, input
frequencies to expect and how to escalate non-compliance.
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PLACE
PLACE assessments are a system for assessing the quality of the patient environment
and include cleaning standards. The results are reported publicly to help drive
improvements in the care environment.
Cleaning
Score %

Food
Score
%

99.07%

91.74%

Org
Ward
Food
Food
Score % Score %

Privacy
Condition
&
Appearance
Dignity
&
Score % Maintenance
Score %

93.76%

95.85%

89.26%

97.83%

Dementia
Score %

Disability
Score %

96.67%

96.21%

The 2018 PLACE results above demonstrated a high level of compliance across the Trust
with the majority of categories including cleaning scoring above the national average
and noting improved or sustained practice in many areas. Areas identified (food) for
required improvement has been addressed through actions plans which are monitored
by the FM team.
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13.

WATER SAFETY

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust are required to ensure safe water is available for staff, patients
and visitors, and that adequate controls are in place to manage this. In addition the Trust
must comply with the following legislation, official guidance and NHS standards;
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002 (COSHH).
The Water Supply (Water Fittings) Regulations 1999.
Approved Code of Practice and Guidance L8: Legionaries’ Disease, The control of
Legionella bacteria in water systems.
HSG 274 Part 2: The control of legionella bacteria in hot and cold water systems;
HSG 274 Part 3: The control of legionella bacteria in other risk systems.
HTM 04-01: The Control of Legionella hygiene “safe” hot water, cold water and drinking
water systems (Part A and B);

In order to achieve all of this the Trust has drawn up a comprehensive Water Safety Plan
which details the organisational and operational controls and governance. This document is
new (approved in July), and addresses the shortfalls in some of the previous documentation.
No known cases of ill health have been associated with the Trust water supplies over the
past year.
Queen Mary’s Hospital A and B Blocks
There have been some issues with our main contractor, which we have been working closely
with in fully resolving, and good progress has been made. One of the issues centred on
Legionella sampling in A and B blocks; no samples had been taken for several months and
when numerous samples were taken in November and December they revealed a high
percentage (50%) contained the bacteria at varying levels. Note that no-one is believed to
have had any adverse health effects.
A weekly task group was immediately established, and disinfection of the entire system was
undertaken followed by resampling. The disinfection greatly reduced the numbers of
legionella positive water outlets, but further work was required including regular flushing to
ensure no stagnation was possible anywhere in the water system. Extensive investigations
in to the causes were undertaken, and over the next few months a large amount of remedial
work took place; by mid-February the system could be classified as back in acceptable
condition. Current only four outlets remain positive for Legionella; these are being
addressed via chlorination on the 14th July.
Some major changes to ensure the long term safety of the water at QMH are planned for the
next few months; these should all be completed by the end of 2019, and include the
decommissioning of the water tanks in A block and connecting the outgoing services to B
block tanks. Other work proposals include a fully pumped system to address poor pressure
and flow on the 4th floor, and possibly chlorine dioxide routine dosing treatment for the
entire supply to control any areas of residual contamination.
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Queen Mary’s Hospital other Blocks
The other buildings within QMH site have had no significant issues.
Other Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Sites
Whilst there have been no significant problems on the wider estate, a number of
temperature issues were identified during monitoring. The temperature issues have all
been addressed, mainly by adjustments and servicing, but the heating elements at Erith OPD
had to be replaced due to excessive scaling.
One temperature issue at Goldie Leigh Physio Departments was found to be due to incorrect
monitoring method rather than a defect in the system.
There was a single high Legionella result (from the base of the calorifier) at Green Parks
House which was promptly dealt with by Vinci; no other positive results were noted on this
site. The reason behind the high count is believed to have been partly due to the location of
the sampling point; a full chlorination followed by high temperature pasteurisation was
carried out promptly carried out and the subsequent resample was negative.
A number of the water risk assessments are also overdue for review; Rydon are putting in to
place a program with Dantek Environmental Services to ensure these are updated over the
next few months.
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Mental Health Legislation Annual Report 2018/19
Lisa Moylan, Head of Mental Health Act Legislation
Jane Wells, Director of Nursing
Public

The report reviews the use of the Mental Health Act (MHA) and Mental Capacity
Act (MCA) over 2018/19.
Nationally MHA data is collected by NHS Digital via the MHSDS. This dataset is not
submitted by all trusts and there are concerns over the accuracy of some
submissions. It is therefore not possible to compare trust information with that
captured across England and Wales.
Trust data shows a small increase in the use of the MHA compared to 2017/18.
Admission for assessment and treatment under Section 2 continues to be the
most frequently used section of the Act. In 2018/19 there were ten patients who
were detained using seven or more sections of the Act.
The trust monitors the gender and ethnicity of all people subject to the Act on a
monthly basis. This monitoring has identified that 7% of all detained patients do
not have an ethnicity recorded in RiO; this may be because the patient refused to
answer the question, or because it was not asked or unable to be asked. We have
set up a small working group to look at MHA and inequalities in more detail.
Snapshot data used this year identifies that, on average, 49% of the adult mental
health in-patient population are detained under the Act. Excluding all wards
except adult acute mental health (not PICU) increases the average to 57%.
Section 136 has been a main focus of monitoring since the changes to the
legislation were implemented in December 2017. There has been an increase in
the number of detentions which expire before an appropriate outcome can be
put in place. This is almost solely due to a lack of in-patient beds to admit people
who require further detention under the MHA. We have implemented an
escalation procedure to ensure that any potential section expiry is identified and
escalated to senior managers.
The report identifies a number of areas for future work/development:
1. Ethnicity recording is not completed for all patients. In 2018/19 it was not
possible to report on the ethnicity of 7% of people who had been detained. To
enable the trust to accurately monitor the use of the Act for people from BAME
backgrounds all Directorates should be monitoring the completion of ethnicity

151

data and following up where required.
2. In their inspection of the trust CQC found that the recording of mental capacity
assessments was not always consistent, and that some assessments were lacking
in detail. The trust should implement a regular audit of samples of records to
improve both consistency and detail. Clear guidance should be developed so that
staff are aware of the trust’s expectations regarding recording consent and
capacity.
3. The number of MHA incidents has increased in the last year. This may be due
to increased reporting or it could identify areas where practice requires
improvement. This should be monitored further.
4. Following the 2017 changes to s136 of the MHA the trust has experienced
some difficulties in completing assessments within the shortened time frame of
24 hours. This has been due to problems accessing beds for those people who
require admission following their assessment. An escalation protocol has been
developed to assist duty senior nurses in seeking help. The trust should monitor
the implementation of the protocol and continue to closely monitor any
difficulties with the operation of the Act in relation to this.
The Liberty Protection Safeguards will come into force in October 2020. In
preparation for this a new Code of Practice and Statutory instruments are
expected in 2019/20. The new arrangements may require additional staffing
within the organisation.
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Introduction
This report provides an overview of activity in relation to mental health legislation for the year
2018/19. It examines the data in relation to the Trust’s duties and responsibilities under the Mental
Health Act 1983 (MHA) and Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MCA), as well as external reports from NHS
Digital and the Care Quality Commission. Within Oxleas, the monitoring of procedures and practice
in relation to mental health legislation (MHL) is overseen by the mental health legislation oversight
group, chaired by Jane Wells, Director of Nursing.
The aim of the report is to provide the Trust Board with assurance that Oxleas is carrying out its
duties in relation to the legislation, and to bring to the Boards attention any areas of risk.

National use of the Mental Health Act 1983
NHS Digital publishes official statistics about the use of the MHA in England (excluding
Guardianship). The latest available data (published October 2018) covers the use of the MHA in
2017/18. The national data is collected via the MHSDS (mental health service data set), whilst NHS
digital has noted an improvement in data submissions for 2017/18, not all eligible organisations are
yet submitting data into the MHSDS and so the statistics remain incomplete.
The data for 2017/18 was based on submissions from 126 organisations (as opposed to 128 the
previous year and 172 the year before). In the year 2017/18 there were a total of 49,551 detentions
in NHS and independent hospitals, in addition there were 4,966 Community Treatment Orders
(CTOs) made. This data is incomplete as not all organisations have submitted complete data sets.
Due to the inaccuracy of the data collection it is not possible to identify any national trends in the
use of the MHA.

Regulatory monitoring of the Mental Health Act 1983
The Care Quality Commission publishes an annual report on its statutory monitoring of the MHA
which draws on the findings of Mental Health Act Reviewer visits and comprehensive inspections.
Their report on the use of the MHA in 2017/18 was published in February 2019.
CQC report that in the last year they have seen improvements in the quality of care planning and
how patients are involved in their care. However, they note that many of the wards they visit are
unsafe and provide poor quality care.
The key points raised by CQC in their report are that:
•

•
•
•

They found an improvement in evidence that patients were informed of their rights on
admission and that further attempts to explain rights to both detained patients and nearest
relatives were made. They also saw an improvement in evidence that information was being
provided in an appropriate format.
They saw an increase in evidence of patient involvement in care planning, but this remains
one of their greatest concerns.
They found an improvement in patients having physical health checks on admission and in
access to GP services.
There is an overall improvement in evidencing discharge planning.
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Review of the Mental Health Act 1983
The Independent Review of the MHA published its final report on 6 December 2018.
Titled Modernising the Mental Health Act; Increasing choice, reducing compulsion, the report makes
154 recommendations which are based upon four new principles which would become part of the
new Act:
1. Choice and autonomy;
Advance Choice Documents, Advocacy, Nominated Persons.
2. The use of least restriction;
Avoiding detention and supporting people in crisis, Care and treatment plans, Rights to
challenge, The right to an early challenge to compulsory treatment, The voluntary patient,
The interface with the MCA, Community Treatment Orders.
3. Therapeutic benefit;
Inpatient environments, Discharge, Aftercare.
4. The person as an individual;
Ethnic minorities, Children and young people, People with learning disabilities, autism or
both, The MHA and the criminal justice system.
The Government has accepted two of the recommendations – replacing nearest relatives with a
nominated person and introducing statutory Advance Choice Documents.
The Government have said it will issue a formal response to the review’s recommendations before
introducing a new Mental Health Bill setting out its proposed changes to the existing legislation.

Oxleas Mental Health Legislation Governance
The mental health legislation oversight group (MHLOG) meets bi-monthly. In 2017/18 the group:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Reviewed and ratified 9 policies relating to mental health legislation.
Received action plans following 10 CQC MHA visits.
Received reports on MHA activity including; numbers of new detentions per month,
compliance with s132, compliance with s58.
Received information about the use of s136 following the changes introduced in December
2017.
Developed a new s136 escalation protocol.
Maintained a risk register in relation to mental health legislation.

The MHLOG is chaired by the Executive Director of Nursing, it reports to the Trust Clinical
Effectiveness Group.

Oxleas use of the Mental Health Act 1983
Recording the use of the MHA within Oxleas is undertaken by the MHA Team using RiO.

New sections by type
The number of all new sections received by the trust has increased by 2% from the last year. Section
2 continues to be the most used form of detention and in 2018/19 accounted for 36% of all activity.
Section 136 is the second most used form of detention, although this showed a decrease of 17%
when compared to last year. The use of holding powers under section 5 has shown a 7% increase.
5
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Table 1 – number of unique sections

900
800
700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0

769
472
344

2017/18

271
7

4

2

104

2 27

47 15 7

7

2018/19

9 22

9

1

The 2119 new sections commenced in the year relate to 1199 individuals.
Table 2 – number of unique patients per section type
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Table 3 – repeat detentions
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1
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5

4
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3

2

1

Of the 1199 individuals 55% were only detained under one section type during the year. Ten patients
were detained under seven or more sections.
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New sections year on year
Over the past five years the trust has seen an increase in the use of the MHA. With the total
numbers of detentions received rising from 1755 in 2014/15 to 2119 in 2018/19. In the last two
years our monitoring of DoLS data has significantly improved. When all deprivations of liberty are
taken into account the trust has seen an increase in activity of 27% over the last five years.
Table 4

2500
2000
1500

MHA only

1000

Including DoLS

500
0

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Ethnicity of detained patients

The last census was undertaken in 2011. In 2014 the London Borough Data Partnership 1 was formed,
it provides population projection data for London using a variety of Local Authority sources. This
data has been used for comparison purposes for this report.
Table 2

75.31%

80.00%
70.00%

55.73%

60.00%
50.00%
40.00%
30.00%
20.00%
10.00%
0.00%

5.38%7.56%

20.62%
11.33%

Asian

Black

3.92%2.93%

7.27%
0.00%

7.08%
2.87%

Mixed

Not Known

Other

Detained patients

White

Borough population

The above table compares the GLA projections for Bexley, Bromley and Greenwich adults with the
ethnicity of each new detention.
A complete breakdown of all detained patients by specific recorded ethnicity can be found at
appendix 1.

Gender of detained patients
All detained patients have a gender recorded in RiO as either male or female. Overall, 56% of
detentions relate to male patients.
1

https://data.london.gov.uk/
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Table 63

Male %

100.00%

33.33%

46.86%

77.27%

88.89%

85.71%

71.43%

73.33%

70.21%

68.27%

59.96%

48.15%

50.00%

71.43%

50.00%

50.00%

58.43%

120.00%
100.00%
80.00%
60.00%
40.00%
20.00%
0.00%

51.11%

Gender of detained patients

Female %

Ethnicity and Gender of detained patients
In most ethnicity groups there are greater numbers of males detained, the only exception being
people who are of mixed race.
Table 7

Ethnicity by Gender
120.0%
100.0%
80.0%

43.3%

41.9%

56.7%
Asian

54.2%

47.4%

58.1%

45.8%

52.6%

Black
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Not Known

60.0%
40.0%
20.0%
0.0%

Male %

31.4%

68.6%

Other

45.6%

54.4%
White

Female %

Detained in-patient population (snapshot data)
The following tables are based on a snapshot of data taken on the first Friday of every month in
2018/19. They are provided to give an indication of the percentage of in-patients who are detained
under the MHA at any time. It is important to note that this data does not include those people who
are detained under a DoLS authorisation.
RiO has 396 in-patient beds for mental health services. Table 8 below shows the number of detained
patients who were allocated to a bed on the first Friday of every month.
Using this census data, the average number of detained patients allocated a bed is 254 per month.
This equates to 63% of the available beds.
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Table 8
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If forensic beds are excluded, the census data shows an average of 134 patients (49%) subject to the
MHA.
Table 9
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Including just adult acute wards increases the average percentage of detained patients to 57%.
Table10
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Oxleas monitoring of the Mental Health Act 1983
A monthly audit is undertaken which looks at two specific aspects of the MHA and reports
compliance with these to the executive team and Trust Board.
•
•

Evidence of an attempt to explain rights under the Act at the start of all new sections within
the month (Section 132).
Evidence that an appropriate authorisation is in place for medical treatment for mental
disorder at three months (Section 58).

In addition to the Board level reporting above the MHLOG receives reports about the use of the Act
within the trust.

Information for detained patients
Section 132 of the MHA places a duty on Hospital managers to ensure that patients who are
detained in hospital under the Act, or subject to a CTO understand information about how the Act
applies to them. It states that the information must be given orally and in writing.
In 2018/19 compliance with evidencing in RiO that an explanation of rights had been given is shown
in the table below.
Table 11

s132 compliance– month on month
Month

Apr18

May18

Jun18

Jul18

Aug18

Sep18

Oct18

Nov18

Dec18

Jan19

Feb19

Mar19

Total

%

96%

89%

97%

99%

97%

99%

97%

97%

97%

96%

97%

98%

97%

Compliance with section 58
Section 58 applies to the administration of medication for mental disorder once three months have
passed from the first date of administration. This is commonly referred to as the ‘three-month rule’.
When a patient has been receiving treatment for three months this treatment can only continue if
one of the following apply:
•
•

The Approved Clinician (AC) in charge of the treatment certifies that the patient has capacity
and consents to the treatment, or
A Second Opinion Appointed Doctor (SOAD) certifies that the treatment is appropriate and
either that
• The patient does not have the capacity to consent, or
• The patient has capacity to consent but has refused to do so

Treatment may also be given in an emergency under section 62.
Trust compliance with evidencing in RiO that an authorisation under s58 or s62 is shown in the table
below. It is important to note that for the consent to treatment, audit numbers are small.
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Table 12

s58 compliance– month on month
Month

Apr18

May18

Jun18

Jul18

Aug18

Sep18

Oct18

Nov18

Dec18

Jan19

Feb19

Mar19

Total

%

93%

100%

89%

100%

100%

95%

100%

93%

91%

100%

100%

92%

96%

Hospital managers power of discharge
The hospital managers’ power of discharge under s23 of the MHA is unique in that it can only be
exercised by non-executive directors or other people appointed for the purpose who are not
employees of the Trust.
Oxleas has 13 volunteers who have been appointed to undertake this duty. These MHA managers
(MHAMs) regularly receive information and training to enable them to undertake the role.
A detained patient 2 may apply to the Hospital Managers to request a review of their detention at
any time. Whenever a section of the MHA is renewed by the RC an automatic Hospital Manager
review is initiated.
In 2018/19 there were 198 Hospital Manager reviews of detention initiated. Of these 164 proceeded
to hearings. There were no Hospital Manager discharges from detention.

Specific MHA reviews undertaken
In 2018/19 the MHLOG requested the following specific audits:
Expired detentions
Monthly MHA audits noted an increasing number of expired sections. A review of all expired
sections from 1 April 2018 to 31 December 2018 was undertaken in an attempt to identify any
themes relating to these. The review found that in the nine months covered there were 62 sections
recorded as expired (although 6 of these were incorrectly recorded).
Table 13
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1
Bromley
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Greenwich
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The review concluded that there was an over-reliance by clinical staff on the MHL team to issue
reminders (and to chase these up). It was agreed that the visual control boards across all in-patient
services should be standardised and include a column for section expiry date.
A re- audit will be completed in 2019/20.
2

This does not include people detained under s135, 136, 5(2), 5(4), 35, 36, 38 or restricted patients
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Deaths of detained patients
In 2018/19 six patients died whilst under detention. Of these, two were subject to DoLS, the
remaining four were detained under the MHA. This review looked to assure the trust mortality
review group that all deaths were appropriately recorded, reported and where required
investigated. Assurance was provided on all counts.
Mental Health Act and inequalities
In 2017/18 a review of the gender and ethnicity of patients who were continuously detained for
three months was undertaken. The review noted that, as is the case nationally, people from BAME
backgrounds were disproportionately subjected to detention under the Act; this disproportionate
representation was amplified further for some groups over time.
A MHA and inequalities sub group of the MHLOG has been set up to further look at how the MHA is
used and to try to understand some of the factors that may impact on the experience of people from
BAME backgrounds.

Mental Health Act incidents

The tables below show the number of MHA incidents reported in the year 2018/19 3. The greatest
number of incidents involving the MHA relate to patients who abscond or attempt to abscond.
Table 14

AWOL Incidents
70
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41
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0
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30
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1 1

6

2

8

Abscond
Abscond
Abscond
Absconded
from ground
from
from ward / from A&E
leave
perimeter of
unit
secure unit

2

1

Absconded
from
escorted
leave

4

Level 2
8

3 2

Level 3
Level 4

Attempted
Does not
abscond return from
unescorted
leave

In 2017/18 AWOL incidents also accounted for the majority of MHA datix reports, the overall
number this year is higher than last year (total 240 compared to 203).
Other types of incident recorded relating to the MHA can be seen in table 12. There are 15 incidents
which are recorded as ‘Other MHA incident’. The types of incident recorded under this heading are
mostly those involving incomplete or missing section papers.

3

Incidents are classified according to severity of harm ranging from level 1 (negligible harm) to level 5
(catastrophic harm).
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Table 15
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There has also been an increase in the number of other types of MHA incidents reported. In 2017/18
there were a total of 45 MHA incidents. In 2018/19 this has risen to 77.

Mental Health Legislation Team
The MHL team has 6.6 whole time equivalent staff, responsible for providing an effective
administration and consultation service to the trust. The team ensure that all detentions are
recorded in RiO, send clinical teams reminders in relation to rights, consent to treatment, renewals
and expiry dates. The team co-ordinate all Mental Health Tribunal and Hospital Manager hearings.
They also provide training for staff across the organisation. An organisational structure can be found
at Appendix II

Care Quality Commission
Regulatory Inspection
On 26 March 2019 CQC published their report of the inspection of Oxleas which took place between
21 November 2018 and 11 January 2019. The trust was rated as good across all five domains –
leading to an overall rating of good.
CQC found that staff had received training and understood their roles and responsibilities under the
MHA, and that staff ensured patients understood their rights. CQC noted that Oxleas was at the
forefront nationally of the introduction of portfolio route approved clinicians (non-medical ACs).
CQC noted that whilst staff understood the trust policy relating to the MCA, the recording and
storing of MCA assessments was inconsistent, and that some assessments were lacking in detail.
It was also noted that there had been occasions where people had been kept in health based places
of safety beyond the lawful period of detention.

Mental Health Act visits
The Code of Practice to the MHA provides guidance to all professionals on how they should proceed
when undertaking duties under the Act. Compliance with the MHA, MCA and requirements of the
Code is monitored by the Care Quality Commission as part of their routine MHA monitoring activity.
13
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IN 2018/19 CQC undertook 11 MHA visits (see appendix I). Following each visit a report is sent to the
Trust which identifies areas of concern. The Trust is required to develop an action plan in response
to the concerns identified. All visit reports and action plans are available on the trust intranet.
The reports from the 11 visits raised 41 issues under the following themes:
•

Capacity issues
Thirteen separate issues were raised under this heading. The most frequent issue reported
concerned a lack of recording of capacity to consent to treatment on admission. In all cases
CQC noted that clinicians had documented whether or not the patient had capacity to
consent to treatment, but that there was no documented assessment to show how they had
come to that conclusion.
In total, 10 out of the 13 issues raised in this category related to poor or inadequate
recording.

•

Leave
There were four issues raised regarding leave under s17, three of which were to do with
completion of leave record forms.

•

Information/Rights
There were six separate issues raised under this heading. Five of these were regarding the
regular provision of rights to detained patients. However, two of the issues raised were not
accepted by the trust.

•

Environment
There were six environmental concerns raised. Five of these related to viewing panes in
bedroom doors and that they were either being left in an open position or that patients
could not control the blind thereby compromising the privacy and dignity of individuals.

•

Care Planning
CQC raised five concerns in relation to care planning. Of these, four identified that patient’s
views were either not recorded or were very minimal.

•

Record keeping
There were five issues raised in relation to record keeping. Four of which were not accepted
by the trust as the information CQC had reported was missing was available in RiO on the
day of the visit.

•

Other areas
There were four issues raised which did not fit under the above themes, these were mainly
individual patient issues. However, two of these were not accepted by the trust.
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Working with Partners
Partnership working with the Police has been a priority over the year. The SIM (Serenity integrated
Mentoring) Project is now in place across all three boroughs. It is part of an NHSE Innovation
Accelerator programme with Greenwich as one of the early adopter pathfinder sites. The SIM
project entails a Police Officer, under an honorary contract, working within the CMHTs alongside
Care coordinators. They have a small caseload and work intensively to provide support. The
caseloads are compiled of service users who have a high use of emergency services (acute and
Mental health) and have been admitted under a section 136. A care and response plan is developed
with the Service User and shared across multiple agencies. Our Greenwich SIM Officer has been in
post since April 2018 and for Bexley and Bromley they have been in post since April 2019. Alongside
the benefits to the cohort of service users, the CMHTs describe a much closer working relationship
with the Police which has proved very helpful for the wider caseload. Data relating to the project
across South London is being gathered by the local AHSN, the Health innovation Network.
In Oxleas House we have established a Police partnership meeting over the past 3 months which
aims to address the issue of Police charges being brought where appropriate. The meeting reviews
actions required by the Police and Oxleas House staff in order to complete full investigations relating
to injuries suffered by staff or by patient to patient. Several cases are now part of the meeting and
we are actively progressing cases to then be presented to the Crown Prosecution service. Data will
be shared with staff once cases have been completed.

Mental Capacity Act
NHS Digital publishes statistics annually on the use of the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS).
As with MHA statistics, these are not published until the autumn of the following year. The most
recent information published relates to 2017/18.
NHS Digital reports that in the year 2017/18 there were 227,400 applications for DoLS, an increase
of 4.7% compared to 2016/17. At year end the reported backlog of cases stood at 125,630 which is
an increase of 14.6% when compared to the previous year. Of the completed applications for DoLS,
61.1% were granted.
Table 16
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Almost three quarters (72.7%) of DoLS applications received during 2017-18 were for people aged 75
and over. Females accounted for 60% of the applications. The ethnicity of people for whom a DoLS
application was made is shown in the table below.
Table 17

London - DoLS applications
73%
6.20%

10.30%

Asian

Black

1.10%

3.60%
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Other

5.80%
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Review of the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
The Mental Capacity (Amendment) Act 2019 received Royal Assent on 16 May 2019. The Act creates
a new regime to replace DoLS called the Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS). The Government have
confirmed that LPS will be implemented from 1 October 2020. Regulations and a Code of Practice
are being developed. There will be a transitional period of one year where existing DoLS cases will
continue to run.
The LPS remove the current Managing Authority/Supervisory Body. Arrangements will need to be
authorised by the Responsible Body.
•
•
•

For NHS hospitals, the responsible body will be the ‘hospital manager’.
For arrangements under Continuing Health Care outside of a hospital, the ‘responsible body’
will be their local CCG (or Health Board in Wales).
In all other cases – such as in care homes, supported living schemes etc. (including for selffunders), and private hospitals, the responsible body will be the local authority.

The new processes will have an additional clinical and administrative impact on the trust.

People subject to DoLS
75 individual patients were made subject to the DoLS regime. Of these 65 people were deprived
using an urgent authorisation, 38 of which went on to a Standard authorisation.

Gender of people subject to DoLS
There were more males than females subject to DoLS in the trust – this is in contrast to the national
data.
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Table18
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Ethnicity of people subject to DoLS
The majority of people subject to DoLS authorisations (both urgent and standard) are of a white
ethnic background.
Table 19
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Areas for development
1.

Ethnicity recording is not completed for all patients. In 2018/19 it was not possible to report
on the ethnicity of 7% of people who had been detained. To enable the trust to accurately
monitor the use of the Act for people from BAME backgrounds all Directorates should be
monitoring the completion of ethnicity data and following up where required.

2.

In their inspection of the trust CQC found that the recording of mental capacity assessments
was not always consistent, and that some assessments were lacking in detail. The trust should
implement a regular audit of samples of records to improve both consistency and detail. Clear
guidance should be developed so that staff are aware of the trust’s expectations regarding
recording consent and capacity.

3.

The number of MHA incidents has increased in the last year. This may be due to increased
reporting or it could identify areas where practice requires improvement. This should be
monitored further.

4.

Following the 2017 changes to s136 of the MHA the trust has experienced some difficulties in
completing assessments within the shortened time frame of 24 hours. This has been due to
17
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problems accessing beds for those people who require admission following their assessment.
An escalation protocol has been developed to assist duty senior nurses in seeking help. The
trust should monitor the implementation of the protocol and continue to closely monitor any
difficulties with the operation of the Act in relation to this.
5.

The Liberty Protection Safeguards will come into force in October 2020. In preparation for this
a new Code of Practice and Statutory instruments are expected in 2019/20. The new
arrangements may require additional staffing within the organisation to manage the shift in
responsibility from local authorities to the trust.
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Appendix I Breakdown of all detained patients by specific recorded ethnicity
Recorded ethnicity

No.

%

Recorded ethnicity

No.

%

Any Other Group

68

3.21%

Other Ethnic Groups - Chinese

13

0.61%

Asian or Asian British - Any other background
Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi

43

2.03%

Other Ethnic Groups - Filipino

1

0.05%

7

0.33%

Other Ethnic Groups - Japanese

2

0.09%

Asian or Asian British - British

1

0.05%

Other Ethnic Groups - Latin American

2

0.09%

Asian or Asian British - Indian

46

2.17%

Other Ethnic Groups - Malaysian

1

0.05%

Asian or Asian British - Mixed Asian

5

0.24%

Other Ethnic Groups - North African

2

0.09%

Asian or Asian British - Other/Unspecified

5

0.24%

Other Ethnic Groups - Other Middle East

4

0.19%

Asian or Asian British - Pakistani

7

0.33%

Other Ethnic Groups - Vietnamese

6

0.28%

Black or Black British - African

235

11.09%

White - Albanian

1

0.05%

Black or Black British - Any other background

50

2.36%

White - All Republics of former USSR

2

0.09%

Black or Black British - British

14

0.66%

White - Any other background

63

2.97%

Black or Black British - Caribbean

104

4.91%

White - British

965

45.54%

Black or Black British - Mixed

1

0.05%

White - Croatian

2

0.09%

Black or Black British - Nigerian

7

0.33%

White - Cypriot (part not stated)

1

0.05%

Black or Black British - Other/Unspecified

8

0.38%

White - English

62

2.93%

Black or Black British - Somali

18

0.85%

White - Greek

5

0.24%

Mixed - Any other mixed background

28

1.32%

White - Gypsy/Romany

6

0.28%

Mixed - Asian and Chinese

3

0.14%

White - Irish

20

0.94%

Mixed - Black and White

2

0.09%

White - Italian

3

0.14%

Mixed - Other/Unspecified

1

0.05%

White - Other European

14

0.66%

Mixed - White & Asian

17

0.80%

White - Other/Unspecified

15

0.71%

Mixed - White & Black African

5

0.24%

White - Polish

12

0.57%

Mixed - White & Black Caribbean

27

1.27%

White - Scottish

2

0.09%

Not Known (Not Requested)

75

3.54%

White - Turkish

2

0.09%

Not Known (Unable to Request)

37

1.75%

White - Turkish Cypriot

5

0.24%

Not Stated (Client Refused)

5

0.24%

White - Welsh

1

0.05%

Not Stated (Client unable to Choose)

1

0.05%

(blank)

36

1.70%

Other Ethnic Groups - Any Other Group

51

2.41%
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Appendix II
MHA Commissioner visits to Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust 2018/19
Forensic
Birchwood
Burgess
Crofton
Danson
Greenwood
Hazelwood
Heath
Joydens
Bexley
Barefoot Lodge
Holbrook
Lesney
Millbrook
Bromley & ALD
Atlas House
Betts
Goddington
Norman
Scadbury
Greenwich & ALD
Avery
Maryon
Oaktree Lodge
Shepherdleas
Shrewsbury
Tarn

Date of visit

No. of issues raised

21/08/18

3

18/09/18
04/05/2018

2
3

22/11/18
18/09/18
18/09/18

6
4
4

21/06/18
25/02/19
29/11/18
26/11/18
25/06/18

2
3
7
4
3
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Appendix III
Mental Health Legislation Team

Lisa Moylan
Head of MH Legislation
Telephone: 01322 625009
Lisa.moylan@nhs.net

Lesley Enser
MHA
Administrator
Tues - Fri

Patricia Tripp
MHA
Administrator
Mon - Thur

Carole Jefferys
MHA
Administrator
Mon - Fri

Ayse
Abdurrahman
MHA
Administrator
Mon - Fri

Julianna Alli
MHA
Administrator
Mon - Fri

Fiona MacLaren
MHA & DoLS
Co-ordinator
Mon - Fri

Base: Bracton Centre DA5 7AF

Base: Oxleas House, SE18 4QH

Base: Green Parks House, BR6 8NY

Base: Green Parks House, BR6 8NY

Telephone: 01322 621064

Telephone: 0203 953 6461 / 6462

Telephone: 01689 880011

Telephone: 01689 880011
Mobile: 07823 533173

Email: oxl-tr.bexleymha@nhs.net

Email: oxl-tr.greenwichmha@nhs.net

Email: oxl-tr.bromleymha@nhs.net
Email: oxl-tr.mhamhearings@nhs.net

Bracton & Bexley

Greenwich

Bromley

MHA Managers & DoLS Trustwide
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Appendix IV
SCHEME OF DELEGATION
The arrangements for who is authorised to take which decisions under the MHA are set out in a trust scheme of delegation. Special rules apply to the
exercise of the hospital managers’ power to discharge patients from detention or Community Treatment Orders (CTO). In broad terms, this power can be
delegated only to managers’ panels made up of people appointed specifically for the purpose who are not officers or employees of the organisation
concerned. In Oxleas these people are called Mental Health Act Managers (MHAMs).

FUNCTIONS WHICH CANNOT BE DELEGATED TO OFFICERS OF THE TRUST
FUNCTION
Hospital Managers power to discharge from
compulsory powers

STATUTORY REFERENCE
(1)
Section 23(2)(a)

CODE OF PRACTICE
REFERENCE
Chapter 38

AUTHORISED PERSON/COMMITTEE
Non-executive Directors and appointed
Mental Health Act Managers

(1) Sections are as set out in the ‘Mental Health Act 1983’.
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FUNCTIONS WHICH CAN BE DELEGATED TO OFFICERS OF THE TRUST
FUNCTION
Medical practitioner/approved clinician ‘nominated deputy’
power under section 5(2)
Hospital Managers authority to detain and exercise
compulsory powers in the community

Receipt of statutory documents

Request for social circumstances report following receipt of
an application for detention made by the Nearest Relative.

STATUTORY REFERENCE
MHA s5
MHA s6(2), 17A, 35, 36,
40, 45B, 135 & 136

CODE OF
PRACTICE
REFERENCE
Chapter 18

AUTHORISED PERSON/COMMITTEE
Duty doctor as per duty doctor rota or as
otherwise set out in writing.
The Trust as exercised by its

Chapter 37

MHA s11
Regulation 3

Chapter 35

MHA s14

Chapter 37

staff
Mental Health Legislation team (MHLT) and
duty senior nurse

Mental Health Legislation Team
MHLT or duty senior nurse

Recording admission using form H3

Regulation 4

Scrutiny and rectification of statutory documents

MHA s15
Regulation 4

Scrutiny of medical grounds for detention

MHA s15

Chapter 35
Mental Health Legislation Team (MHLT)
Chapter 35

Chapter 35

S12 approved doctor employed by the trust
(but not involved in making the
recommendations)
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FUNCTION

Authorisation of the transfer of patients liable to be
detained or subject to CTO

Return of patients who are absent without
leave (AWOL)

STATUTORY REFERENCE

MHA s19, 19A
Regulations 7, 8, 9, 10

MHA s18

Conveyance to Hospital on recall, transfer or other reasons

MHA s17C & 19
Regulations 11 & 12

Receipt of Renewal documentation on behalf of Hospital
Managers (Form H5 or CTO7)

MHA s 20, 20A & 21B
Regulation 13

Receipt of nearest relatives’ discharge orders, notices of
intention to discharge, and notifications associated with the
delegation of nearest relative functions
Evidence of admission arrangements

Provision of information to patients and nearest relatives

MHA s25 & 26
Regulations 3 & 25

CODE OF
PRACTICE
REFERENCE

AUTHORISED PERSON/COMMITTEE
MHLT or duty senior nurse

Chapter 37

Chapter 28

Chapter 17

Chapter 32
Chapter 5 & 32

MHA s35(4), 36(3), 37(4),
38(4), 44(2) and 45A(5)

N/A

MHA s132 / 132A &133

Chapter 4

Any member of staff of the Trust or any
other person authorised in writing by the
Responsible Clinician/Service Director (or
anyone delegated by the RC or SD)
Any member of staff of the Trust or any
other person authorised in writing by the
Responsible Clinician/Service Director (or
anyone delegated by the RC or SD)
MHLT
MHLT or duty senior nurse
NB the Trust does not agree to the serving
of nearest relative discharge notifications
by internal post for the purposes of
regulation 3(7)
Evidence from the assigned Approved
Clinician or another person authorised by
that Approved Clinician.
MHLT or any member of the MDT
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FUNCTION
Inspecting and withholding patients’ outgoing post at the
request of the intended recipient
Record of detained patients moving within United Kingdom
to England and Wales
Hospital Managers duty to give information to victims
regarding unrestricted Part III patients
Duty to refer cases to First Tier Tribunal (Mental Health), or
requesting references to be made by the Secretary of State

STATUTORY REFERENCE

CODE OF
PRACTICE
REFERENCE

MHA s134
Regulation 29

Paragraph 37.37

OUTGOING Mail only –Any member of the
MDT to withhold

N/A

MHLT

Chapter 40

Responsible Clinician (or anyone delegated
by the RC)

Chapter 12 & 37

MHLT

MHA Part VI
Regulations 15 and 16
Domestic Violence, Crime
and Victims Act 2004
MHA s67, 68 &71

Assisting patients with MHT applications

Completion of statement of information for First Tier
Tribunal (Mental Health) and

Submission of reports to First Tier Tribunal (Mental Health)

Paragraph 12.6
Rule 32 of Tribunal
Procedure (First-tier
Tribunal) (Health,
Education and Social Care
Chamber) Rules 2008. First
Tier Tribunal (Mental
Health) Practice Direction
2012
Rule 32 of Tribunal
Procedure (First-tier
Tribunal) (Health,
Education and Social Care
Chamber) Rules 2008

Chapter 12

Chapter 12

AUTHORISED PERSON/COMMITTEE

Any member of the MDT

MHLT

MHLT
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FUNCTION
Completion of Responsible Clinician Report for First Tier
Tribunal (Mental Health)
Completion of Social Circumstances Report for First Tier
Tribunal (Mental Health)
Completion of Nursing Report for First Tier Tribunal (Mental
Health)
Deciding if, when and where a Hospital Managers review
should take place

STATUTORY REFERENCE

CODE OF
PRACTICE
REFERENCE

AUTHORISED PERSON/COMMITTEE

Responsible Clinician or other clinician
delegated by the RC.

Rule 32 of Tribunal
Procedure (First-tier
Tribunal) (Health,
Education and Social Care
Chamber) Rules 2008. First
Tier Tribunal (Mental
Health) Practice Direction
2012

Chapter 12

N/A

Chapter 38

Care co-ordinator, Social Worker or other
practitioner delegated by the relevant
team manager
Registered Nurse (Mental Health or
Learning Disability) as delegated by the
team manager.
MHLT
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Quality Improvement and Innovation Report
Victoria Saffin, Head of Quality Improvement
Dr Ify Okocha – Medical Director
public

The Trust Quality Improvement and Innovation Committee met on the 25th of
September 2019 and highlights are as follows
1. Quality Improvement and Innovation in Action
Two Qi projects were presented to the Committee:
1.1. Contraception and Sexual Health (CASH) project
A project was presented, the aim of which was to improve the way test results
are given out by the CASH service by 50% by April 2019.
The CASH team felt that improvements could be made to the results system as it
was absorbing a considerable amount of admin time and was unsatisfactory for
both staff and service users. The team worked together to explore the current
problem and to identify ideas for testing. Four changes were ultimately made to
the system which included a dedicated results line with clear opening hours, a
staff rota for answering the results phone, service users being given information
on this and an improved mobile phone which was easier and quicker to use and
with better signal reception.
Whilst there were a number of challenges experienced with this project
including a lack of baseline data and some data being lost in the internal mail,
staff generally reported an increased experience of work following this Qi
project. There is also motivation in this team to make further change.
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1.2. Greenwich CAMHS Generic Team Project
The aim of this project was to reduce average wait times from assessment to
treatment to 120 days by December 2019. Impetus for the project started with
an away day where the team selected this as the most important challenge
facing them.
Whilst the project has not yet reached its aim, there are early signs that wait
times are decreasing and the service being provided to young people and their
families is now more consistent. To date, four changes have been made to the
system. These include changes to Rio ‘my care plan’, enforcing a DNA policy,
introduction of a Mentalisation Group and the development of a consistent and
reliable waiting list. Future proposed changes to test include patient contracts
and text message reminders.

1.3. Directorate Update
Bexley directorate provided an update on their Qi Programme. There are
currently 4 active projects, 7 proposed and 1 completed project.
It was reported that take up of Qi in Bexley had been lower than hoped for at
this point and that the following may be reasons for this; SMT time taken up
with large scale re-design, staff pressures in changing teams and services, staff
reluctance to undertake a Qi project in a changing service and lack of SMT
promoting of Qi. Several changes have been instigated to address this including
redesign of ToR for Qi and PQAC, increased corporate support and the setup of a
new Qi meeting outside of the Quality Board/PQAC.
2. Embedding a culture of continuous quality improvement
Highlights from the report show that every directorate in Oxleas (including
corporate) is actively involved in Qi. We have a total of 138 projects (active,
proposed or completed)
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Directorate
Bromley
Bexley
Greenwich
Children & Young People
Forensic & Prisons
ALD
Corporate
Trust wide

No of projects (active, proposed and completed)
18
12
39
12
34
11
10
2

2.1. Qi Training
716 staff had been trained on Oxleas Qi framework as of the end of August
2019; this represents 20% of the trust. It is forecast that a further 250 staff will
receive some form of Qi training before the end of the financial year 2019/2020
which would bring the percentage total up to 27% and around 966 staff
members.
Of the 716 staff trained, 61 of these attended the senior leaders training.
Further dates for this training have been arranged.
2.2. Service user involvement
This is an area of current focus. At present 22% of active projects have some
form of service user involvement however there is more to be done. Involving
and co-producing with our service users will ensure we create and improve
services more aligned to patient needs. Work is currently being done with the Qi
Team and Volunteer Service to align databases of volunteers and systems. Going
forward this will allow project leads to easier identify those with lived
experience who would like to form part of project groups.
Qi training continues to be co-produced with the support of two people with
lived experience. The aim of this training will be to increase awareness of quality
improvement and to develop a participation register of people with lived
experience, family members, carers etc: that can be contacted to be part of a Qi
project group. This programme will facilitated by a member of the Oxleas QI
Team and a Lived Experience Practitioner (LXP).
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2.3 Number of projects that have achieved their outcome measures
We have 11 projects that have achieved their outcome measures with a further
eight projects close to completion
3. Qi Programme Update
 The new Qi Lead for Bexley and Corporate services commenced her role
in August 2019
 Two new Qi Leads have been appointed and will join the Qi Team in
November 2019. One will cover Forensic and Prison services and the
other, Bromley and Children’s services.
4. South London Partnership (SLP) Qi Conference
The second annual SLP Qi conference will be held on the 21st November 2019 at
the Kia Oval in Kennington.
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Report Title
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Workforce Committee Update
Debbie Wheddon, Associate Director of Workforce and Organisational
Development
Accountable Director Debbie Wheddon, Associate Director of Workforce and Organisational
Development
Confidentiality/
N/A
FOI status
Report Summary

The Workforce Committee met on 18 September 2019.
Workforce summary report & KPIs
The committee received updates on various programmes of work being undertaken
across the Directorate to support delivery against the workforce and equality strategies.
This included a number of initiatives implemented within Employee Relations processes
to improve our current disciplinary and bullying and harassment practices to support “a
fair experience for all”. It was noted these initiatives all complement the work that
underpins our Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) and Workforce Disability
Equality Standard (WDES) action plans published externally on our website.
The committee reviewed the workforce KPIs, all of which were on target within the
normal ranges seen at this time of the year.
Medical Workforce Update
The committee reviewed the Medical Workforce Update paper and found the
information presented useful to note and recognised the work happening across the
Trust to support doctors’ workload pressures in some areas. Further detail has been
requested for the next meeting to review the results of the initiatives put into place.
The committee requested for the November meeting more details around the make up
of the workforce for both junior doctors and consultants showing vacancies, long-term
agency use and turnover. It was noted that this level of detail will then be shared on a
six-monthly basis to the committee as a rolling agenda item.
Staff Engagement
The committee reviewed our approach to developing a five year strategy for the
organisation and how this will support staff engagement (See appendix 1). Dates for
the NHS national staff survey were shared. The survey launched on the 8th October and
remains open until the end of November. We will receive our “first look” results in
December with the National Results being available from February 2020 onwards.
Current progress shows we are slightly ahead of the average in terms of completion
rates with work continuing to promote and encourage people to have their say.
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Apprenticeships
A paper was discussed at the committee on the use of Apprenticeships and the desire
to increase their usage to maximise the levy that was introduced in 2017. The
committee noted their support in recruiting to the Apprenticeship Lead post
permanently and requested a detailed paper to be presented every six months to show
progress.
Freedom to Speak Up (FTSU) Update
The FTSU guardian reported that 9 concerns had been raised in the two-month period
July - September. Detail on themes and trends will be presented at the six-monthly
update to the committee in November and then to the Board.
At the September Board Meeting, the move to a new independent provider of
Freedom to Speak Up services was discussed and work has started with The Guardian
Service to implement the new model. Scoping meetings have been happening across
the Trust to support the implementation of the new service from quarter 4 of 20192020. The existing portal used by individuals to raise their concerns will be replaced by
The Guardian Service and an internal communications programme will be implemented
to inform colleagues across the organisation.
The committee mentioned the lack of concerns raised recently relating to potential
fraud so asked the directorate to check this information is being captured.
Health & Safety Update
No staff incidents had been reported since the previous workforce committee meeting
but it was noted that a further conversation was on-going around the continuation of
Health and Safety reporting via the Workforce Committee or via an alternative
Committee.
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Assurance
Framework

-

Implications
Quality

Briefly outline implications of the recommendations in this report
It is recognised that a full, competent and engaged workforce is needed to
support excellent quality of care.
The financial implications of temporary staff are considered.
The Workforce Committee programmes of action aim to tackle inequality
issues.
The strategy development programme will increase engagement with
service users, carers and staff

Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

1471 – Violence, Bullying and Discrimination
1502 – Retention and staff satisfaction
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Oxleas Strategy Development
1. Background
The Board has agreed to undertake a trustwide engagement process to develop a strategy for the
organisation that will enable Oxleas to thrive and deliver excellent patient care. To achieve this, we need to
undertake the following:

In order to achieve this aim..

We need to ensure...

Which requires...
Ability for staff to be involved in
strategy development

Staff across the organisation
are able to contribute to the
strategy development and
highlight what is needed to
make Oxleas a better place to
work and deliver care

To agree a 5 year strategy
by March 2020 which is
relevant to all staff and will
enable Oxleas to thrive and
deliver excellent patient
care

Relevance to staff

The strategy takes into
account developments in the
local health and social care
environment so that together
we can deliver better patient
care

Awareness of developments in
partner organisations,
commissioners and local care
networks

Service users/carers and
members are able to
contribute to the strategy
development and highlight
what is needed to enable
Oxleas to deliver better
patient care

Ability for service
users/carers/members to be
involved in strategy development

Relevance to service
users/carers/members

Ideas to ensure this happens
Multiple ways for involvement and
permission/time to be involved.
Engagement process that fits in
with working life, makes use of
technology and creates
representation from wide range.
Eg - establish staff forummodel
- standard engagement format
- social media /pop-up feedback

- Language and examples used
- committment to tackle issues of
importance to staff

Using agreed format interview
organisation leaders and engage with
senior teams

Multiple ways for involvement and
engagement process that makes
use of technology and enables
representation from wide range.
- standard engagement format
- social media /pop-up feedback
stations
- accessible language and process

We have now designed our approach and will be entering into the engagement phase next month. To
support this, we are engaging a partner organisation to provide specialist knowledge and expertise and
have created a secondment role to support, in particular, the creation of a staff assembly network.

1
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2. Strategy Development Process
We have worked with engagement experts Kaleidoscope Health and Care to design our engagement
process. The aims of the process were agreed as needing to:
• Produce a stretching yet grounded vision for Oxleas
• Feel relevant to staff and service users both now and for the future
• Be inclusive and enjoyable for all at Oxleas
• Enable a reflection on purpose and meaning, for individuals, specific topics, and Oxleas as a whole
• Engage staff in a conversation about change - whether it's possible, whether it's wanted, and how it
will be achieved
As the quality of our services rely so much on our staff, the main audience for the strategy engagement
work is the people working at Oxleas. Through the process, we want to improve staff engagement and
create lasting ways that colleagues can raise and solve issues that hamper them in providing the best care
possible. There will also be engagement streams for service users, carers, members and partner
organisations. In addition to existing communication channels such as newsletters, conferences, intranet,
briefings and social media, we will be developing the following:
•
•
•
•

Staff assemblies
Oxleas Reflect days
Closer to home events
Voting processes

There will be five phases to the process
• Set-up
• Divergence of views – through open conversations gathering as many options and ideas as possible
• Convergence of ideas – narrowing down ideas/options into themes
• Confirmation of strategy
• Implementation of strategy

2
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3. Key elements of the process
Staff assemblies
As part of the strategy development work, we want to create a lasting way of engaging colleagues across
the organisation by creating forums for local discussion and decision making. To do this, we will be setting
up staff assemblies in each directorate.
We want to create a framework for the staff assemblies that can evolve during the engagement process
and explore ways that they can work effectively in the future. They will be based on the following ideas:
Scope – These would focus on improving working life within the directorate.
Membership – this would be self-selected and would have an organising team and be chaired by a
member of staff (non-management).
Resources – we would offer staff training to be involved, time for meetings and a budget for local
improvements (ideally from charitable funds).
Relationships – we would want the staff assemblies to link into senior management teams in directorates
and involve staff governors, patient/carer governors and union reps.
We have established a secondment post to support the development of these assemblies.

Oxleas reflect days
These will be days in the process where all Oxleas staff, service users, members and external stakeholders
are asked the same set of questions. Engagement will be conducted through different methods, and
supported by extensive communications. They will be used to create interest and energy around the
engagement process and to canvass opinion on priorities and, later in the process, give feedback on
themes that have been developed.

‘Closer to home’ events
We plan to hold a number of face-to-face events for staff based on where people live rather than where
they work. As a consequence, the events will mix staff across directorates in a different way and symbolise
Oxleas being about people not workplaces.
The process will start in November and events will take place over the coming months. We will
complement them with digital events, videos and intranet coverage to maximise inclusivity.

3
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4. Measures of success
We will judge the programme to have been successful if:
•
•
•
•

All members including staff members have had the opportunity to contribute to the process no
matter where they work or the services they use;
Events and engagement activity are vibrant and busy;
We reach consensus on priorities for the organisation;
By April 2020, we have an ambitious yet realistic strategy.

4
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Annual report on the revalidation of medical doctors (appraisal year ended
March 2019)
Author
Ify Okocha, Medical Director & Responsible Officer / Deborah Brooke
Accountable Director Ify Okocha, Medical Director & Responsible Officer
Confidentiality/
Public
FOI status
Report Summary

As part of the NHS England Framework of Quality Assurance for Responsible
Officers and Revalidation, responsible officers are asked to provide an
annual revalidation report to the board of the designated body.
The purpose of this paper is to provide the Board with a Framework of
Quality Assurance so that a Statement of Compliance can be signed and sent
to the Department of Health.
This report explains arrangements for the appraisal and revalidation of
doctors employed by Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust. It includes appraisal and
revalidation data. It describes the governance systems in place to support
the appraisal of doctors, training of appraisers and quality assurance of the
appraisal process. Benchmarking date provided by NHS England showing
that the performance of Oxleas is in line with other similar Designated
Bodies accompanies this report.
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satisfactory.
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down box)

Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

The report links to risk 1502 relating to staff morale, support and retention.

An effective appraisal process aims to improve quality of care for patients.
The process aims to be equal for all
An effective appraisal process aims to improve quality of care for patients
and support staff development.
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Revalidation Report 2018/19 Appraisal Year
Background
Medical Revalidation was launched in 2012 to strengthen the way that doctors are regulated, with
the aim of improving the quality of care provided to patients, improving patient safety and
increasing public trust and confidence.
Organisations have a statutory duty to support their Responsible Officer in discharging their
duties under the Responsible Officer Regulations and it is expected that the board will oversee
compliance by:
•

monitoring the frequency and quality of medical appraisals in their organisations;

•

checking there are effective systems in place for monitoring the conduct and performance
of their doctors;

•

confirming that feedback from patients is sought periodically so that their views can inform
the appraisal and revalidation process for their doctors; and

•

ensuring that appropriate pre-employment background checks (including pre-engagement
for Locums) are carried out to confirm that medical practitioners have qualifications and
experience appropriate to the work performed.

As at March 31 2019, Oxleas NHSFT employed 198 doctors, 42 of whom were doctors in training,
134 were consultants and non-consultant grade doctors, 3 were International Medical Graduates
(MTI doctors) and a further 19 were bank doctors of various grades.
Doctors in training are subject to separate revalidation arrangements, monitored by Health
Education England – London and South East (LaSE). On 31.3.19, the Trust was responsible for the
revalidation of 133 non-training grade doctors who had a prescribed connection with the trust; 14
were connected to other designated bodies, three were connected but not employed (ie, leavers) and
six were employed but not connected (ie, starters).
Governance Arrangements
The appraisal lead meets with the revalidation and appraisal team monthly to manage the allocation
of appraisers, to respond to queries and to escalate any concerns. The appraisal lead meets with the
RO monthly.
The list of doctors with Oxleas as their designated Body on the GMC database (GMC Connect) is
updated by the revalidation support officer in liaison wiith medical staffing colleagues to reflect
starters and leavers. This is audited quarterly by the head of medical staffing.
Appraisals are audited quarterly for completeness by the appraisal lead.
SARD
The Strengthened Appraisal and Revalidation Database (SARD) is the system used for medical
appraisals by the trust. SARD is an intuitive web based electronic platform that is accessible to both
appraisee and appraiser and enables doctors to compile an online appraisal portfolio and
complete their appraisal. Each directorate has an appraisal compliance dashboard that is available to
the lead doctor.
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Data used as supporting information for individual doctors includes: professional development
activities, compliments, complaints, serious incidents, sickness absence, Mental Health Act
compliance, performance, IfOx data about clinical activity and multi-source feedback, including
from patients and colleagues.
Policy and Guidance
The Trust has a Medical Appraisal and Revalidation policy and guidance document, available on
the Trust intranet. There have been no recent changes to this policy. Guidance and other support is
available via the revalidation team. Additionally, the team circulates a six-monthly newsletter to all
non-training grade doctors with national updates and local developments.
Medical Appraisal 2018/19
The medical appraisal year runs from April to March. The number of doctors requiring appraisal by
Oxleas (their Designated Body) on 31.3.19 was 133.
Total number of appraisals conducted, meeting all criteria for timing of completion – 122
Number of doctors in remediation and disciplinary processes – 0
Number of approved missed appraisals – 8
Number of unapproved missed appraisals - 3
Missed Appraisals
NHS England requires the responsible officer to have oversight of the reasons for missed or
incomplete appraisals. Of the three unapproved late appraisals, one doctor had left the Trust; one
doctor was returning from sickness absence and one mistakenly delayed so that he could complete
his job plan (which should not have been a cause for delay).
Table 1. Figures returned to NHSE for the five appraisal years from 2014
Number of
prescribed connections

14/15
120

15/16
119

16/17
118

17/18
119

18/19
133

Completed appraisals

105 (88%) 107 (90%) 108 (92%) 119 (100%) 122 (92%)

Approved incomplete/missed
Appraisals

13

7

9

0

8

Unapproved
incomplete/missed
Appraisals

2

5

1

0

3
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Appraisers
The Trust arranged appraiser training for 20 new appraisers in 2018.
There are currently 65 trained appraisers in the Trust, 63 of whom are actively appraising.
Appraiser meetings are held twice-yearly to offer appraisers support including peer review and
calibration of professional judgments. During the last appraisal year, the topics discussed in these
meetings included setting SMART objectives for professional development plans; promoting reflection
by appraises, and the new guidelines on supporting evidence from the GMC.
During 2018, in addition to the six-monthly appraisers’ meetings, appraiser refresher training was
provided by an outside provider. This was attended by 28 appraisers.
Quality Assurance
For the appraisal portfolio
Each doctor has a list of items that colleagues doing similar work have agreed should be made
available and discussed at appraisal. This constitutes the appraisal data set in their SARD portfolio.
Appraisers are responsible for the review of the appraisal folders of each of their appraisees. This
validates the pre-appraisal declarations and supporting information.
Appraisers should ensure that the written account of the appraisal reflects any key items identified
pre-appraisal as needing discussion.
For the individual appraiser
Appraisers are expected to reflect on appropriate continuing professional development and keep a
record of their participation in appraisers’ meetings.
Doctors receive an automated request to complete a feedback questionnaire about their appraisal,
which is used to improve the performance and practice of appraisers. Responses are pooled to form
development action points for the professional development of all appraisers. The overall report of
the experience of appraisal by Oxleas doctors for 2018/2019 is very positive. The report combines the
feedback from 87 feedback forms on the performance of 66 appraisers. There were some comments
that gathering data for use in appraisal was sometimes difficult, but there were high levels of
satisfaction with the conduct of appraisals.
For the organisation
Feedback from doctors about the SARD system and administration is collected and collated to
allow for system review and upgrade.
Workshops are offered every six months for doctors who are new to using SARD, or who would like
to develop their appraisal-related skills.
Before a revalidation recommendation is made, the doctor’s appraisals, usually five, are
reviewed by the Responsible Officer Advisory Group (the head of medical staffing, a non executive
director and the medical appraisal lead) to confirm that the number and quality of appraisals is
satisfactory and that the doctor has completed and discussed their multi-source feedback during the
5-year revalidation cycle. The conclusions of the group are passed to the Responsible Officer.
Since 2016, an audit of half of all appraisals is carried out during each appraisal year, using the NHSE
appraisal audit tool (ASPAT 1). Results are shared with appraisers and discussed at the appraisers’
meetings. The scores have increased over the three years; please see Table 2.

11

Appraisal Summary and PDP Audit Tool
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Table 2. Audit of Oxleas Appraisals using the NHSE ASPAT for six-monthly periods from April 2016.
Time period
Apr - Sept 2016
Oct 16 - Mar 17
Apr - Sept 2017
Oct 17 - Mar 18
Apr - Sept 2018
Oct 18 - Mar 19

Number audited (half of
completed appraisals)
23
31
25
36
25
35

ASPAT score as a percentage
completion of 23 items.
76
75
80
80
89
88

Security and Confidentiality
All patient identifiable data is removed before documents are uploaded to appraisal portfolios. This
is emphasized to all users of SARD because documents cannot be removed from a completed
appraisal once it has been “locked” and archived.
Revalidation recommendations to the General Medical Council, April 2018 - March 2019
The GMC criteria for revalidation are that the doctor should have 5 appraisals during the five year
revalidation cycle, plus a multisource feedback (“360 appraisal”, MSF), within the cycle which has
been discussed at their next annual appraisal. If a doctor needs more time, a request for deferral for
a maximum of one year can be made; deferral is a neutral act. Within these requirements, decisions
on an individual level are left to the discretion of the Trust. Oxleas requires that doctors should be
able to show both their appraisal record for the last five years and evidence that their MSF has been
discussed at appraisal. This can be a challenge within a five year cycle because collecting the patient
feedback can be delayed with some patient groups - eg, those who are only in the service for a very
short time.
Number of recommendations due in the appraisal year: 64
Recommended for revalidation without delay: 48 (of whom 5 had been carried over from the
previous appraisal year)
Deferral recommended: 16
Reasons for a deferral request:
The doctor had either not gathered their multisource feedback, or it had not yet been discussed at
their appraisal: 9
The doctor had not acquired enough appraisals, eg due to maternity leave or sick leave: 5
Appraisal rejected by RO/ the doctor under GMC investigation: 2 (both of these are now
revalidated).
Of those deferred, 5 were subsequently revalidated within the appraisal year, having had more time
to meet requirements (eg, discuss their feedback or acquire another appraisal). The remainder

are expected to be revalidated during the next appraisal year.
Non engagement notifications to the GMC: 0
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Dr Mike Prentice
Revalidation Lead
NHS England
Quarry House
Quarry Hill
Leeds
LS2 7UE

PA Contact Details:
Tracy.calvert@nhs.net
Tel: 0113 825 3052
18 July 2019

Our Ref: 554
Publications Approval 000740
Dr Chike Okocha
Responsible Officer
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Dear Dr Okocha

Medical Revalidation Annual Organisational Audit (AOA) Comparator Report
for: 554 - Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
I am writing to thank you for submitting a return to the NHS England 18/19 Annual
Organisational Audit (AOA) exercise.
Please find enclosed a report setting out your response to the exercise. The
report also compares your organisation’s submission with that of other designated
bodies across England, both in a similar sector and nationwide.
The 2018/19 slimmed down version of the AOA was designed to concentrate
primarily on the quantitative measures of previous AOAs, the number of doctors
with a prescribed connection and their appraisal rates. In this the sixth year of the
AOA, I am pleased to report a continuing upward trend in the overall appraisal
rate. This is extremely reassuring and I would like to thank you once again for your
continued work. There is emerging evidence that creating the right environment
for doctors to reflect on their clinical practice through appraisal is one which
enables them to thrive and develop professionally. This benefits the patients that
they look after and allows doctors to have confidence in their professional practice.

1

As
197well as revising the AOA, a review of reporting the other important aspects of the
responsible officer function (monitoring of practice, responding to concerns, and
identity/language checks) have moved to the annual Board report. The Board
report, combined with the annual Statement of Compliance, has been re-designed
to support a conversation within the designated body to review all the responsible
officer’s obligations and to agree an action plan for areas where further
development is identified.
Assurance of the totality of the designated body’s work on the responsible officer’s
duties will therefore be provided to the higher level responsible officer through both
completion of the AOA and the statement of compliance, as signed off by the
designated body’s Board or equivalent management body.
Board-level accountability for the quality and effectiveness of appraisal rates is
extremely important and this report, along with the resulting action plan, should be
presented to your board, or an equivalent management body. It is also good
practice to include the report in an NHS organisation’s Quality Account.
If you need support in improving any element of your revalidation systems, your
local revalidation team (contact details below) can help you.
Your higher level
responsible officer

Dr Vin Diwakar

Your local revalidation
team’s lead contact

Maxine Hastings

Your local revalidation
team’s contact details

england.revalidation-london@nhs.net

This letter has been sent to the responsible officer recorded in the AOA return at 31
March 2019. If you are no longer the responsible officer, please pass this report on
to the new responsible officer immediately, or to the Chief Executive of the
organisation. If there are any changes to notify, or you have any queries, please
contact your local revalidation team.
Please note that for transparency and openness, your submitted AOA return will be
shared with your higher level responsible officer and some elements of the return will
be shared with the appropriate regulatory bodies.
A more detailed report including the anonymised results of all organisations involved
in this AOA exercise will be published in the autumn.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank you for providing the required assurance
to your higher level RO, and to NHS England.
Further information on revalidation can be found at www.england.nhs.uk/revalidation
Yours sincerely

Doctor Mike Prentice
Revalidation Lead
NHS England
cc: Your higher level responsible officer
cc: Your local revalidation team’s lead contact
2
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YOUR ANNUAL ORGANISATIONAL AUDIT
Analysis is based on the total of 862 returns from designated bodies (DBs) to the 2018/19 Annual Organisational Audit (AOA) exercise for the year ending 31
March 2019

The following information is presented as per your own AOA submission.
Name of designated body:

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust

Name of responsible officer:

Dr Chike Okocha

Sector:

Mental health foundation trust

Prescribed connection to:

NHS England (Regional Team - London)

Please note:
a) In some instances, data was not suitable for comparative reporting. In these cases your own response may be reported, but comparative data is not. An
explanation is given for this within the report. If you require further information on these areas, please contact your local revalidation lead:
Maxine Hastings at england.revalidation-london@nhs.net.

b) Only the questions asked are presented below. Please refer to AOA 2018/19 for the full indicator definitions if required.
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2018/19 AOA indicator
SECTION 1: The Designated Body and the Responsible Officer

1.4

A responsible officer has been nominated/appointed in compliance
with the regulations.

4

Your
organisation’s
response

Same sector:

All sectors:

DBs in sector: 30

Total DBs: 862

Your
organisation’s
response

No. of DBs in same sector
and (%) that said ‘Yes’

No. of DBs in all
sectors and (%) that
said ‘Yes’

Yes

30 (100.0%)

851 (98.7%)
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2018/19 AOA indicator
SECTION 2: Appraisal

2.1

Number of doctors with whom the designated body has
a prescribed connection as at 31 March 2019

Same sector:

All sectors:

Your
organisation’s
response

DBs in sector: 30

Total DBs: 862

No. of doctors
(in organisation)

Total no. of doctors
(in SAME sector)

Total no. of doctors
(across ALL sectors)

2.1.1

Consultants

98

2921

53177

2.1.2

Staff grade, associate specialist, specialty doctor

31

783

12543

2.1.3

Doctors on Performers Lists

0

1

47422

2.1.4

Doctors with practising privileges

0

3

1870

2.1.5

Temporary or short-term contract holders

0

417

22314

2.1.6

Other doctors with a prescribed connection to this designated body

4

49

7128

2.1.7

Total number of doctors with a prescribed connection

133

4174

144454

5
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2018/19 AOA indicator

Your
organisation’s
response

SECTION 2 (cont): Appraisal

Same sector:
DBs in sector: 30

All sectors:
Total DBs: 862

Completed appraisals (1)
Your
organisation’s
response and (%)
calculated
appraisal rate

Same sector
appraisal rate

ALL sectors
appraisal rate

2.1.1 Consultants

94 (95.9%)

93.7%

93.7%

2.1.2 Staff grade, associate specialist, specialty doctor

28 (90.3%)

93.0%

88.2%

2.1.3 Doctors on Performers Lists

N/A

100.0%

95.2%

2.1.4 Doctors with practising privileges

N/A

66.7%

92.7%

2.1.5 Temporary or short-term contract holders

N/A

84.7%

81.8%

2.1.6 Other doctors with a prescribed connection to this designated body

0 (0%)

85.7%

87.9%

2.1.7 Total number of doctors who had a completed annual appraisal

122 (91.7%)

92.6%

91.5%

2.1

Number of doctors with whom the designated body has a
prescribed connection on 31 March 2019 who had a completed
annual appraisal between 1 April 2018 – 31 March 2019

6
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2018/19 AOA indicator

Your
organisation’s
response

SECTION 2 (cont): Appraisal

Same sector:
DBs in sector: 30

All sectors:
Total DBs: 862

Approved incomplete or missed appraisal (2)
Your
organisation’s
response and (%)
calculated
appraisal rate

Same sector
appraisal rate

ALL sectors
appraisal rate

2.1.1 Consultants

3 (3.1%)

5.1%

4.2%

2.1.2 Staff grade, associate specialist, specialty doctor

1 (3.2%)

6.4%

8.6%

2.1.3 Doctors on Performers Lists

N/A

0.0%

4.2%

2.1.4 Doctors with practising privileges

N/A

33.3%

5.1%

2.1.5 Temporary or short-term contract holders

N/A

14.1%

13.6%

4 (100%)

10.2%

10.5%

8 (6.0%)

6.3%

6.4%

2.1

Number of doctors with whom the designated body has a
prescribed connection on 31 March 2019 who had an
Approved incomplete or missed appraisal between 1 April
2018 – 31 March 2019

2.1.6 Other doctors with a prescribed connection to this designated body
Total number of doctors who had an approved incomplete

2.1.7 or missed appraisal

7
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2018/19 AOA indicator

Your
organisation’s
response

SECTION 2 (cont): Appraisal

Same sector:
DBs in sector: 30

All sectors:
Total DBs: 862

Unapproved incomplete or missed appraisal (3)
Number of doctors with whom the designated body has a
prescribed connection on 31 March 2019 who had an
Unapproved incomplete or missed annual appraisal between 1
April 2018 – 31 March 2019

Your organisation’s
response and (%)
calculated appraisal
rate

Same sector
appraisal rate

ALL sectors
appraisal rate

2.1.1 Consultants

1 (1.0%)

1.2%

2.2%

2.1.2 Staff grade, associate specialist, specialty doctor

2 (6.5%)

0.6%

3.2%

2.1.3 Doctors on Performers Lists

N/A

0.0%

0.6%

2.1.4 Doctors with practising privileges

N/A

0.0%

2.2%

2.1.5 Temporary or short-term contract holders

N/A

1.2%

4.6%

0 (0%)

4.1%

1.6%

3 (2.3%)

1.1%

2.1%

2.1

2.1.6 Other doctors with a prescribed connection to this designated body
Total number of doctors who had an unapproved

2.1.7 incomplete or missed annual appraisal
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201/1 AOA indicator
Your organisation's response

SECTION 3:

3.1

7KHODVW$QQXDO%RDUGUHSRUWZDVVLJQHGRIIRQ

19/09/2018 00:00:00

7KHODVW6WDWHPHQWRI&RPSOLDQFHZDVVLJQHGRIIRQ

19/11/2019 00:00:00
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2018/19 AOA indicator
SECTION 4: Comments

Your organisation’s response

4.1

10
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Report from Audit and Risk Assurance Committee
Susan Owen, Risk and Governance Manager
Steve Dilworth, Non-Executive Director
Jazz Thind, Director of Finance
Public

Report Summary

The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee last met on 17 September 2019 and
highlights from the meeting are given below. The next meeting of the Audit and Risk
Assurance Committee is on 19 November 2019.
Grant Thornton response to Financial Reporting Council criticism of audit firms
Grant Thornton (GT) provided an overview of the sector and highlighted broad
challenges such as increasing demand, lack of resources, uncertainty of future
recruitment and retention, and evidenced delivery of mental health parity. On Quality
Accounts, GT noted the change in Oxleas management personnel and confirmed that
they would have early engagement with our new staff responsible for this key area.
In respect of the recent criticism of audit firms by the Financial Reporting Council
(FRC), GT presented the key elements of their response and action taken. The FRC has
a target that 90% of audits should be classified as good and the FRC found that there
was a fall in standards across the whole sector. GT were put under increased scrutiny
by the FRC as their score fell from 75% for 2016/17 to 50% for 2017/18, although it
was noted that this was based on a small sample. GT said that the key issues relating
to these findings were tighter reporting deadlines and increased complexity of
judgments. The committee also noted that the FRC report did not include public sector
work. However, it was good to see that our engagement lead had one of her NHS files
reviewed as part of a separate NHSI Quality Assurance Department (QAD) process and
received the highest score.
GT are co-operating fully with the FRC and their files will be subject to an FRC review,
a QAD review, an internal review or a focused review. GT are also increasing the
amount of testing on specific areas. The Head of Audit at GT is now a board member,
and the reporting line has been reviewed so accountability rests with one person at
board level. An independent company has been commissioned to undertake a review
and this will report before the end of the calendar year. It was also confirmed that
when the FRC is replaced by the Audit, Reporting and Governance Authority (ARGA),
the ARGA will include a public sector arm.
GT attended the Council of Governors meeting on 18 September 2019, and gave the
same assurance to the Governors.
Risk register report from the Quality Improvement and Innovation Committee
The committee received the risk register report from the Quality Improvement and
Innovation Committee. This committee does not hold many risks as the main focus is
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on opportunity costs. It was noted that the next steps are to ensure engagement with
services users; and also to quantify the improvements, so as to demonstrate how we
have made efficiencies in terms of real savings in addition to cost avoidance.
Thematic risk report
The committee received a comparison of our Board Assurance Framework (BAF)
against similar trusts in London and the south east of England. The top theams across
all trusts are financial challenges and staff recruitment and retention. Many of our
neighbours have BAF risks relating to the delivery of ICT and estates strategies, data
accuracy and CQC compliance monitoring. These risks do not currently appear on our
BAF, but have done so in the past. It was noted that consultant who reviewed our BAF
as part of the CQC preparation had commented that we had a good balance of
strategic risks.
To help raise awareness of the local risk register process, a guide to risk registers and
risk management has been developed. This is aimed at front line staff, but also
includes the role of the SMT in oversight of local risks. This will be produced in both
hard copy and electronic format and will be used to support the training and
awareness delivered to front line teams
External well-led review
The committee noted that we are working to jointly procure the provider with South
West London and St Georges NHS Trust (SLWStG). We are aiming to complete the
procurement process before the end of the calendar year, with a view to starting the
review early in 2020.
Charitable Funds Accounts 2018/19
The committee received the Charitable Funds Accounts for 2018/19. It was noted that
there is a need for increased scrutiny to ensure that donations are spent within two
years. The challenge is that not all fundholders have submitted plans, and this is being
followed up by the finance team. It was noted that expenditure against funds is
tracked.
The trust opted to have the accounts reviewed as an independent examination by
Grant Thornton, and that this examination confirmed that there are no material
matters arising from the review. The committee agreed to recommend to the Trustees
that the Charitable Funds Accounts and Annual Report for 2018/19 are approved at
the Board of Directors meeting on 7 November 2019. This is covered under a separate
item on the board agenda.
Oxleas Prison Services (OPS) Ltd 2018/19
The committee received the Oxleas Prison Services (OPS) Ltd Accounts 2018/19. These
were approved by OPS board on 13 September 2019. OPS are exempt from external
audit, but we are considering whether the accounts should be audited from 2019/20.
This would give OPS increased credibility, for example if it wished to tender for
contracts in the future. It was noted that we need to be clear in the level of support
that the trust will provide to OPS, and this will be considered at a future meeting of the
Business Committee.
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Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives click on
relevant choice for
drop down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

Board Assurance Framework
A review of changes to the Board Assurance Framework is covered under a separate
item.

Information

To Note

Approval

Decison

√

For the Board of Directors to note the report.

Quality √

Workforce √

Sustainability √

Partnerships √

The Board Assurance Framework update is covered under a separate agenda item.

The report includes an update on risks relating to quality.
The report includes an update on risks relating to finance.
The report includes an update on risks relating to workforce.
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Board visit reports
Susan Owen, Risk and Governance Manager
Sally Bryden, Trust Secretary and Associate Director Corporate Affairs
N/A

Report Summary

Several visits have been undertaken by Board members over the past month
and the attached summarises the visits and outcomes. An action log is
maintained of the issues raised and is monitored by Service Directors.
Every six months we report to the board on progress that has been made in
response to actions raised at board visits to services. This report reflects the
status of board visit action as at 31 October 2019. Any actions closed on Datix
since this date will captured in the next iteration of this report.
There are 119 visits recorded on Datix, which have taken place between
February 2017 and August 2019. The table and graph below shows the status
of the visits by directorate. There are 16 visits with one or more actions open.
Code

Visits with all
actions closed

Visits with one or
more actions open

Total

Bexley

8

5

13

Bromley

19

2

21

Greenwich

14

5

19

ALD

11

1

12

CYP

26

1

27

F&P

18

1

19

Corporate

7

1

8

103

16

119

Total

210

A total of 281 actions were raised across these visits and of these, 25 actions remain in
progress. The status of the actions are shown by directorate in the table and graph
below.
Actions
complete
35

Actions in
progress
13

Bromley

50

2

52

Greenwich

46

4

50

ALD

12

2

14

CYP

64

1

65

F&P

33

2

35

Corporate

16

1

17

Total

256

25

281

Code
Bexley

Total
48
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Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant
choice for drop down
box)
Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives (click on
relevant choice for
drop down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework

Information

To Note

Approval

Decision

√

For the Board of Directors to note.

Quality √

Workforce √

Sustainability √

Partnerships √

Links to risks associated with staff morale and ability to raise issues.
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26.07.19.

Template for Non-Executive Directors’ board visits
Date of visit
26.07.19

Service
Bexley Care Single Point of Access

Attendees
Steve James, NED
Derek Tracy, Clinical Director

Brief description of service
Service outline:
A new Single Point of Contact (SPC) for Bexley Care opened to GPs on 29 April 2019.
This new service provides one single point of contact for all new referrals from Bexley GPs including
areas such as District Nursing, Phlebotomy, Adult Safeguarding, Adult Social Care and Adult Mental
Health. The service is being run from the Bexley Contact Centre and has now been established for 3
months, achieving very good stats and KPI’s considering the service is in its infancy.
The Single Point of Contact manages both health and social care referrals both telephone based or
digital, then liaising with existing service teams to ensure each referral is picked up by the
appropriate service, in line with needs identified on the referral form.
Over the coming weeks and months the team will be working on delivering better ways of working
through digital enhancements, development of the joint triage function and then look to expand into
other areas of health.
Key personnel:
Lisa Cooper – Bexley Care Associate Director Adult Community Services
Richard Edwards – LBB Head of Customer Service & Business Support
Rosa Ahmet- LBB Service Manager – Customer Services & Business Support
Julian Philipsz – Admin Team Manager

Outstanding issues from previous visit
There are no outstanding actions from previous visits.
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Overview of visit
Met with Richard, Bexley’s Head of Customer Service and Business Support who outlined the role of
the service which had been operational since late April. Health and Social Care staff had integrated
well and were undertaking a full range of calls. The service is heavily used by GPs. Slightly different
service for Social Care referrals which have an element of assessment as part of the initial phone call.
Health referrals are directed to the relevant department for any assessments. Most referrals go to a
triage team for action with all mental health referrals going to the triage too. There appears to be
huge potential to develop the service, particularly to have a closer relationship with Oxleas home
treatment team.
We sat with one of the team and listened to phone referrals, mostly from GPs and one from a relative
chasing an appointment. All of the issues raised were dealt with in the call as the First Point of Access
team has access to all records and can see actions undertaken by both Health and Social Care teams.
They also take email referrals, again mostly from GPs.
Members of the team said it would be useful to know the outcomes of referrals to judge the
effectiveness of the First Point of Access team as there is no systematic collection of outcomes at
present.

Actions will be reviewed regularly by service directors and board visits action tracker which will be reviewed
at Board every six months

Issues raised

Explore the possibility of
reporting outcomes of
referrals to the First Point of
Access
Explore the possibility of a
closer relationship with
Home Treatment teams

Action

We are developing a
report which counts
those that have turned
into referrals accepted by
each team so that the
SPC will know.
We are ensuring the
Team have clear
knowledge and are using
the manual developed on
all Adult Social Care
Teams and Health
Teams. In addition we
will set up opportunities
for members of each of
these services to visit the
SPC.

Assigned To

Deadline

SPC Project Group

31/1/20

SPC Project Group

31/1/20
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Template for Non-Executive Directors’ Board Visits
Date of Visit

29 August 2019

Service

Bexley Comm Paeds, Continuing
Care, Physio and OT
Acorns, Queen Mary’s Hospital,
Frognal Avenue, Sidcup DA14 6LT

Jo Stimpson
Lesley French

Attendees

Apologies from:Stephen Whitmore
Iain Dimond
Alison Furzer

Brief Description of Service
Service Outline:
Community Paediatrics
The Community Paediatrics Medical Service aims to promote the health and welfare of children and
young people (0-16 years) living in Bexley and up to 19 when they are attending a Special School for
children with complex needs They work within the community in partnership with families,
health professionals and other agencies.
The team carry out medical and developmental assessments on children and young people
presenting with a number of conditions such as neurodevelopmental delay and motor delay/coordination problems.
They provide multi-disciplinary assessments to diagnose children with Autism and Attention Deficit
Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) the on-going management of medication in partnership with GP’s.
The service provides a development follow-up of babies born preterm, management of children with
chromosomal or metabolic disorders associated with developmental delay, daytime wetting
(children over 4 years old), safeguarding, adoption and Fostering medicals and Looked After
Children medicals
The team provide local support for children and young people returning home from hospital for
rehabilitation following trauma. They provide medical advice for education professionals to support
children and young people to attend nursery/school.
Children’s Community Nursing Team
The service provides nursing care and support to children and young people aged 0-18 (or 19 with
learning disabilities). This includes acute nursing care such as wounds, Intravenous antibiotics, blood
monitoring, long term conditions and complex needs including continuing care. The service visits
children and young people in the community including home visits, schools and clinic settings.
The Team is now fully integrated across Bexley and Greenwich with the main hub based at Acorns.
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We have recently been awarded Student Placement of the Year at the Nursing Conference and the
Continuing Care Coordinators were awarded a recognition award. Additional to this one of our
members of staff has recently won the Directorate Award.
We have representation at PAN London networks for CCN services, home oxygen therapy and
transition in palliative care services and continuously look at opportunities to benchmark our
service. We work closely with the University of Greenwich to ensure future nurses understand the
community element in the management of childhood illness as well as seeing Community Children’s
Nursing as a career pathway. The Team Manager of the Service has also been appointed to the RCN
Steering Group Committee for CYP Continuing and Community care.
Our current focus is developing the role of the Advanced Nurse Practitioner within our service
working with GP’s to prevent hospital attendance. We are also working with QEH to identify further
care pathways into the community to reduce length of stay.
Occupational Therapy and Physiotherapy
The Community therapy teams aim to promote the health and welfare of children and young people
(0-18 years) living in Bexley and up to 19 when they are attending a Special School for children with
complex needs They work within the community in partnership with families,
Health professionals and other agencies.
The teams carry out assessments and interventions on children and young people presenting with a
number of conditions such as neurodevelopmental delay and motor delay/co-ordination problems,
fine and gross motor difficulties, MSK, sensory difficulties. Equipment assessment and supply.
National Hip surveillance pathway, CPIP assessments and other standardised assessments.
We run clinics and groups and hydrotherapy sessions. Our therapists work in the mainstream
schools and in the special schools in the borough.
They also carry out home visits and nursery visit where appropriate.
They run a number of clinics and groups and support the families with orthotics and splinting. We
have hydrotherapy session from Goldie Leigh and these are valuable for the children and their
families.
The therapists use outcome measures to measure their work and wok well to deliver a high level of
care for the children and families in the borough.
The team provide local support for children and young people returning home from hospital for
rehabilitation following trauma. Where appropriate increased funding is requested to support
intensive rehab packages for these children. They provide Therapy advice for education
professionals to support children and young people to attend nursery/school.
Key Personnel:
Dr Sarah Ismail, Lead Consultant Community Paediatrician
George Dunsford, Admin Manager, Bexley SPA

Outstanding issues from previous visit:
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Overview of visit
Acorns houses a range of services for children with disabilities who have a Bexley GP. Clinicians also
work in schools, home and attend acute hospital liaison meetings. Overall it was a positive Board
visit with clear evidence of integrated service provision and a highly motivated staff group in
attendance. Represented were Paediatricians, Physiotherapy, OT and Continuing Care, the
children’s nursing team which is an integrated service across Greenwich and Bexley.
Issues raised by staff were as follows:
1. Co-ordination. Staff felt with over 90 staff in the building but no designated co-ordinator
everything fell to the SPA and what would be helpful if there was a Centre Co-ordinator to
mobilise and keep staff connected.
2. Multi-disciplinary and multi-agency working worked well and was facilitated by the service
housing a range of services for children.
3. ASD and ADHD waits for assessment were of concern although significant progress has been
made with due to extra provision of clinics and leaner ways of working. The significant
increase in presentation was an issue nationally not local to Bexley and the STP is holding
regional meetings to support development of pathways.
4. Vacancies are a significant concern for the physio service with 3 posts out with no current
interest. Outer LW and possibly the breadth of the community remit were cited. Staff were
aware of on-going work with training organisations to facilitate student/trainee placements.
5. OT felt that their clinical therapeutic role was limited because of the high level of demand.
The sensory case-load is high and these children need more work than the 3 sessions on
offer.
6. Newly appointed staff were present who reported feeling very supported with good
opportunities for internal training and who felt very welcomed by established colleagues.
7. SPA was not working for some parts of the service because of SPA vacancies resulting in a
backlog of admin and a delay in clinical reports.
8. The therapy room has a significant leak in the roof. Estates are sighted on this but it was first
reported in September 2018 and with winter approaching staff are concerned.
9. The heating in the building was not right with parts of the building being very hot or very
cold. The central system of temperature control was not effective and this made for
uncomfortable conditions for staff and families.
10. The inclusion of 16 – 18 year olds in the MSK case-load for physiotherapy was problematic.
External services classify this group as adult and the ACORNs provision is geared to younger
children. The children’s physio view is that it is appropriate for this age-group to be seen in
adults or that a separate facility / treatment room should be made available elsewhere.
11. Children’s Nursing spoke positively about the integration across boroughs which they felt
utilised staff more effectively. They are a fully staffed service who in-reach into the acute
sector with the aim of reducing time children spend on wards away from home. There has
been a significant growth in demand and complexity as children with disabilities and lifelimiting conditions live longer requiring the team to provide a wide range of interventions.
Two nurses have completed an Advanced Practitioner course which will provide additional
capacity to prevent admission for under 5s.
12. Parking on-site was very difficult for nurses travelling with equipment and being on and off
site throughout the day and for families accessing the clinic. Protected spaces were needed.

Actions will be reviewed regularly by service directors and board visits action tracker which will be reviewed
at Board every six months
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Issues raised

Consideration to be given of
Centre co-ordinator
Therapy room leak not
resolved
Heating is variable across
the building
Provision by CYP of MSK for
16 – 18 year olds to be
reviewed by Vicky
The nursing team would like
more designated parking to
assist with loading and
unloading equipment and
short visits

Action

Explore ways to improve
cross building coordination
Leak to be investigated
and fixed
Areas of concern to be
investigated
Discussions with
Commissioners and Adult
providers of MSK
Estates team to revisit
the issue which was
raised last year

Assigned To

Deadline

Rachel Evans

October 2019

Rachel Evens

November 2019

Stephen Whitmore

November 2019

Rachel Evans

October 2019

Stephen Whitmore

January 2020
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Template for Non-Executive Directors’ board visits
Date of visit
rd

3 September
2019

Bexley CART

Service

Attendees

Steve James, NED
Jazz Thind, Exec Director
Derek Tracy, Clinical Director

Brief description of service
The team comprises of a range of Physiotherapists and Rehabilitation Technicians who assess and
treat people in their own homes. The team can provide equipment and mobility aids but do not deal
with major adaptations (such as walk-in showers). If patients require additional equipment / medical
treatment that cannot be provided by CART then the patient is referred on to the most appropriate
team.
Treatment is based on the patient’s current physical abilities and a range of exercises or
rehabilitation programmes are prescribed that helps the patient to achieve the jointly agreed set of
goals. The Team also work through a self-management plan with the patient that they will be asked
to complete between Therapy visits as this helps to measure the progress made.
Falls assessment clinics are also run with a view to the patient attending one of the falls prevention
exercise groups; these consist of six sessions of balance and strengthening exercises and advice
sessions.

Key personnel:
Band 7 Physiotherapists;
Band 6 Physiotherapists
Band 4 Associate Practitioner
Band 4 Therapy Asst
Band 3 A&C
8-4 Mon to Fri
We met with a large number of the team with everyone contributing to the discussion,
given the nature of the service and where we met we did not get the opportunity to speak
to any patients.
Referrals are usually received from the wards and the service does not accept self-referrals.
Triage is undertaken in 24 hours, the clinician will speak to the patient, at which point the
patient is put on the waiting list; equipment requirements are then followed up.
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The waiting times have deteriorated to 12 weeks (4 previously). An urgent referral is usually
dealt with within 1 week. Faster discharge from the Acute providers means having to
prioritise more complex double handed patients, this is an upward trend and resources are
stretched trying to deal with the level of demand.
The CART service should be focused on falls prevention but the reality is that they receive a
vast variety of needs. The lack of OTs or dieticians is an issue and there are better models
we could learn from. Discharge to Access (D2A) is putting pressure on the service and
attempts to deal with internal barriers have not proved successful.
OT referrals to Social services are lengthy and patients can wait a long time for equipment
e.g. rail. Re-ablement/OT referral usually ends up at the top of the CART list and the team
ends up dealing with and actioning equipment requirements. The reverse is not true should
the need arise the other way.
Pathways pre- referral are better understood but there is no opportunity to refer back as
this is not perceived to be the way the pathway works although they should be able to send
to the Rapid Response Team. The patient can be helped by Rapid in 5 weeks but if this does
not happen then patients end up having a 12 week wait, there is no middle house. Meadow
View does also refuse.
The ‘bridging team’ made up of a district nurse; OT; and Physio would have assessed and
then referred on only if there were other needs identified but this kind of service does not
exist. Dr Tracy explained the configurations for the future LCNs and highlighted that there
had been a lot of tension with regards to appropriate configuration e.g. blended or unique
teams and this tension continues.
The team was very concerned about the need to react to ‘more urgent’ referrals as
invariably this led to non-urgent referral waiting longer than necessary. This may lead to
patients resorting to a private physio service. The access criteria lead to patients ‘bouncing’
around the system and one member of staff did comment that he personally bears some
guilt for the growing waiting list. He questioned whether the team should have clearer
access criteria; stick to it; and stop the very flexible approach as this is partly the reason, to
his mind, for the waiting list issue
Co-location is helpful as having Re-ablement in the building allows conversations to take
place and better more informed referrals to be made. Levels of referrals from the Reablement team based at the Civic Offices are minimal.
Steve James asked the team to think about using a QI approach to helping with the
challenges presented. This should help to alleviate what has come across as an ‘inherent
helplessness’.
The Team has had a recent change in management leadership and feel they are now being
listened to and supported. The changes are positive.
60% of the team time is spent on admin tasks and we asked if they thought through how
this could be done differently via technology. Agreed this would be picked up as part of the
future QI project.
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Key messages: - need help to understand and work out role of all the teams to better
understand how things fit together in Health, Social Care and Bexley Care. Clarity and tighter
criteria would be helpful to make sure the right patients get access to the service. IT
systems are not working well and it would be good to get someone to look into this.
Undertake more co- production with patients. Discuss skill mix of the team to maybe
introduce other disciplines e.g. OT.

Actions will be reviewed regularly by service directors and board visits action tracker which will be reviewed
at Board every six months

Issues raised

How to deal to various issue
and remove the ‘inherent
helplessness’
Lack of other disciplines in
the team
Slowness of IT system (RIO)

Action

Assigned To

Deadline

Review skill mix

Liz Penn

Ask IT to contact team

Alison Furzer

End of
December
End of October

Ask Directorate QI lead to
contact team.

Derek Tracy

End of
September
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Briefing for Non-Executive Directors’ Board visits
Date of visit

23rd September
2019

Service and Location

HMP Wandsworth

Brief description of service

Attendees

Rachel Evans
Michael Witney
Suzanne Shale
Keith Soper

HMP Wandsworth, with an operational capacity of 1628, is one of the largest prisons in Western
Europe. It is a category B local prison, with a separate category C residential unit (Trinity). Around
40% of the prisoners are un-sentenced.
The prison was built in 1851, and the residential areas remain in the original buildings. Since 1989,
there has been extensive refurbishment and modernisation of the wings, including in-cell sanitation,
privacy screens for cells occupied by more than one prisoner and the more recent installation of incell electricity.
We hold the prime provide contract for the delivery of healthcare at HMP Wandsworth. We
directly provide physical health and pharmacy services and sub-contract GP (South London Prison
Services), mental health and psychology (SLaM) and substance misuse services (CGL). Smaller subcontracts are in place for other services such as podiatry, through the gate services and pathology.
There are two inpatient units at HMP Wandsworth; Addison (mental health, 12 beds) and Jones
(physical health, 6 beds). We started the contract on 1st September 2019 with 68 staff TUPE
transferring from St George’s University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust to Oxleas (3 transferred to
SLaM).
Overview of visit
The Board ran through the reception process in the prison and visited the first night centre and both
inpatient units. Away from the main healthcare department, services, including dispensing of
medication, are delivered from the wings. The quality of the environment is mixed. The Jones unit
benefits from natural light and accessible cells and the Addision unit contains a therapeutic space
for activities and access to the outside. Wing based treatment and dispensing areas are clean and
reasonably well equipped but cramped. The reception space is good and the waiting area for
secondary screening is similar in standard to a hospital outpatient setting. The cells on Addison are
reported to be stark and in rather poor repair although it was not possible to see one during the
visit.
The Board observed very good working relationships between prison and healthcare staff.
Healthcare staff were highly positive and genuinely enthusiastic about being part of Oxleas and the
opportunities this presented; and were pleased about the visits being made by Oxleas senior staff.
A first induction session had been held, with another planned. IT remains a cause for concern, with
intermittent network outages and slow speeds. There is a plan in place to address this.
The Board heard about the planned new healthcare facility, which was welcomed and will support
the introduction of the Health and Wellbeing Model. Healthcare colleagues have been involved in
the design of the facility. The inpatient units will remain, and there continues to be a discussion
about the number of beds, which is small when benchmarked to other prisons. The capacity is
further reduced through the use of healthcare cells to house patients who need to use a
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wheelchair, since there is inadequate provision across the rest of the prison.
At the time of the visit some staff did not have their email accounts set up and ID badges and
uniforms were awaited (uniforms have since arrived). Staff did say that they have been able to
access support with issues through the presence of two Oxleas staff who have been based at the
prison since July 2019.
Access to physiotherapy has proved problematic (this extends back to some time prior to the
contract change) and this is being actively worked on.
Issues raised
Permanent physiotherapy subcontractor not in place
Lack of inpatient beds
Lack of wheelchair accessible cells,
impacting on healthcare capacity
Poor networks speed and reliability

Action
Discuss with Trust AHP Lead

By who
KS

Raise with commissioners and
prison
Raise with commissioners and
prison
Develop business case for the
transfer of network and user
support to Oxleas

KS
KS
KS

By when
October
2019
January
2020
January
2020
November
2019
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Non-Executive Directors’ board visits
Date of visit
24.09.19

Service
Shepherdleas Ward

Attendees
Present:
Jane Wells Director of Nursing
Apologies:
Nina Hingorani-Crain NED
Helen Jones Service Director
Dr Antony Akenzua Clinical Director

Brief description of service
Shepherdleas Ward Oxleas House is a 19 bed inpatient mental health ward. Usually for people aged
65 or over, with different diagnoses of mental disorder and physical illness or frailty which
complicates the management of their mental illness. This may include people under 65; People of
any age with a primary diagnosis of dementia.
Patients are mainly Greenwich Bexley and Bromley residents, and occasionally from other boroughs
The length of stay varies, usually between 2 weeks and 3 months.
We are a multidisciplinary team formed of: Nurses, (RMNs and HCAs) Doctors, (Consultant
Psychiatrist and Junior Doctors) Occupational therapists, Clinical Psychologist, Physiotherapist,
Pharmacist and Administrator. We work closely with community services and care co-ordinators to
plan care after discharge. We use a Bio-psycho-social model of recovery:
Biological: Mental distress is linked to physical problems (ill health, pain, not eating, not sleeping,
dehydration, brain changes) The Consultant Psychiatrist and Nursing Staff work with patients on
these areas. Through the ward round and a Primary nurse and daily allocated nurse system
Psychological: Mental distress is an understandable response to stressful situations the Clinical
Psychologists supports patients with this by seeing clients individually, in group, or with significant
others
Social : Mental health problems are affected by and in turn affect, social and occupational activities
Independent living skills and mobility The Occupational Therapists assess patients mobility and
independent living skills. They encourage trying different activities on which are provided on the
ward.

Overview of visit
The visit was facilitated by Elaine Newman, Service Manager Older Adults and ward staff which
included nurses, occupational therapist and consultant psychiatrist engaged in discussions.
Team feedback:
The team is highly committed, stable with very low turnover and few vacancies. The consultant
joined a year ago. Some team members have benefitted from secondments and opportunities to
work in community teams and bring a wealth of experience to the team. The team includes trainee
nursing associates and benefits from consistency in regular bank staff and backfill. The team work
closely with community teams. One of the CMHT nurses does very regular bank shifts on the ward

224

which really helps with communication. They would love to see more opportunities for similar or
more formalised opportunities through rotations or secondments like this.
The ward has had fluctuations in service user acuity and dependency over the years but over the
past year there has been less fluctuation and a constant shift to a much increased frailty of service
users and increased physical health need. There are increasing admissions relating to dementia and
a challenging dynamic mixing with functional problems. This is of concern to the team and impacting
on their morale. The team consider that they have ridden the wave in respect of the fluctuations but
are reported that they are beginning to feel the pressure of the increased acuity and dependency.
When asked how they have raised this, they expressed their commitment and compassion and that
they felt an element of discomfort in asking for help or expressing that they are feeling low and
burning out. They have pulled together as a team but now realise that they have to let others know
about how the ward is changing.
The impact of the changes in the acuity and dependency mean that they are often working late and
constantly balance risks in terms of patient observations in respect of self-harm alongside the
increased physical requirements of significantly dependent service users requiring two or three staff
to meet their needs. It is difficult to take breaks and additional staff to establishment is required
often at night. The ward is “heavy” even when bed occupancy is not high which they fear is
potentially deterring students from considering permanent roles there despite it being a great
opportunity to learn both physical and mental health skills with highly experienced clinicians.

What could be better:











The staffing of each shift needs review and establishments to be re-set. This has been
identified in safe staffing reviews as the establishment is different to similar wards and is
underway. The Head of nursing will be implementing the MHOST assessment during
November to assist this. The staffing is very stretched at times and the establishment needs
to be re-set permanently for nights if the requirement for the additional staff continues.
A physiotherapist visits the ward twice a week but covers 4 wards. The post holder is leaving
and the replaced may now be based in Holbrook. The team requested clarification of this.
The ward are getting 4 parking permits but have asked if this could be reviewed and
increased as it is not sufficient to cover staff on a shift.

The interface between the ward and older adult’s home treatment team is not clear
and there is a perception that the home treatment team are batting referrals away
from both wards and community teams. This warrants further exploration about
expectations between the teams.
There is variation between the responsiveness of the care coordinators. Bexley and
Greenwich are very responsive but Bromley less so attributed to distance and they
are encouraging them to teleconference in when they cannot attend meetings.
There is a view that care homes are cherry picking service users at discharge and
concern was expressed about the inequity of provision of placements for discharge.
Emergency placements are found more quickly for service users admitted to the
acute hospital bed as they charge the Local Authorities. They cited Bexley as the
most challenging in terms of available placements.

Actions will be entered on to Board visits action tracker which will be reviewed at Board every six months

Issues raised
1. Staffing establishment review and

Action
Mary Titchener Head of Nursing
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2.
3.
4.
5.

6.

required changes to staffing
establishment made.
Clarification on physiotherapy all cation
and location.
Review of Parking Permits .
Review of Interface between HTT and
ward.
Encourage Bromley care co-coordinators
to attend or teleconference ward for
meetings.
Continue to work with all local
authorities to secure early discharges
and interim placements for discharge
when required.

Helen Jones Service Director
Helen Jones Service Director
Helen Jones Service Director
Helen Jones Service Director

Helen Jones Service Director

Helen Jones Service Director
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Template for Non-Executive Directors’ board visits
Date of Visit
30 September
2019

Service

Attendees

Bexley CAMHS and Bexley SaLT
Park Crescent, Erith Hospital, , Erith
DA8 3EE

Stephen Whitmore
Iain Dimond
Jo Stimpson
Lesley French
Alison Furzer

Brief description of service
Service Outline:
Bexley CAMHS
Bexley CAMHS is a specialist multi-disciplinary mental health service for children and young people,
their parents/carers from pre-birth up to 18 years of age with severe and enduring emotional,
behavioural and mental health difficulties, rather than relating to other difficulties. The service is
commissioned to provide this service to those registered with a Bexley GP and is provided mainly
across the routine and intensive Tier 3 pathways, with a small Tier 2 service providing school
consultations, assessment and treatment at moderate level.
The service provides specialist assessments and interventions/treatments (depending on assessed
needs. We have a responsibility to assist professionals working with children in universal services to
enhance their capacity and capability within these services to identify and provide early intervention
for children with mild to moderate mental health needs. This is provided through support, advice,
mental health consultation, training and joint clinical work.
In 2016 we introduced CHeWS (Community Health and Emotional Well-being Service to increase
access to this specialist consultation in Bexley schools. The design of this service was part of the
Transformation agenda (Future in Mind document)
The service also manages Bexley Substance Misuse Service who live within the London Borough of
Bexley. Our staff group is made up of; clinical psychologists, child and adolescent psychotherapists,
family therapists, nurses, OTs, social workers, psychiatrists and administrators.
We offer a child and family-centred approach in which each child / young person is seen as an
individual in the context of their family, cultural, social and educational systems. For those not
accepted for an assessment they are always signposted an alternative or offered advice and selfharm.
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Bexley CAMHS is currently redesigning our service to improve the patient journey to ensure equity in
access to assessments and interventions / treatment and staff experience and workload. The service
is currently introducing assessment clinics so that CYP are seen by the right clinician followed by
Core Intervention if required which will be no more than 6-8 sessions.
Bexley SaLT
We support Bexley children and young people with speech, language and communication difficulties
or a physical swallowing difficulty. By helping children to communicate to the best of their ability we
aim to improve learning, social inclusion, mental wellbeing and future outcomes.
We work in integrated teams, in close partnership with LBB Children’s Services team and Bexley
NGO’s such as BexleyVoice and SNAP. We advise parents, nursery and school staff, and provide
transition advice.
We deliver a strategic training programme, including accredited training to build knowledge and
skills so that parents, nursery and school staff can develop children’s communication on a daily basis.
For children under 5 years we provide assessment, parent workshops, direct individual and group
therapy sessions, support for children within early years settings and children’s centres, where we
also run Drop In Clinics.
For children of school age we work in school, in partnership with school staff and LBB SEN teams.
We offer specialisms in speech disorder, developmental language disorder, voice, dysphagia, hearing
impairment, autism, complex developmental disability and dysfluency.
Integrated teams : Bexley Joint Communication Team ; Bexley FeedingTeam : AAS ; Early Years
Complex Needs.






‘Safety Net’ Practice
Outreach to ‘hard to engage’ families
Follow-up of children ‘out of school’, to link back into services
We see any child without a GP, as at higher risk
Work with ‘Coda’ children, hearing children of deaf parents
Looked after Children pathway

Key Personnel:
Dorothy Pilling – Operational Lead for Bexley CAMHS
Paula Johnson – Service Lead Bexley Children’s SLT
Joanna Copp – Team Lead Early Years Bexley Children’s SLT

Outstanding issues from previous visit:
There no outstanding issues from previous visits.
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Overview of visit
Two presentations were provided by S&LT managers and a number of presentations representing
the four main teams within Bexley CAMHS.
There was a tour of the recently refurbished building with some opportunity to talk with staff and a
meeting of CAMHS managers and staff. The staff were very pleased with the new offices and clinic
areas which have been provided on the site. They were positive about how well the move itself had
gone and several clinicians cited the co-location of disciplines and services was stimulating and
better for patient care.
This was a very positive and optimistic visit. Staff were particularly keen to emphasise that, given the
often stressful and emotional nature of the work, they felt a tangible sense of support from
colleagues, teamwork and support from managers.
There were no significant problem areas identified although staff recruitment remained a challenge.

Actions will be reviewed regularly by service directors and board visits action tracker which will be reviewed
at Board every six months

Issues raised

Action

Assigned To

Deadline

Signage: It was hard to
locate the building on the
Erith Site

To explore how site maps
or improved signage
could help make locating
CAMHS and S&LT more
easy

Rachel Evans

31st January
2020
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Template for Non-Executive Directors’ board visits
Date of visit
24 July 19

Service
Workforce Team
HR Manager for Directorates’
Recruitment Team
Workforce Systems & Learning &
Development Team
Senior Workforce Managers

Attendees
Steve James, NED

Brief description of service
Service outline:
The workforce teams provide the full range of HR and OD functions for the Trust, this includes
Employee Relations, Learning and Development, and Recruitment.

Outstanding issues from previous visit
N/A

Overview of visit
Throughout the discussions a number of common themes emerged. First the Trust has many
initiatives which impact on HR, the consequences of which are sometimes underestimated. All teams
said that they would like to play a fuller part in the planning process of initiatives so that HR
consequences and workload pressures can be predicted and managed. There was a general sense of
being undervalued.
They report the outsourcing of payroll has not been a success and has led to an increase in workload,
particularly in the workforce systems team, they are often blamed for mistakes that particularly
relate to pensions.
The recruitment team was proud of its success in reducing overall recruitment times but said that
they could do more. They also said the Trust tended to adopt short term fixes to address particular
issues and did not have an overall strategy for recruitment, they gave as an example the recruitment
of CPN’s which appeared to involve a circular process of recruiting CPN’s, losing them due to over
work and then having to take them back on as agency workers.
All the people I spoke to liked working in their teams, which they all thought were supportive places
to work. Also they enjoyed working under the current HR Director and were disappointed that she
was leaving.
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Managers and recruitment team said that they could work more efficiently with mobile I.T

Actions will be reviewed regularly by service directors and board visits action tracker which will be reviewed
at Board every six months

Issues raised

Action

Assigned To

Deadline

Explore the possibility of
involving HR appropriately in
the planning of Trust
initiatives
Explore the possibility of
providing mobile I.T

Greater involvement in
directorate and trustwide planning

Debbie Wheddon

Jan 2020

Audit of IT equipment
Review of use of
technology to support
service delivery
Work with team to have
stronger links to
Executive team and
directorate and corporate
teams.

Debbie Wheddon

Jan 2020

Rachel Clare Evans

ongoing

Ensure that the workforce
teams feel part of the Trust
and their contributions
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Briefing for Non-Executive Directors’ Board visits
Date of visit
14th October
2019

Service and Location
HMP Swaleside

Attendees
Rachel Evans
Michael Witney
Keith Soper

Brief description of service
HMP Swaleside is part of high security prison estate with a number of people (up to 460) serving life
sentences. It has an operational capacity of 1112 and is one of three prisons in the Sheppey Cluster
(along with HMP Elmley and HMP Standford Hill). It houses Category B and Category C prisoners.
We provide mental health and psychology (via the Bradley Therapy Service) to the prison
population at HMP Swaleside, along with a specialist offender management offer for patients with
personality disorder in our Psychologically Informed Planned Environments (PIPE) service. The PIPE
takes up to 60 men who stay on the dedicated wing for up to two years. There is a linked PIPE day
centre, which is also accessed by men within the main house blocks. HMP Swaleside is also home to
our Emotional Wellbeing (EWB) mentor scheme.
Services at HMP Swaleside form part of our Kent Mental Health contract for all prisons (except HMP
YOI Cookham Wood) and our separate Offender management Service (PIPE) as part of the London
Pathways Partnership, which has prison and community elements.
Overview of visit
The Board visited mental health-in reach, the Bradley Therapy Service and PIPE services. The inreach team is small but fully staffed and receive on average 20 referrals each week. Although
nurse-led, the service is supported by a Consultant Psychiatrist, who also reviews patients admitted
to the inpatient facility. This is run by iC24, who hold the contract for inpatient and primary care
services in the Sheppey Cluster. Staff reported good interaction with prison staff with the EWB
scheme demonstrating effective partnership working and shared objectives. Staff told the Board
that there are high levels of violence in the prison but that they themselves felt safe. The reason for
the violence was given as the length of sentences served by many of the men and the resultant loss
of hope.
The Board visited the PIPE wing, day centre facility, farm and allotment which is accessed by men
participating in the programme. The atmosphere on the PIPE was calmer than the rest of the prison
and men were observed interacting with staff and each other. The regime on the PIPE encourages
the men to work together and they are able to, for example, prepare and eat meals together.
The day centre is an area where group and individual therapy can be provided. It is away from the
main house blocks and has a more homely feel.
Issues raised
Action
By who
By when
Category C prisoners in PIPE –
Escalate to commissioners and KS
January
Swaleside has recently become part of
the National Offender
2020
the high secure estate which will result Management Service to
in category C prisoners being
ensure the move of any such
transferred and therefore terminating
patients is based on an
the programme early
assessment of risk and
progress
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Briefing for Non-Executive Directors’ Board visits
Date of visit
23 October 2019

Service and Location
Can You Understand it Group (ALD
Service) – Queen Mary’s Hospital

Attendees
Lorraine Regan – Service Director
Steve Dilworth – Non Exec Director
Ify Okocha – Medical Director
Sandra Baum – Clinical Director

Brief description of service

The Can you understand it? team are an Oxleas Learning Disability Editorial team who review easy
read information for the trust. The team is made up of 8 members and 3 staff. The team meet once
a month and get paid. The team was set up in 2009 and to date have reviewed over 60 leaflets. They
have also contributed to videos about the hospital passport and black Book.
A number of them also sit on interview panels having attended a training session
A couple of members have presented a workshop at Learning Disability Today and contributed
articles to a couple of journals.
They work very well together and have a lot of respect for each other.

Finance and Human Resources
New members of the team have to fill out an easy read job application, have an easy read job
description and have an informal meeting with the team before deciding if they want to join the
team. The team will also decide if the applicant will be right for the job.
The team get paid for their work. They work for an hour and a half and meet once a month. The
budget code used is a service user budget code.

Other relevant information
N/A

Outstanding actions from the last Board visit
Not known
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Overview of visit
The team discussed their roles and tasks they explained that they look at easy read leaflets and assess
whether or not they need changing to make them more accessible to adults with learning disabilities.
This can include adding symbols, drawings and easy read words. The team told us about their
contribution to the Black Book which is a personal health planner, the hospital passports and
suggesting hospital signs at Queen Elizabeth Hospital and Queen Mary‘s Hospital.
They also told us about the Bill of Rights for hospital staff that they had produced. The team had also
looked at a variety of logos for online patient records and all had unanimously decided on the same
logo. The team are in the process of looking at the Bromley LD epilepsy service leaflet in easy read
and are making changes to this. The team are also in the process of looking at the ‘Trust carers
strategy’ easy read and made a few suggestions. This work is ongoing. The team said that they had
been part of the Oxleas Annual Members meeting. They have designed a poster understand it team
celebrating 10 years of the Can You Understand it group and they hope that this poster can be
displayed within Queen Mary’s hospital and other ALD sites.
A major issue that was discussed was the signage at Queen Mary’s hospital. They said that the symbol
of the sunflower by the signage ‘ALD Service’ was completely meaningless without the wording. They
all talked about the entrance in Block C to the Community Services Suite: Adult Learning Disability
Service, GP Hub and Kidney Treatment Centre. They said that outside of the entrance to this suite they
used to have signage which explained that this was where the adult learning disability service was.
This has now been taken down. Evidently the reason for this is because Estates want everybody to
walk into the main entrance and walk down the corridor to the Adult Learning disability Service. All
the team said that this was really unhelpful and a lot of people were getting lost as a consequence.
They asked whether the signage could be put back up again.
We also talked about having a LD section on the Oxleas website for Queen Mary‘s Hospital. The team
would like to make a video for this LD section showing people with learning disabilities how to get to
the Adult Learning Disability Service after they have got off the bus in the grounds of Queen Mary‘s.
They also talked about this Video having sign language in it as well so that deaf people could access
this.
Another major issue is the zebra crossings in the grounds of Queen Mary’s hospital. None of the zebra
crossings have Belisha beacons and cars do not stop.

Actions will be entered on to Board visits action tracker which will be reviewed at Board every six months
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Issues raised

Action

By who By when

Symbol of the sunflower by the signage ALD Service Manager to meet
ALD Service was completely meaningless with Estates at QMH to feed
without the wording
back the QMH review
undertaken by the Greenwich
research net group - this was
done to try to get an
‘independent’ view on the
signage and other Estates
issues.

Elaine
Hurault

December
2019

To restore signage outside the entrance
to Block C to the Community Services
Suite: Adult Learning Disability Service,
GP Hub and Kidney Treatment Centre as
people with LD are getting lost.

ALD Service Manager to meet
with Estates at QMH to feed
back the QMH review
undertaken by the Greenwich
research net group - this was
done to try to get an
‘independent’ view on the
signage and other Estates
issues.

Elaine
Hurault

December
2019

To add an LD section on the Oxleas
website for Queen Mary‘s Hospital.

To discuss with Oxleas
communications dept and
QMH estates.

Sharon
Rodrigues

December
2019

To make a video for this LD section
showing people with learning disabilities
how to get to the Adult Learning
Disability Service

To discuss with Oxleas
communications dept.

Sharon
Rodrigues

December
2019

Zebra crossings in the grounds of Queen
Mary’s hospital. None of the zebra
crossing have Belisha beacons and cars
do not stop. Belisha Beacons needed

To discuss with head of QMH
Estates.

Elaine
Hurault

December
2019
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Board of Directors
7 November 2019
Report Title
Author
Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status
Report Summary

Item
Enclosure

21
-

Council of Governors Update
Sally Bryden, Associate Director of Corporate Affairs/Trust Secretary
Andy Trotter, Chair
Public

Annual Members’ Meeting (AMM) and exhibitions
Over one hundred people attended the AMM and exhibitions on 25 September
2019. This included seventeen governors. Verbal feedback on the day was
extremely positive.
Governor visits
Six governors and two NEDs visited the Bexley Single Point of Contact call centre
at the Bexley Civic Offices on 6th September 2019.
Membership committee meeting
The Membership Committee met at the Memorial Hospital on 17 October. The
meeting, which was chaired by Rebekah Marks-Hubbard, discussed several
items including the AMM and exhibition, with governors providing positive
feedback on the event.
New governor induction
Five governors attended the trust’s induction morning on 18 October 2019.
These included two new service user/carer, two public and one staff governor.
Community engagement
Staff governor Jo Linnane with the Stakeholder Engagement team promoted
Oxleas’ services and membership at the GLLAB Health and Wellbeing Fair at the
Glyndon Community Centre on 22 October 2019.
Trust Strategy
A governor specific engagement event will be held on 12 December 2019 from
10am-12.30pm prior to the Council of Governors’ meeting.

Purpose
(To select
purpose, click on
relevant choice
for drop down
box)

Information

To Note

Approval

Decision

√
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Recommendation Board members are asked to note the update.
Link to strategic
objectives (click
on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework

Quality √

Workforce √

There are no direct links to the BAF

Sustainability

Partnerships √

Appendix 1 – Healthcare worker flu vaccination best practice management
checklist – for public assurance via trust boards by December 2019
A

Committed leadership
(number in brackets relates to
Board record commitment to
A1 achieving the ambition of 100% of
front line healthcare workers being
vaccinated, and for any healthcare
worker who decides on the balance
of evidence and personal
circumstance against getting the
vaccine should anonymously mark
their reason for doing so.

A2

A3
A4
A5
A6

A7

Trust has ordered and provided the
quadrivalent (QIV) flu vaccine for
healthcare workers
Board receive an evaluation of
the flu programme 2018/19,
Agree on a board champion for flu
All board members receive flu
Flu team formed with
representatives from all
directorates, staff groups and trade
union representatives
Flu team to meet regularly from
September 2019

Communications plan
Rationale for the flu vaccination
B1
programme and facts to be published –
sponsored by senior clinical leaders
and trades unions

Trust self- assessment
The Board regularly discussed the staff influenza
vaccination programme. It will record its
commitment to achieving the ambition of 100%
front line health workers in the November Board
to be held in public.
Where front line staff decide on the balance of
evidence and personal circumstances against
getting the vaccine they are being required to
complete and sign a decliner form and state the
reason for not accepting the vaccination.
The Trust has ordered the QIV vaccines and
these are being delivered in three batches
commencing at the end of September 2019.
The Board received an evaluation of the 2018/19
flu programme on 3 March 2019.
The Director of Nursing is the exective flu
All Board members receive the flu vaccination.
The flu team has representation from all
directorates, staff groups and staff partnership
9the latter through endorsing letters to staff).
The flu team meet regularly from 3 September
2019.

B

B2 Drop in clinics and mobile
vaccination schedule to be
published electronically, on social
media and on paper
B3 Board and senior managers having
their vaccinations to be
publicised

There is wide range publication of the flu
programme and facts through various media
sponsored by senior clinicians, directorate teams
and staff partnership.
Drop in an mobile clinics are always published
on the intranet, electronically via e mails, on
social media, on posters and letters.
The Board and senior managers have publication
of their flu vaccinations by the communications
team and on social media.

B4 Flu vaccination programme and access Access to the programme is highlighted in
to vaccination on induction
inductions. Staff attending inductions during the
programmes
vaccination period are vaccinated there
B5 Programme to be publicised on
screensavers, posters and social
di feedback on percentage
Weekly
B6
uptake for directorates, teams and
professional groups
C

Flexible accessibility

wherever possible.
IT provide pop up screensavers, posters are
widely circulated.
All directorates and teams receive a weekly
progress report.

Peer vaccinators, ideally at least one in Each directorate has a list of peer vaccinators.
C1 each clinical area to be
These are generally heads of nursing and
identified, trained, released to vaccinate practice development nurses and champions
and empowered
from teams themselves. Directorates release
their staff to vaccinate. The corporate nursing
team also support the programme.

C2 Schedule for easy access drop in
clinics agreed

Schedule of drop in clinics and vaccinators to
attend large events and meetings is completed.

C3 Schedule for 24 hour mobile
vaccinations to be agreed

Peer champion vaccinators can provide 24 hour
vaccinations where required. Roaming peer
vaccinators are scheduled to attend night shifts
to ensure 24 hour provision windows built in.

D Incentives
D1 Board to agree on incentives and how Incentives have been agreed at directorate
levels and are being publicized.
to publicise this
D2 Success to be celebrated weekly

Communications and each directorate will be
celebrating weekly successes.

